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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D. C. 20549

  

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)
x ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT

OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended October 31, 2011

or
 

¨ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from             to             

Commission file number 1-6196
  

Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

 
North Carolina  56-0556998

(State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization)  

(I.R.S. Employer
Identification No.)

 
4720 Piedmont Row Drive, Charlotte, North Carolina  28210

(Address of principal executive offices)  (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code (704) 364-3120

SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(b) OF THE ACT:
 

Title of each class  Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, no par value  New York Stock Exchange

  
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.    Yes  x    No  ¨

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to section 13 or 15 (d) of the Act.    Yes  ¨    No  x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.    Yes  x    No  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Website, if any, every Interactive Data
file required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or
such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).    Yes  x    No  ¨
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Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§229.405 of this chapter) is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in
Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.     ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
 
Large accelerated filer  x   Accelerated filer  ¨

Non-accelerated filer  ¨  (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)   Smaller reporting company  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).    Yes  ¨    No  x

State the aggregate market value of the voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of April 30, 2011.

Common Stock, no par value - $2,259,483,861

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the registrant’s classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date.
 

Class  Outstanding at December 16, 2011

Common Stock, no par value  72,338,303
  

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders on March 8, 2012 are incorporated by reference into Part III.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc. (Piedmont) was incorporated in New York in 1950 and began operations in 1951. In 1994, we merged
into a newly formed North Carolina corporation with the same name for the purpose of changing our state of incorporation to North Carolina.

Piedmont is an energy services company whose principal business is the distribution of natural gas to over one million residential,
commercial, industrial and power generation customers in portions of North Carolina, South Carolina and Tennessee, including 51,800 customers
served by municipalities who are our wholesale customers. We are invested in joint venture, energy-related businesses, including unregulated retail
natural gas marketing, and regulated interstate natural gas storage and intrastate natural gas transportation.

In the Carolinas, our service area is comprised of numerous cities, towns and communities. We provide service to Anderson, Gaffney,
Greenville and Spartanburg in South Carolina and Charlotte, Salisbury, Greensboro, Winston-Salem, High Point, Burlington, Hickory, Indian Trail,
Spruce Pine, Reidsville, Fayetteville, New Bern, Wilmington, Tarboro, Elizabeth City, Rockingham and Goldsboro in North Carolina. In North
Carolina, we also provide wholesale natural gas service to Greenville, Rocky Mount and Wilson. In Tennessee, our service area is the metropolitan
area of Nashville, including wholesale natural gas service to Gallatin and Smyrna.

We have two reportable business segments, regulated utility and non-utility activities. The regulated utility segment is the largest segment of
our business with approximately 97% of our consolidated assets. Factors critical to the success of the regulated segment include operating a safe,
reliable natural gas distribution system and the ability to recover the costs and expenses of the business in the rates charged to customers. For the
year ended October 31, 2011, 87% of our earnings before taxes came from our regulated utility segment. The non-utility activities segment
consists of our equity method investments in joint venture, energy-related businesses that are involved in unregulated retail natural gas marketing,
and regulated interstate natural gas storage and intrastate natural gas transportation. For the year ended October 31, 2011, 13% of our earnings
before taxes came from our non-utility segment, which consists of 5% from regulated non-utility activities and 8% from unregulated non-utility
activities. Operations of both segments are conducted within the United States of America. For further information on equity method investments
and business segments, see Note 12 and Note 14, respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.

Operating revenues shown in the consolidated statements of income represent revenues from the regulated utility segment. The cost of
purchased gas is a component of operating revenues. Increases or decreases in prudently incurred purchased gas costs from suppliers are passed
through to customers through purchased gas adjustment procedures. Therefore, our operating revenues are impacted by changes in gas costs as
well as by changes in volumes of gas sold and transported. For the year ended October 31, 2011, 46% of our operating revenues were from
residential customers, 27% from commercial customers, 10% from large volume customers, including industrial, power generation and resale
customers, and 17% from secondary market activities. Secondary market transactions consist of off-system sales and capacity release
arrangements and are part of our utility gas supply management program with regulator-approved sharing mechanisms between our utility
customers and our shareholders. Operations of the non-utility activities segment are included in the consolidated statements of income in “Income
from equity method investments” and “Non-operating income.”
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Our utility operations are regulated by the North Carolina Utilities Commission (NCUC), the Public Service Commission of South Carolina
(PSCSC) and the Tennessee Regulatory Authority (TRA) as to rates, service area, adequacy of service, safety standards, extensions and
abandonment of facilities, accounting and depreciation. The NCUC also regulates us as to the issuance of long-term debt and equity securities. We
are also subject to or affected by various federal regulations. These federal regulations include regulations that are particular to the natural gas
industry, such as regulations of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) that affect the purchase and sale of and the prices paid for the
interstate transportation and storage of natural gas, regulations of the Department of Transportation that affect the design, construction, operation,
maintenance, integrity, safety and security of natural gas distribution and transmission systems, and regulations of the Environmental Protection
Agency relating to the environment. In addition, we are subject to numerous other regulations, such as those relating to employment and benefit
practices, which are generally applicable to companies doing business in the United States of America.
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We hold non-exclusive franchises for natural gas service in many of the communities we serve, with expiration dates from December 2011
to 2058. The franchises are adequate for the operation of our gas distribution business and do not contain materially burdensome restrictions or
conditions. Twenty-one franchise agreements have expired as of October 31, 2011. We continue to operate in those areas pursuant to the
provisions of the expired franchises with no significant impact on our business. Two franchise agreements will expire during the 2012 fiscal year.
The likelihood of cessation of service under an expired franchise is remote. We believe that these franchises will be renewed or that service will be
continued in the ordinary course of business under our state-granted franchise rights without the specific franchise agreements with each city or
municipality, with no material adverse impact on us.

The natural gas distribution business is seasonal in nature as variations in weather conditions and our regulated utility rate designs generally
result in greater revenues and earnings during the winter months when temperatures are colder. For further information on weather sensitivity and
the impact of seasonality on working capital, see “Financial Condition and Liquidity” in Item 7 of this Form 10-K in Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. As is prevalent in the industry, we inject natural gas into storage during the
summer months (principally April through October) when customer demand is lower for withdrawal from storage during the winter heating season
(principally November through March) when customer demand is higher. During the year ended October 31, 2011, the amount of natural gas in
storage varied from 14.6 million dekatherms (one dekatherm equals 1,000,000 BTUs) to 26.3 million dekatherms, and the aggregate commodity
cost of this gas in storage varied from $75.9 million to $133.2 million.

During the year ended October 31, 2011, 181.2 million dekatherms of gas were sold to or transported for large volume customers compared
with 154.3 million dekatherms in 2010. Of these volumes sold to or transported for large volume customers, we transported 83.5 million
dekatherms this year to power generation facilities as compared with 63 million dekatherms in the prior year. The margin earned from power
generation customers is largely based on fixed demand contracts. Deliveries to temperature-sensitive residential
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and commercial customers, whose consumption varies with the weather, totaled 98.5 million dekatherms in 2011, compared with 98.3 million
dekatherms in 2010. Weather, as measured by degree days, was 10% colder than normal in 2011 and 6% colder than normal in 2010.

The following is a five-year comparison of operating statistics for the years ended October 31, 2007 through 2011.
 
   2011    2010    2009    2008    2007  
Operating Revenues (in thousands):           

Sales and Transportation:           
Residential   $ 658,892   $ 743,346   $ 787,994   $ 813,032   $ 743,637 
Commercial    379,846    428,085    462,160    503,317    418,426 
Industrial    104,774    116,122    126,855    209,341    190,204 
For Power Generation    28,969    21,708    19,609    25,266    29,135 
For Resale    9,692    11,061    11,746    12,326    13,907 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total    1,182,173    1,320,322    1,408,364    1,563,282    1,395,309 
Secondary Market Sales    244,824    224,973    221,300    515,968    308,904 
Miscellaneous    6,908    7,000    8,452    9,858    7,079 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $1,433,905   $1,552,295   $1,638,116   $2,089,108   $1,711,292 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Gas Volumes - Dekatherms (in thousands):           
System Throughput:           

Residential    57,778    58,327    55,298    51,909    50,072 
Commercial    40,749    39,994    38,526    36,766    33,647 
Industrial    90,842    82,805    74,363    81,780    79,266 
For Power Generation    83,522    63,024    39,639    30,875    34,096 
For Resale    6,870    8,465    9,048    8,921    8,923 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total    279,761    252,615    216,874    210,251    206,004 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Secondary Market Sales    48,835    46,823    46,057    53,442    42,049 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Number of Customers Billed (12-month average):           
Residential    871,401    864,205    855,670    852,586    835,636 
Commercial    94,485    94,287    94,404    94,045    93,472 
Industrial    2,265    2,273    2,358    2,937    2,959 
For Power Generation    22    20    20    20    15 
For Resale    15    16    17    17    15 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total    968,188    960,801    952,469    949,605    932,097 
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   2011   2010   2009   2008   2007  
Average Per Residential Customer:       

Gas Used - Dekatherms    66.30   67.49   64.63   60.88   59.92 
Revenue   $ 756.13  $ 860.15  $ 920.91  $ 953.61  $ 889.90 
Revenue Per Dekatherm   $ 11.40  $ 12.74  $ 14.25  $ 15.66  $ 14.85 

Cost of Gas (in thousands):       
Natural Gas Commodity Costs   $666,930  $753,529  $ 727,744  $1,454,073  $1,055,600 
Capacity Demand Charges    136,139   127,137   128,081   127,640   116,977 
Natural Gas Withdrawn From (Injected Into) Storage, net    11,362   5,293   126,480   (78,283)   (12,815) 
Regulatory Charges (Credits), net    45,835   113,744   94,237   32,705   27,365 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total   $860,266  $999,703  $1,076,542  $1,536,135  $1,187,127 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Supply Available for Distribution (dekatherms in thousands):       
Natural Gas Purchased    155,550   157,021   149,696   159,857   143,598 
Transportation Gas    175,005   147,038   115,519   108,332   108,355 
Natural Gas Withdrawn From (Injected Into) Storage, net    196   (1,309)   1,010   (2,980)   (1,640) 
Company Use    (309)   (282)   (283)   (135)   (141) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total    330,442   302,468   265,942   265,074   250,172 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

We purchase natural gas under firm contracts to meet our design-day requirements for firm sales customers. These contracts provide that we
pay a reservation fee to the supplier to reserve or guarantee the availability of gas supplies for delivery. Under these provisions, absent force
majeure conditions, any disruption of supply deliverability is subject to penalty and damage assessment against the supplier. We ensure the delivery
of the gas supplies to our distribution system to meet the peak day, seasonal and annual needs of our firm customers by using a variety of firm
transportation and storage capacity contracts. The pipeline capacity contracts require the payment of fixed demand charges to reserve firm
transportation or storage entitlements. We align the contractual agreements for supply with the firm capacity agreements in terms of volumes,
receipt and delivery locations and demand fluctuations. We may supplement these firm contracts with other supply arrangements to serve our
interruptible market.

As of October 31, 2011, we had contracts for the following pipeline firm transportation capacity in dekatherms per day.
 

Williams-Transco    632,200 
El Paso-Tennessee Pipeline    74,100 
Spectra-Texas Eastern (through East Tennessee and Transco)    36,700 
NiSource-Columbia Gas (through Transco and Columbia Gulf)    42,800 
NiSource-Columbia Gulf    10,000 
ONEOK-Midwestern (through Tennessee, Columbia Gulf, East Tennessee and

Transco)    120,000 
    

 

Total    915,800 
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As of October 31, 2011, we had the following assets or contracts for local peaking facilities and storage for seasonal or peaking capacity in
dekatherms of daily deliverability to meet the firm demands of our markets with deliverability from 5 days to one year.
 

Piedmont Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG)    268,000 
Pine Needle LNG (through Transco)    263,400 
Williams-Transco Storage    86,100 
NiSource-Columbia Gas Storage    96,400 
Hardy Storage (through Columbia Gas and Transco)    68,800 
Dominion Storage (through Transco)    13,200 
El Paso-Tennessee Pipeline Storage    55,900 
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Total    851,800 
    

 

As of October 31, 2011, we own or have under contract 36.1 million dekatherms of storage capacity, either in the form of underground
storage or LNG. This capability is used to supplement or replace regular pipeline supplies.

The source of the gas we distribute is primarily from the Gulf Coast production region and is purchased primarily from major and
independent producers and marketers. Natural gas demand is continuing to grow in our service area, particularly from power generation customers.
To diversify our reliance away from the Gulf Coast region, we receive firm, long-term market area storage service from Hardy Storage Company,
LLC (Hardy Storage) located in West Virginia, Columbia Gas Storage located in West Virginia, Ohio and Pennsylvania, and Dominion Storage
located in West Virginia, Pennsylvania and New York that may be filled with Appalachian sourced supply. We also have firm, long-term
transportation service from Midwestern Gas Transmission Company that provides access to gas supplies from Canadian and Rocky Mountain
supply basins via the Chicago hub that can supply city gate demand or be used to fill storage facilities on Tennessee Gas Pipeline, Columbia Gas,
Pine Needle and Transco.

We completed two pipeline expansion projects in fiscal year 2011 and one in December 2011 to provide long-term gas transportation service
to power generation customers in our market area. We have two pipeline expansion projects under construction to provide natural gas delivery
service to power generation facilities currently under construction in North Carolina with targeted in service dates of June 2012 and June 2013. In
addition to the environmental benefits of replacing a coal-fired power plant with a new natural gas-fired power plant, the construction of the
natural gas pipelines for these projects will also add to our natural gas infrastructure in the eastern part of North Carolina and enhance future
opportunities for economic growth and development. See the following discussion of our forecasted capital investment related to the construction
of the natural gas pipelines and compressor stations to serve these new power generation facilities in “Cash Flows from Investing Activities” in
Item 7 of this Form 10-K in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

We continue to see challenging economic conditions in our market area with continued high rates of unemployment, weakened housing
markets with high inventories of unsold homes and slower new home construction. However, we took advantage of the growth opportunities that
existed in those markets and continue to focus on residential, commercial and industrial customer conversions to natural gas and power generation
gas delivery service opportunities. In fiscal year 2011, we added 10,522 new customers, including 6,843 residential new home construction
customers, 1,406 commercial and industrial customers and 2,273 conversion customers, as well as two new power generation customers mentioned
above. As we seek to expand the use of natural gas, we continue to emphasize natural gas as the fuel of choice for energy consumers because of
the comfort, affordability and efficiency of natural gas, as well as remind our customers of our reliability and safety as a company. We forecast
gross customer addition growth for fiscal 2012 of approximately 1%.
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We continue to work toward a business model that positions us for long-term success in a lower carbon energy economy with a focus on
future growth opportunities that support new clean energy technologies. We are seeking opportunities for regulatory innovation and strategic
alliances to advance our customers’ interests in energy conservation, efficiency and environmental stewardship. We are executing a plan to build
more compressed natural gas (CNG) fueling stations in our service area for use by our own vehicle fleet as well as third party use and the general
public. Currently, approximately 11% of our vehicle fleet uses CNG. We have five CNG fueling stations, and we plan to construct four more.
Within two years, we anticipate that up to 33% of our fleet will be capable of using CNG.

During the year ended October 31, 2011, approximately 5% of our margin (operating revenues less cost of gas) was generated from
deliveries to industrial or large commercial customers that have the capability to burn a fuel other than natural gas. The alternative fuels are
primarily fuel oil and propane and, to a much lesser extent, coal or wood. Our ability to maintain or increase deliveries of gas to these customers
depends on a number of factors, including weather conditions, governmental regulations, the price of gas from suppliers, availability and the price
of alternate fuels. Under FERC policies, certain large volume customers located in proximity to the interstate pipelines delivering gas to us could
bypass us and take delivery of gas directly from the pipeline or from a third party connecting with the pipeline. During the fiscal year ended
October 31, 2011, no bypass occurred. The future level of bypass activity cannot be predicted.

As noted above, many of our industrial customers are capable of burning a fuel other than natural gas, with fuel oil being the most prevalent
energy alternative. Our ability to maintain industrial market share is largely dependent on price. The relationship between supply and demand has
the greatest impact on the price of natural gas. The price of oil depends upon a number of factors beyond our control, including the relationship
between worldwide supply and demand and the policies of foreign and domestic governments and organizations, as well as the value of the US
dollar versus other currencies. Our liquidity could be impacted, either positively or negatively, as a result of alternate fuel decisions made by
industrial customers.

The regulated utility also competes with other energy products, such as electricity and propane, in the residential and small commercial
customer markets. The most significant product competition is with electricity for space heating, water heating and cooking. There are four major
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electric companies within our service areas. We believe that the consumer’s preference for natural gas is influenced by such factors as price, value,
availability, environmental attributes, comfort, convenience, reliability and energy efficiency. The direct use of natural gas in homes and
businesses is the most efficient and cost effective use of natural gas and lowers the carbon footprint of those premises in our market area.

During the year ended October 31, 2011, our largest revenue generating customer contributed $49.5 million, or 3%, of total operating
revenues. Our largest margin generating customer contributed $15.6 million, or 3% of total margin.

Our costs for research and development are not material and are primarily limited to natural gas industry-sponsored research projects.
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Compliance with federal, state and local environmental protection laws have had no material effect on our construction expenditures,
earnings or competitive position. For further information on environmental issues, see “Environmental Matters” in Item 7 of this Form 10-K in
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

As of October 31, 2011, our fiscal year end, we had 1,782 employees compared with 1,788 as of October 31, 2010.

Our reports on Form 10-K, Form 10-Q and Form 8-K, and any amendments to these reports, are available at no cost on our website at
www.piedmontng.com as soon as reasonably practicable after the report is filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC).

Item 1A. Risk Factors

An overall economic downturn or slow recovery could negatively impact our earnings.

Weakening or slow recovery of economic activity in our markets could result in a loss of customers, a decline in customer additions,
especially in the new home construction market, or a decline in energy consumption, which could adversely affect our revenues or restrict our
future growth. It may become more difficult for customers to pay their gas bills, leading to slow collections and higher-than-normal levels of
accounts receivable. This could increase our financing requirements and non-gas cost bad debt expense. Deteriorating economic conditions could
also affect pension costs by reducing the value of the investments that fund our pension plan and negatively affect actuarial assumptions.
Inflationary pressure could increase the costs of goods, services and labor, and an increase in interest rates could increase our interest expense and
make it more difficult or expensive for us to access the capital markets. Earnings and liquidity would be negatively affected, reducing our ability
to grow the business.

Increases in the wholesale price of natural gas could reduce our earnings and working capital.

The supply and demand balance in natural gas markets could cause an increase in the price of natural gas. Recently, the increased production
of U.S. shale natural gas has put downward pressure on the wholesale cost of natural gas, and restrictions or regulations on shale gas production
could cause natural gas prices to increase. The prudently incurred cost we pay for natural gas is passed directly through to our customers.
Therefore, significant increases in the price of natural gas may cause our existing customers to conserve or motivate them to switch to alternate
sources of energy as well as cause new home developers, builders and new customers to select alternative sources of energy. Decreases in the
volume of gas we sell could reduce our earnings in the absence of decoupled rate structures, and a decline in new customers could impede growth
in our future earnings. In addition, during periods when natural gas prices are high, our working capital costs could increase due to higher carrying
costs of gas storage inventories, and customers may have trouble paying higher bills leading to bad debt expenses, which may reduce our earnings.
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A decrease in the availability of adequate interstate pipeline transportation capacity and natural gas supply could reduce our earnings.

We purchase all of our gas supply from interstate sources that must then be transported to our service territory. Interstate pipeline companies
transport the gas to our system under firm service agreements that are designed to meet the requirements of our core markets. A significant
disruption to that supply or interstate pipeline capacity due to unforeseen events, including but not limited to, operational failures or disruptions,
hurricanes, tornadoes, floods, freeze off of natural gas wells, terrorist attacks or other acts of war, could reduce our normal interstate supply of gas
and thereby reduce our earnings. Moreover, if additional natural gas infrastructure, including but not limited to exploration and drilling rigs and
platforms, processing and gathering systems, off-shore pipelines, interstate pipelines and storage, cannot be built at a pace that meets demand, then
our growth opportunities would be limited and our earnings negatively impacted.
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Our business is subject to competition that could negatively affect our results of operations.

The natural gas business is competitive, and we face competition from other companies that supply energy, including electric companies, oil
and propane dealers, renewable energy providers and coal companies in relation to sources of energy for electric power plants, as well as nuclear
energy. A significant competitive factor is price.

In residential, commercial and industrial customer markets, our natural gas distribution operations compete with other energy products,
primarily electricity, propane and fuel oil. Our primary product competition is with electricity for heating, water heating and cooking. Increases in
the price of natural gas or decreases in the price of other energy sources could negatively impact our competitive position by decreasing the price
benefits of natural gas to the consumer. In the case of industrial customers, such as manufacturing plants, adverse economic or market conditions,
including higher gas costs, could cause these customers to use alternative sources of energy or bypass our systems in favor of energy sources with
lower per-unit costs.

Higher gas costs or decreases in the price of other energy sources may allow competition from alternative energy sources for applications that
have traditionally used natural gas, encouraging some customers to move away from natural gas-fired equipment to equipment fueled by other
energy sources. Competition between natural gas and other forms of energy is also based on efficiency, performance, reliability, safety and other
non-price factors. Technological improvements in other energy sources and events that impair the public perception of the non-price attributes of
natural gas could erode our competitive advantage. These factors in turn could decrease the demand for natural gas, impair our ability to attract
new customers, and cause existing customers to switch to other forms of energy or to bypass our systems in favor of alternative competitive
sources. This could result in slow or no customer growth and could cause customers to reduce or cease using our product, thereby reducing our
ability to make capital expenditures and otherwise grow our business and adversely affecting our earnings.

Our business activities are concentrated in three states.

Changes in the regional economies, politics, regulations and weather patterns of North Carolina, South Carolina and Tennessee could
negatively impact the growth opportunities available to us and the usage patterns and financial condition of customers, and could adversely affect
our earnings.
 

8

Table of Contents

Changes in federal laws or regulations could reduce the availability or increase the cost of our interstate pipeline capacity and/or gas supply and
thereby reduce our earnings.

The FERC has regulatory authority over some of our operations, including sales of natural gas in the wholesale market and the purchase and
sale of interstate pipeline and storage capacity. Additionally, the Commodities Futures Trading Commission under the 2010 Dodd-Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act has regulatory authority of the over-the-counter derivatives markets. Regulations affecting derivatives
could increase the price of our gas supply. Any federal legislation or agency regulation that has the effect of significantly raising costs that could
not be recovered in rates from our customers or reducing the availability of supply or capacity, the liquidity of the natural gas supply market or our
competitiveness could negatively impact our earnings.

Climate change, carbon neutral or energy efficiency legislation or regulations could increase our operating costs or restrict our market
opportunities, negatively affecting our growth, cash flows and earnings.

The federal or state governments may enact legislation or regulations that attempt to control or limit the causes of climate change, including
greenhouse gas emissions such as carbon dioxide. Such laws or regulations could impose operational requirements, impose additional charges to
fund energy efficiency activities, provide a cost advantage to alternative energy sources other than natural gas, impose costs or restrictions on end
users of natural gas, or result in other costs or requirements. As a result, there is a possibility that, if enacted or adopted, such legislation or
regulation could put upward pressure on the cost of natural gas relative to other energy sources, increase our costs and impact the competitive
position of natural gas and the ability to serve new customers, negatively affecting our growth opportunities, cash flows and earnings.

Regulatory actions at the state level could impact our ability to earn a reasonable rate of return on our invested capital and to fully recover our
operating costs as well as reduce our earnings.

Our regulated utility segment is regulated by the NCUC, the PSCSC and the TRA. These agencies set the rates that we charge our customers
for our services. We monitor allowed rates of return and our ability to earn appropriate rates of return based on factors, such as increased operating
costs, and initiate general rate proceedings as needed. If a state regulatory commission were to prohibit us from setting rates that allow for the
timely recovery of our costs and a reasonable return by significantly lowering our allowed return or negatively altering our cost allocation, rate
design, cost trackers (including margin decoupling and cost of gas) or other tariff provisions, then our earnings could be negatively impacted. In the
normal course of business in the regulatory environment, assets are placed in service before rate cases can be filed that could result in an
adjustment of our returns. Once rate cases are filed, regulatory bodies have the authority to suspend implementation of the new rates while studying
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the cases. Because of this process, we may suffer the negative financial effects of having placed in service assets that do not initially earn our
authorized rate of return without the benefit of rate relief, which is commonly referred to as “regulatory lag.” Rate cases also involve a risk of rate
reduction, because once rates have been filed, they are still subject to challenge for their reasonableness by various appropriate entities. Regulatory
authorities also review whether our gas costs are prudent and can adjust the amount of our gas costs that we pass through to our customers.
Additionally, our state regulators foster a competitive regulatory model that, for example, allows us to recover any margin losses associated with
negotiated transactions designed to retain large volume customers that could use
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alternative fuels or that may directly access natural gas supply through their own connection to an interstate pipeline. If there were changes in
regulatory philosophies that altered our ability to compete for these customers, then we could lose customers or incur significant unrecoverable
expenses to retain them. Both scenarios would impact our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. Our debt and equity financings
are also subject to regulation by the NCUC. Delays or failure to receive NCUC approval could limit our ability to access or take advantage of
changes in the capital markets. This could negatively impact our liquidity or earnings.

Weather conditions may cause our earnings to vary from year to year.

Our earnings can vary from year to year, depending in part on weather conditions. Currently, we have in place regulatory mechanisms that
normalize our margin for weather during the winter, providing for an adjustment up or down, to take into account warmer-than-normal or colder-
than-normal weather. Mild winter temperatures can cause a decrease in the amount of gas we sell and deliver in any year and the margin we
collect from these customers. If our rates and tariffs were modified to eliminate weather protection, such as weather normalization and rate
decoupling tariffs, then we would be exposed to significant risk associated with weather, and our earnings could vary as a result.

Our gas supply risk management programs are subject to state regulatory approval or annual review in gas cost proceedings.

We manage our gas supply costs through short-term and long-term procurement and storage contracts. In the normal course of business, we
utilize New York Mercantile Exchange (NYMEX) exchange traded instruments of various durations for the forward purchase or sale of our natural
gas requirements, subject to regulatory approval or review. As a component of our gas costs, these expenses are subject to regulatory approval, and
we may be exposed to additional liability if the recovery of these costs of gas supply procurement or risk management activities is excluded by our
regulators in gas cost recovery proceedings.

Operational interruptions to our gas distribution and transmission activities caused by accidents, work stoppage, severe weather conditions,
including destructive weather patterns such as hurricanes, tornadoes and floods, pandemic or acts of terrorism could adversely impact earnings.

Inherent in our gas distribution and transmission activities are a variety of hazards and operational risks, such as third party excavation
damage, leaks, ruptures and mechanical problems. Severe weather conditions, as well as acts of terrorism, could also damage our pipelines and
other infrastructure and disrupt our ability to conduct our natural gas distribution and transportation business. Pandemic could result in a
significant part of our workforce being unable to operate or maintain our infrastructure or perform other tasks necessary to conduct our business. If
the foregoing events are severe enough or if they lead to operational interruptions, they could cause substantial financial losses. In addition, these
risks could result in loss of human life, significant damage to property, environmental damage, impairment of our operations and substantial loss to
us. The location of pipeline and storage facilities near populated areas, including residential areas, commercial business centers, industrial sites and
other public gathering places, could increase the level of damages resulting from these risks. Our regulators may not allow us to recover part or all
of the increased cost related to the foregoing events from our customers, which would negatively affect our earnings. With part of our workforce
represented by unions, we are exposed to the risk of a work stoppage. The occurrence of any of these events could adversely affect our financial
position, results of operations and cash flows.
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We may not be able to complete necessary or desirable pipeline integrity or infrastructure development projects, which may delay or prevent us
from serving our customers or expanding our business.

In order to serve new customers or existing customers, we need to maintain, expand or upgrade our distribution, transmission and/or storage
infrastructure, including laying new pipeline and building compressor stations. Various factors may prevent or delay us from completing such
projects or make completion more costly, such as the inability to obtain required approval from local, state and/or federal regulatory and
governmental bodies, public opposition to the project, inability to obtain adequate financing, construction delays, cost overruns, and inability to
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negotiate acceptable agreements relating to rights-of-way, construction or other material development components. As a result, we may not be able
to adequately serve existing customers or support customer growth, which would negatively impact our earnings. In addition, the counterparties to
our power generation construction and service agreements may elect to terminate the agreements, which would negatively affect future earnings
and cash flow.

A downgrade in our credit ratings could negatively affect our cost of and ability to access capital.

Our ability to obtain adequate and cost effective financing depends on our credit ratings. A negative change in our ratings outlook or any
downgrade in our current investment-grade credit ratings by our rating agencies, particularly below investment grade, could adversely affect our
cost of borrowing and/or access to sources of liquidity and capital. Such a downgrade could further limit our access to private credit markets and
increase the costs of borrowing under available credit lines. Should our credit ratings be downgraded, the interest rate on our borrowings under our
revolving credit agreement would increase. An increase in borrowing costs without the ability to recover these higher costs in the rates charged to
our customers could adversely affect earnings by limiting our ability to earn our allowed rate of return.

The inability to access capital or significant increases in the cost of capital could adversely affect our business.

Our ability to obtain adequate and cost effective financing is dependent upon the liquidity of the financial markets, in addition to our credit
ratings. Disruptions in the capital and credit markets could adversely affect our ability to access short-term and long-term capital. Our access to
funds under short-term credit facilities is dependent on the ability of the participating banks to meet their funding commitments. Those banks may
not be able to meet their funding commitments if they experience shortages of capital and liquidity. Disruptions and volatility in the European
credit market could cause the interest rate we pay on our short-term credit facility, which is based on the London Interbank Offered Rate, to
increase, could result in higher interest rates on future financings, and could impact the liquidity of the lenders under our short-term credit facility,
potentially impairing their ability to meet their funding commitments. Longer disruptions in the capital and credit markets as a result of uncertainty,
changing or increased regulation, reduced alternatives or failures of significant financial institutions could adversely affect our access to capital
needed for our business. The inability to access adequate capital may require us to conserve cash, prevent or delay us from making capital
expenditures, and require us to reduce or eliminate the dividend or other discretionary uses of cash. A significant reduction in our liquidity could
cause a negative change in our ratings outlook or even a reduction in our credit ratings. This could in turn further limit our access to credit markets
and increase our cost of borrowing.
 

11

Table of Contents

Changes in federal and state fiscal and monetary policy could significantly increase our costs or decrease our cash flows.

Changes in federal and state fiscal and monetary policy may result in increased taxes, interest rates, and inflationary pressures on the costs of
goods, services and labor. This could increase our expenses and decrease our earnings if we are not able to recover such increased costs from our
customers. This series of events may increase our rates to customers and thus may negatively impact customer billings and customer growth.
Changes in accounting or tax rules could negatively affect our cash flow. Any of these events may cause us to increase debt, conserve cash,
negatively affect our ability to make capital expenditures to grow the business or require us to reduce or eliminate the dividend or other
discretionary uses of cash, and could negatively affect earnings.

We do not generate sufficient cash flows to meet all our cash needs.

Historically, we have made large capital expenditures in order to finance the expansion and upgrading of our transmission and distribution
systems. We also purchase natural gas for storage. We have made several equity method investments and will continue to pursue other similar
investments, all of which are and will be important to our growth and profitability. We fund a portion of our cash needs for these purposes, as well
as contributions to our employee pensions and benefit plans, through borrowings under credit arrangements and by offering new debt and equity
securities. Our dependency on external sources of financing creates the risk that our profits could decrease as a result of higher borrowing costs and
that we may not be able to secure external sources of cash necessary to fund our operations and new investments on terms acceptable to us.
Volatility in seasonal cash flow requirements, including requirements for our gas supply procurement and risk management programs, may require
increased levels of borrowing that could result in non-compliance with the debt-to-equity ratios in our credit facilities as well as cause a credit
rating downgrade. Any disruptions in the capital and credit markets could require us to conserve cash until the markets stabilize or until alternative
credit arrangements or other funding required for our needs can be secured. Such measures could cause deferral of major capital expenditures,
changes in our gas supply procurement program, the reduction or elimination of the dividend payment or other discretionary uses of cash, and
could negatively affect our future growth and earnings.

As a result of cross-default provisions in our borrowing arrangements, we may be unable to satisfy all of our outstanding obligations in the event
of a default on our part.

The terms of our senior indebtedness, including our revolving credit facility, contain cross-default provisions which provide that we will be
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in default under such agreements in the event of certain defaults under the indenture or other loan agreements. Accordingly, should an event of
default occur under any of those agreements, we face the prospect of being in default under all of our debt agreements, obliged in such instance to
satisfy all of our outstanding indebtedness and unable to satisfy all of our outstanding obligations simultaneously. In such an event, we might not be
able to obtain alternative financing or, if we are able to obtain such financing, we might not be able to obtain it on terms acceptable to us, which
would negatively affect our ability to implement our business plan, make capital expenditures and finance our operations.
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We are exposed to credit risk of counterparties with whom we do business.

Adverse economic conditions affecting, or financial difficulties of, counterparties with whom we do business could impair the ability of these
counterparties to pay for our services or fulfill their contractual obligations. We depend on these counterparties to remit payments to fulfill their
contractual obligations on a timely basis. Any delay or default in payment or failure of the counterparties to meet their contractual obligations could
adversely affect our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

The cost of providing pension benefits is subject to changes in pension fund values and other factors and could unfavorably impact our liquidity
and results of operations.

Our costs of providing a non-contributory defined benefit pension plan are dependent on a number of factors, such as the rates of return on
plan assets, discount rates, the level of interest rates used to measure the required minimum funding levels of the plan, changes in these actuarial
assumptions, future government regulation and our required or voluntary contributions made to the plan. Changes in actuarial assumptions and
differences between the assumptions and actual values, as well as a significant decline in the value of investments that fund our pension plan, if not
offset or mitigated by a decline in our liabilities, could increase the expense of our pension plan, and we could be required to fund our plan with
significant amounts of cash. Such cash funding obligations could have a material impact on our liquidity by reducing cash flows and could
negatively affect results of operations.

We are subject to numerous environmental laws and regulations that may require significant expenditures or increase operating costs.

We are subject to numerous federal and state environmental laws and regulations affecting many aspects of our present and future operations.
These laws and regulations can result in increased capital, operating and other costs. These laws and regulations generally require us to obtain and
comply with a wide variety of environmental licenses, permits, inspections and approvals. Compliance with these laws and regulations can require
significant expenditures for clean-up costs and damages arising out of contaminated properties. Failure to comply may result in fines, penalties and
injunctive measures affecting operating assets. Additionally, the discovery of presently unknown environmental conditions could give rise to
expenditures and liabilities, including fines or penalties, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or
financial condition.

We are subject to new and existing pipeline safety and system integrity laws and regulations that may require significant expenditures or
significantly increase operating costs.

We are subject to existing and may be subject to new pipeline safety and system integrity laws and regulations affecting various aspects of
our present and future operations. These laws and regulations generally require us to enhance pipeline safety and system integrity by identifying
and reducing pipeline risks. Compliance with these laws and regulations may result in increased capital, operating and other costs which may not
be recoverable in rates from our customers. Furthermore, because the language in some of these laws and regulations is not prescriptive, there is a
risk that our interpretation of these laws and regulations may not be consistent with expectations of regulators. Any compliance failure related to
these laws and regulations may result in fines, penalties or injunctive measures. All of the above could result in a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations or financial condition.
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We may invest in companies that have risks that are inherent in their businesses, and these risks may negatively affect our earnings from those
companies.

We are invested in several natural gas related businesses as an equity method investor. The businesses in which we invest are subject to laws,
regulations or market conditions, or have risks inherent in their operations, that could adversely affect their performance. Those that are not directly
regulated by state or federal regulatory bodies could be subject to adverse market conditions not experienced by the regulated utility segment. We
do not control the day to day operations of our equity method investments, and thus the management of these businesses by our partners could
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adversely impact their performance. All the foregoing could adversely affect our earnings from or return of our investment in these businesses. We
could make future investments in similarly unregulated businesses that have the similar potential to adversely affect our earnings from or return of
our investment in those businesses. All these adverse impacts could negatively affect our results of operations or financial condition.

Our inability to attract and retain professional and technical employees could adversely impact our earnings.

Our ability to implement our business strategy and serve our customers is dependent upon the continuing ability to employ talented
professionals and attract and retain a skilled workforce. We are subject to the risk that we will not be able to effectively replace the knowledge and
expertise of an aging workforce as those workers retire. Without a skilled workforce, our ability to provide quality service to our customers and
meet our regulatory requirements will be challenged and this could negatively impact our earnings.

Changes in accounting standards may adversely impact our financial condition and results of operations.

The SEC is considering whether issuers in the United States should be required to prepare financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) instead of the current generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) in the United States.
IFRS is a comprehensive set of accounting standards promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), which are currently in
effect for most other countries in the world. Unlike U.S. GAAP, IFRS does not currently provide an industry accounting standard for rate-
regulated activities. As such, if IFRS were adopted in its current state, we may be precluded from applying certain regulatory accounting
principles, including the recognition of certain regulatory assets and regulatory liabilities. The potential issues associated with rate-regulated
accounting, along with other potential changes associated with the adoption of IFRS, may adversely impact our reported financial condition and
results of operations should adoption of IFRS be required. Also, the U.S. Financial Accounting Standards Board is considering various changes to
U.S. GAAP, some of which may be significant, as part of a joint effort with the IASB to converge accounting standards over the next several
years. If approved, adoption of these changes may adversely impact our reported financial condition and results of operations.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

All property included in the consolidated balance sheets in “Utility Plant” is owned by us and used in our regulated utility segment. This
property consists of intangible plant, production plant, storage plant, transmission plant, distribution plant and general plant as categorized by
natural gas utilities, with 94% of the total invested in utility distribution and transmission plant to serve our customers. We have approximately
2,700 linear miles of transmission pipelines up to 30 inches in diameter that connect our distribution systems with the transmission systems of our
pipeline suppliers. We distribute natural gas through approximately 22,000 linear miles of distribution mains up to 16 inches in diameter. The
transmission pipelines and distribution mains are generally underground, located near public streets and highways, or on property owned by others,
for which we have obtained the necessary legal rights to place and operate our facilities on such property. All of these properties are located in
North Carolina, South Carolina and Tennessee. Utility Plant includes “Construction work in progress” which primarily represents distribution,
transmission and general plant projects that have not been placed into service pending completion.

None of our property is encumbered and all property is in use except for “Plant held for future use” as classified in our consolidated balance
sheets. The amount classified as plant held for future use relates to expenditures associated with a potential LNG peak storage facility in the
eastern part of North Carolina that has been delayed given the slowing of our growth due to current economic conditions. Another project under
construction will help serve the near term system pressure requirements in a cost effective manner in that part of North Carolina. The timing and
design scope of the expansion of our facilities in this area will be determined as our system infrastructure and market supply growth requirements
in North Carolina dictate.

We own or lease for varying periods our corporate headquarters building located in Charlotte, North Carolina and our resource centers in the
locations shown below. Lease payments for these various offices totaled $4 million for the year ended October 31, 2011.
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North Carolina   South Carolina   Tennessee
Burlington   Anderson   Nashville
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Cary   Gaffney   
Charlotte   Greenville   
Elizabeth City   Spartanburg   
Fayetteville     
Goldsboro     
Greensboro     
Hickory     
High Point     
Indian Trail     
New Bern     
Reidsville     
Rockingham     
Salisbury     
Spruce Pine     
Tarboro     
Wilmington     
Winston-Salem     

Property included in the consolidated balance sheets in “Other Physical Property” is owned by the parent company and one of its subsidiaries.
The property owned by the parent company primarily consists of natural gas water heaters leased to commercial customers. The property owned by
the subsidiary is real estate. None of our other subsidiaries directly own property as their operations consist solely of participating in joint ventures
as an equity member.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We have only routine immaterial litigation in the normal course of business.

Item 4. (Removed and Reserved)
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information

Our common stock (symbol PNY) is traded on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE). The following table provides information with
respect to the high and low sales prices from the NYSE Composite for each quarterly period for the years ended October 31, 2011 and 2010.
 
2011   High    Low    2010   High    Low  
Quarter ended:       Quarter ended:     

January 31   $30.10   $27.57   January 31   $27.84   $22.51 
April 30    32.00    27.88   April 30    28.52    23.87 
July 31    31.98    28.80   July 31    27.97    24.50 
October 31    33.60    25.86   October 31    29.85    26.15 

Holders

As of December 16, 2011, our common stock was owned by 13,916 shareholders of record. Holders of record exclude the individual and
institutional security owners whose shares are held in the street name or in the name of an investment company.

Dividends

The following table provides information with respect to quarterly dividends paid on common stock for the years ended October 31, 2011
and 2010. We expect that comparable cash dividends will continue to be paid in the future.
 

2011   
Dividends Paid

Per Share   2010   
Dividends Paid

Per Share  
Quarter ended:    Quarter ended:   

January 31    28¢  January 31    27¢ 
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April 30    29¢  April 30    28¢ 
July 31    29¢  July 31    28¢ 
October 31    29¢  October 31    28¢ 

The amount of cash dividends that may be paid on common stock is restricted by provisions contained in certain note agreements under
which long-term debt was issued, with those for the senior notes being the most restrictive. We cannot pay or declare any dividends or make any
other distribution on any class of stock or make any investments in subsidiaries or permit any subsidiary to do any of the above (all of the foregoing
being “restricted payments”) except out of net earnings available for restricted payments. As of October 31, 2011, net earnings available for
restricted payments were greater than retained earnings; therefore, our retained earnings were not restricted.
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Share Repurchases

The following table provides information with respect to repurchases of our common stock under the Common Stock Open Market Purchase
Program during the three months ended October 31, 2011.
 

Period   

Total Number
of Shares
Purchased   

Average Price
Paid Per Share   

Total Number of
Shares Purchased

as Part  of Publicly
Announced 

Program    

Maximum Number
of Shares that May
Yet be Purchased

Under the Program (1) 
Beginning of the period         3,710,074 

8/1/11 - 8/31/11    —    $ —      —      3,710,074 
9/1/11 - 9/30/11    19,345(2)  $ 31.28    —      3,710,074 
10/1/11 - 10/31/11    1,753(2)  $ 33.29    —      3,710,074 
Total    21,098  $ 31.45    —     

 
(1) The Common Stock Open Market Purchase Program was approved by the Board of Directors and announced on June 4, 2004 to purchase up

to three million shares of common stock for reissuance under our dividend reinvestment and stock purchase, employee stock purchase and
incentive compensation plans. On December 16, 2005, the Board of Directors approved an increase in the number of shares in this program
from three million to six million to reflect the two-for-one stock split in 2004. The Board also approved on that date an amendment of the
Common Stock Open Market Purchase Program to provide for the purchase of up to four million additional shares of common stock to
maintain our debt-to-equity capitalization ratios at target levels. The additional four million shares were referred to as our accelerated share
repurchase (ASR) program. On March 6, 2009, the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to an additional four million shares
under the Common Stock Open Market Purchase Program and the ASR program, which were consolidated.

(2) The total number of shares purchased is shares withheld by us to satisfy tax withholding obligations related to the vesting of shares of
restricted stock and shares awarded under a retention award under incentive compensation plans, which are outside of the Common Stock
Open Market Purchase Program.

Comparisons of Cumulative Total Shareholder Returns

The following performance graph compares our cumulative total shareholder return from October 31, 2006 through October 31, 2011 (a five-
year period) with our utility peer group and the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index, a broad market index (the S&P 500). Large natural gas
distribution companies that are representative of our peers in the natural gas distribution industry are included in our LDC Peer Group index.

The Laclede Group, Inc. and South Jersey Industries, Inc. were added to our peer group because they are publicly traded companies with a
focus on natural gas distribution in multi-state territories and have similar annual revenues and market capitalization as compared with us. We
attempt to have our peer group companies meet a majority of these criteria for inclusion in the group, and we use the same peer group to calculate
our cumulative shareholder return as we use for market benchmarking for our executive compensation plans. It was recommended by a benefits
consultant that we expand our peer group.

Our total return of $100 invested as of October 31, 2011 was $147. With the addition of The Laclede Group, Inc. and South Jersey Industries,
Inc., our peer group return was $148. Without them, the peer group return would have been $142.
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The graph assumes that the value of an investment in Common Stock and in each index was $100 at October 31, 2006 and that all dividends
were reinvested. Stock price performances shown on the graph are not indicative of future price performance.
 

Comparisons of Five-Year Cumulative Total Returns
Value of $100 Invested as of October 31, 2006

 
LDC Peer Group—The following companies are included: AGL Resources Inc., Atmos Energy Corporation, New Jersey Resources Corporation,
NICOR Inc., NiSource Inc., Northwest Natural Gas Company, South Jersey Industries, Inc., Southwest Gas Corporation, The Laclede Group, Inc.,
Vectren Corporation and WGL Holdings, Inc.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table provides selected financial data for the years ended October 31, 2007 through 2011.
 
In thousands except per share amounts   2011    2010    2009    2008    2007  
Operating Revenues   $1,433,905   $1,552,295   $1,638,116   $2,089,108   $1,711,292 
Margin (operating revenues less cost of gas)   $ 573,639   $ 552,592   $ 561,574   $ 552,973   $ 524,165 
Net Income   $ 113,568   $ 141,954   $ 122,824   $ 110,007   $ 104,387 
Earnings per Share of Common Stock:           

Basic   $ 1.58   $ 1.96   $ 1.68   $ 1.50   $ 1.41 
Diluted   $ 1.57   $ 1.96   $ 1.67   $ 1.49   $ 1.40 

Cash Dividends per Share of Common Stock   $ 1.15   $ 1.11   $ 1.07   $ 1.03   $ 0.99 
Total Assets *   $3,242,541   $3,053,275   $3,118,819   $3,138,401   $2,823,106 
Long-Term Debt (less current maturities)   $ 675,000   $ 671,922   $ 732,512   $ 794,261   $ 824,887 
 
* Total assets for the years 2007 and 2008 have been adjusted to reflect the gross presentation rather than a net presentation in accordance with

the adoption of new accounting guidance related to offsetting of amounts related to certain contracts with the same counterparty.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Statements

This report, as well as other documents we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), may contain forward-looking
statements. In addition, our senior management and other authorized spokespersons may make forward-looking statements in print or orally to
analysts, investors, the media and others. These statements are based on management’s current expectations from information currently available
and are believed to be reasonable and made in good faith. However, the forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could
cause actual results to differ materially from those projected in the statements. Factors that may make the actual results differ from anticipated
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results include, but are not limited to the following, as well as those discussed in Item 1A. Risk Factors:
 

 
•  Regulatory issues. Deregulation, regulatory restructuring and other regulatory issues may affect us and those from whom we purchase

natural gas transportation and storage service, including issues that affect allowed rates of return, terms and conditions of service, rate
structures and financings. We monitor our ability to earn appropriate rates of return and initiate general rate proceedings as needed.

 

 

•  Customer growth and consumption. Residential, commercial, industrial and power generation growth and energy consumption in our
service areas may change. The ability to retain and grow our customer base, the pace of that growth and the levels of energy
consumption are impacted by general business and economic conditions, such as interest rates, inflation, fluctuations in the capital
markets and the overall strength of the economy in our service areas and the country, and by fluctuations in the wholesale prices of
natural gas and competitive energy sources. Large-volume industrial customers may switch to alternate fuels or bypass our system or
shift to special competitive contracts or to tariff rates that are at lower per-unit margins than that customer’s existing rate.

 

 
•  Competition in the energy industry. We face competition in the energy industry, such as from electric companies, energy marketing and

trading companies, fuel oil and propane dealers, renewable energy companies and coal companies, and we expect this competitive
environment to continue.

 

 

•  The capital-intensive nature of our business. In order to maintain growth, we must invest in our natural gas transmission and
distribution system each year. The cost of and the ability to complete these capital projects may be affected by the ability to obtain and
the cost of obtaining governmental approvals, compliance with federal and state pipeline safety and integrity regulations, cost and
timing of project development-related contracts and approvals, project development delays, federal and state tax policies, and the cost
and availability of labor and materials. Weather, general economic conditions and the cost of funds to finance our capital projects can
materially alter the cost and timing of a project.

 

 

•  Access to capital markets. Our internally generated cash flows are not adequate to finance the full cost of capital expenditures. As a
result, we rely on access to both short-term and long-term capital markets as a significant source of liquidity for capital requirements
not satisfied by cash flows from operations. Changes in the capital markets, our financial condition or the financial condition of our
lenders or investors could affect access to and cost of capital.
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•  Changes in the availability and cost of natural gas. To meet firm customer requirements, we must acquire sufficient gas supplies and
pipeline capacity to ensure delivery to our distribution system while also ensuring that our supply and capacity contracts allow us to
remain competitive. Natural gas is an unregulated commodity market subject to supply and demand and price volatility. Producers,
marketers and pipelines are subject to operating, regulatory and financial risks associated with exploring, drilling, producing, gathering,
marketing and transporting natural gas and have risks that increase our exposure to supply and price fluctuations. Since such risks may
affect the availability and cost of natural gas, they also may affect the competitive position of natural gas relative to other energy
sources.

 

 

•  Changes in weather conditions. Weather conditions and other natural phenomena can have a material impact on our earnings. Severe
weather conditions, including destructive weather patterns such as hurricanes, tornadoes and floods, can impact our customers, our
suppliers and the pipelines that deliver gas to our distribution system and our distribution and transmission assets. Weather conditions
directly influence the supply, demand, distribution and cost of natural gas.

 

 

•  Changes in and costs of compliance with laws and regulations. We are subject to extensive federal, state and local laws and regulations.
Environmental, safety, system integrity, tax and other laws and regulations, including those related to carbon regulation, may change.
Compliance with such laws and regulations could increase capital or operating costs, affect our reported earnings or cash flows,
increase our liabilities or change the way our business is conducted.

 

 •  Ability to retain and attract professional and technical employees. To provide quality service to our customers and meet regulatory
requirements, we are dependent on our ability to recruit, train, motivate and retain qualified employees.

 

 
•  Changes in accounting regulations and practices. We are subject to accounting regulations and practices issued periodically by

accounting standard-setting bodies. New accounting standards may be issued that could change the way we record revenues, expenses,
assets and liabilities, and could affect our reported earnings or increase our liabilities.

 

 •  Earnings from our equity method investments. We invest in companies that have risks that are inherent in their businesses, and these
risks may negatively affect our earnings from those companies.

 

 •  Changes in outstanding shares. The number of outstanding shares may fluctuate due to new issuances or repurchases under our
Common Stock Open Market Purchase Program.

 
21

Schedule WPD-6 - Gas (Part 54) 
Page 16 of 100



Document Contents

http://ofccolo.snl.com/Cache/c12363195.html[1/9/2013 10:20:18 AM]

Table of Contents

Other factors may be described elsewhere in this report. All of these factors are difficult to predict, and many of them are beyond our control.
For these reasons, you should not rely on these forward-looking statements when making investment decisions. When used in our documents or
oral presentations, the words “expect,” “believe,” “project,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “should,” “could,” “assume,” “estimate,” “forecast,” “future,”
“indicate,” “outlook,” “plan,” “predict,” “seek,” “target,” “would” and variations of such words and similar expressions are intended to identify
forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements are based on information available to us as of the date they are made, and we do not undertake any obligation to
update publicly any forward-looking statement either as a result of new information, future events or otherwise except as required by applicable
laws and regulations. Our reports on Form 10-K, Form 10-Q and Form 8-K and amendments to these reports are available at no cost on our
website at www.piedmontng.com as soon as reasonably practicable after the report is filed with or furnished to the SEC.

Executive Overview

Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc., which began operations in 1951, is an energy services company whose principal business is the
distribution of natural gas to over one million residential, commercial, industrial and power generation customers in portions of North Carolina,
South Carolina and Tennessee, including 51,800 customers served by municipalities who are our wholesale customers. We are invested in joint
venture, energy-related businesses, including unregulated retail natural gas marketing, and regulated interstate natural gas storage and intrastate
natural gas transportation.

In 1994, our predecessor, which was incorporated in 1950 under the same name, was merged into a newly formed North Carolina corporation
for the purpose of changing our state of incorporation to North Carolina.

In the Carolinas, our service area is comprised of numerous cities, towns and communities. We provide service to Anderson, Gaffney,
Greenville and Spartanburg in South Carolina and Charlotte, Salisbury, Greensboro, Winston-Salem, High Point, Burlington, Hickory, Indian Trail,
Spruce Pine, Reidsville, Fayetteville, New Bern, Wilmington, Tarboro, Elizabeth City, Rockingham and Goldsboro in North Carolina. In North
Carolina, we also provide wholesale natural gas service to the cities of Greenville, Rocky Mount and Wilson. In Tennessee, our service area is the
metropolitan area of Nashville, including wholesale natural gas service to the cities of Gallatin and Smyrna.

We have two reportable business segments, regulated utility and non-utility activities. The regulated utility segment is the largest segment of
our business with approximately 97% of our consolidated assets. Factors critical to the success of the regulated utility include operating a safe,
reliable natural gas distribution system and the ability to recover the costs and expenses of the business in rates charged to customers. For the year
ended October 31, 2011, 87% of our earnings before taxes came from our regulated utility segment. The non-utility activities segment consists of
our equity method investments in joint venture, energy-related businesses that are involved in unregulated retail natural gas marketing, and
regulated interstate natural gas storage and intrastate natural gas transportation. For the year ended October 31, 2011, 13% of our earnings before
taxes came from our non-utility segment, which consisted of 5% from regulated non-utility activities and 8% from unregulated non-utility
activities. For further information on equity method investments and business segments, see Note 12 and Note 14, respectively, to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Our utility operations are regulated by the North Carolina Utilities Commission (NCUC), the Public Service Commission of South Carolina
and the Tennessee Regulatory Authority (TRA) as to rates, service area, adequacy of service, safety standards, extensions and abandonment of
facilities, accounting and depreciation. The NCUC also regulates us as to the issuance of long-term debt and equity securities. We are also subject
to or affected by various federal regulations. These federal regulations include regulations that are particular to the natural gas industry, such as
regulations of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) that affect the purchase and sale of and the prices paid for the interstate
transportation and storage of natural gas, regulations of the U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT) that affect the design, construction,
operation, maintenance, integrity, safety and security of natural gas distribution and transmission systems, and regulations of the Environmental
Protection Agency relating to the environment. In addition, we are subject to numerous other regulations, such as those relating to employment and
benefit practices, which are generally applicable to companies doing business in the United States of America.

Our regulatory commissions approve rates and tariffs that are designed to give us the opportunity to generate revenues to cover our gas and
non-gas costs and to earn a fair rate of return on invested capital for our shareholders. Our ability to earn our authorized rates of return is based in
part on our ability to reduce or eliminate regulatory lag and also by improved rate designs that decouple the recovery of our approved margins from
customer usage patterns impacted by seasonal weather patterns and customer conservation.
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In North Carolina, a margin decoupling mechanism provides for the recovery of our approved margin from residential and commercial
customers on a year around basis independent of consumption patterns. The margin decoupling mechanism results in semi-annual rate adjustments
to refund any over-collection of margin or recover any under-collection of margin. We have weather normalization adjustment (WNA)
mechanisms in South Carolina and Tennessee that partially offset the impact of colder- or warmer-than-normal winter weather on bills rendered
during the months of November through March for residential and commercial customers. The WNA formula calculates the actual weather
variance from normal, using 30 years of history, which increases revenues when weather is warmer than normal and decreases revenues when
weather is colder than normal. The gas cost portion of our costs is recoverable through purchased gas adjustment (PGA) procedures and is not
affected by the margin decoupling mechanism or the WNA. For further information, see Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

We continually assess alternative rate structures and cost recovery mechanisms that are more appropriate to the changing energy economy.
We have been pursuing alternatives to the traditional utility rate design that provide for the collection of margin revenue based on volumetric
throughput with new rate designs and incentives that allow utilities to encourage energy efficiency and conservation. By decoupling the link
between energy consumption and margin revenues, our interests are aligned with our customers’ interests on conservation and energy efficiency.
In North Carolina, we have decoupled residential and commercial rates. In South Carolina, we operate under a rate stabilization mechanism that
achieves the objectives of margin decoupling for residential and commercial customers with a one year lag. For the twelve months ended
October 31, 2011, these and other rate designs stabilized our gas utility margin by providing fixed recovery of 70% of our utility margins,
including margin decoupling in North Carolina, facilities charges to our customers and fixed-rate contracts; semi-fixed recovery of 18% of our
utility margins, including the rate stabilization mechanism in South Carolina and WNA in South Carolina and
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Tennessee; and volumetric or periodic renegotiation of 12% of our utility margins. For the twelve months ended October 31, 2011, the margin
decoupling mechanism in North Carolina reduced margin by $7 million, and the WNA in South Carolina and Tennessee reduced margin by $4.9
million.

On September 2, 2011, we filed a general rate application with the TRA for an increase in rates and charges to all customers that would be
effective March 1, 2012. We also requested a modification of the cost allocation and rate designs underlying our existing rates, approval to
implement a school-based energy education program with appropriate cost recovery mechanisms, an amortization of certain regulatory assets and
deferred accounts, revised depreciation rates for plant and changes to the existing service regulations and tariffs. For further information, see Note
2 to the consolidated financial statements.

We have refined our strategic objectives to a customer-centered approach and what we believe is the inherent benefit of natural gas
compared to other types of energy. Our overall corporate focus is to expand our core natural gas and complementary energy-related businesses to
enhance shareholder value. This focus includes traditional growth in the core residential, commercial and industrial markets, growth in the power
generation market, supply diversity and complementary energy-related investments and natural gas end use technology. We want our customers to
choose us because of the value of natural gas and the quality of our service to them. We strive to achieve excellence in service to our customers
and in our business operations with every customer contact we make. We pursue business practices to promote a sustainable enterprise by
reducing our impact on the environment, developing strong communities in which we operate and fostering increased awareness and use of natural
gas. We support our employees with improved processes and technology to better serve our customers and to add value for our shareholders while
continuing to build on our healthy, high performance culture in order to recruit, retain and motivate our workforce.

To support these objectives, we are reorganizing our field customer services, sales and marketing, field operations and maintenance and
construction departments into functional organizations to provide a more focused and better managed approach to customer service and increase
customer loyalty and satisfaction while improving operational efficiencies. We have also implemented new centralized service scheduling work
processes and system enhancements to better serve our customers in a more timely and efficient fashion.

The safety of our system, the public and our employees is a critical component to our ongoing success as a company. We are subject to DOT
and state regulation of our pipeline and related facilities and have ongoing programs to inspect our system for corrosion and leaks. Given an
increased interest in pipeline safety and integrity in the wake of several serious pipeline incidents in the United States, we anticipate federal
legislative and regulatory enactments that will add further requirements to our pipeline safety and integrity programs. We met an August 2011
deadline to evaluate any risks to our distribution pipeline system (such as corrosion and leak detection) and created an action plan to address those
risks. We have transmission pipeline integrity programs where we execute standard procedures and programs for pipeline safety that include leak
detection surveys, periodic valve maintenance, periodic corrosion and atmospheric corrosion inspections, cathodic protection, in-line inspection
devices, hydrostatic and compressed air pressure testings of new facilities and other evaluation methods. It is likely that these programs will
increase in scope as a result of anticipated legislation and regulation. We will continue our efforts to educate the public about our pipeline system
in an effort to decrease third party excavation damage, which is the greatest cause of any pipeline damage on our system. We encourage focused
efforts to improve the safety of our industry as a whole.
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The safeguarding of our information technology infrastructure is important to our business. There is risk associated with the unauthorized
access of digital data with the intent to misappropriate information, corrupt data or cause operational disruptions. To protect confidential customer,
vendor, financial and employee information, we believe we have appropriate levels of security measures in place to secure our information
systems from cybersecurity attacks or breaches. We also have a comprehensive identity theft protection program to protect customer information,
as well as a cybersecurity insurance policy.

We continue our efforts to promote the benefits of natural gas. Promotion efforts are led by educating consumers on the benefits of natural
gas compared to other energy sources as well as advocating the benefits of natural gas to prospective customers in our communities. We continue
our efforts to promote the direct use of natural gas in more homes, businesses, industries and vehicles as we strongly believe that the expanded use
of clean, efficient, abundant and domestic natural gas with its relatively low emissions can help revitalize our economy, reduce both overall energy
consumption and greenhouse gas emissions and enhance our national energy security. We also promote and market the cost and environmental
benefits of natural gas to power generation customers in our market area. Price moderation and stability of natural gas continues, which has made
natural gas more economical than many other fuels.

We completed two pipeline expansion projects in fiscal year 2011 and one in December 2011 to provide long-term gas transportation service
to power generation customers in our market area. We have two pipeline expansion projects under construction to provide natural gas delivery
service to power generation facilities currently under construction in North Carolina with targeted in service dates of June 2012 and June 2013. In
addition to the environmental benefits of replacing a coal-fired power plant with a new natural gas-fired power plant, the construction of the
natural gas pipelines for these projects will also add to our natural gas infrastructure in the eastern part of North Carolina and enhance future
opportunities for economic growth and development. See the following discussion of our forecasted capital investment related to the construction
of the natural gas pipelines and compressor stations to serve these new power generation facilities in “Cash Flows from Investing Activities” in
Item 7 of this Form 10-K in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

We continue to see challenging economic conditions in our market area with continued high rates of unemployment, weakened housing
markets with high inventories of unsold homes, and slower new home construction. We took advantage of the growth opportunities that existed in
those markets and continue to focus on residential, commercial and industrial customer conversions to natural gas and power generation gas
delivery service opportunities. In fiscal 2011, our gross customers additions were 4% lower than 2010; however, our month-end customers billed
as well as the twelve-month average customers billed during fiscal year 2011 increased 1% over the respective prior year. As we seek to expand
the use of natural gas, we continue to emphasize natural gas as the fuel of choice for energy consumers because of the comfort, affordability and
efficiency of natural gas, as well as remind our customers of our reliability and safety as a company. We forecast gross customer addition growth
for fiscal 2012 of approximately 1%.
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We continue to work toward a business model that positions us for long-term success in a lower carbon energy economy with a focus on
future growth opportunities that support new clean energy technologies. We are seeking opportunities for regulatory innovation and strategic
alliances to advance our customers’ interests in energy conservation, efficiency and environmental stewardship. We are executing a plan to build
more compressed natural gas (CNG) fueling stations in our service area for use by our own vehicle fleet as well as third party use and the general
public. Currently, approximately 11% of our vehicle fleet uses CNG. We have five CNG fueling stations in use, and we plan to construct four
more. Within two years, we anticipate that up to 33% of our fleet will be capable of using CNG.

Our financial strength and flexibility is critical to our success as a company. We will continue our stewardship to maintain our financial
strength, which translates to continued access to capital markets. We continue to evaluate the strength of financial institutions with which we have
working relationships to ensure access to funds for operations and capital investments. In June 2011, we replaced $196.8 million of notes with a
6.25% stated interest rate with $200 million of notes with a weighted interest rate of 4%. In July 2011, we filed a shelf registration statement that
will allow for future issuances of debt or equity. Our capital plan includes maintaining a long-term debt-to-capitalization ratio within a range of
45% to 50%. We will continue to control our operating costs, implement new technologies and work with our state regulators to maintain fair rates
of return and balance the interests of our customers and shareholders. We also seek to maintain a strong balance sheet and investment-grade credit
ratings to support our operating and investment needs.

We invest in joint ventures to complement or supplement income from our regulated utility operations if an opportunity aligns with our
overall business strategies and allows us to leverage our core competencies. We analyze and evaluate potential projects with a major factor being
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projected rates of return commensurate with the risk of such projects. We participate in the governance of our ventures by having management
representatives on the governing boards. We monitor actual performance against expectations, and any decision to exit an existing joint venture
would be based on many factors, including performance results and continued alignment with our business strategies

Several new laws were enacted in 2010 for health care reform and the regulation of U.S. financial markets. We continue to follow the
progress of new regulations that are being issued and will be issued by various regulatory agencies. While we are not able to assess the full impact
of these laws until the implementing regulations have been adopted, based on the information available to us at this time, we do not expect these
laws to have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Also, the Tax Relief, Unemployment Insurance Reauthorization and Job Creation Act of 2010, enacted in December 2010, extended the 50%
“bonus depreciation” that expired December 31, 2009 and temporarily increased “bonus depreciation” for federal income tax purposes to 100% for
certain qualified investments. These provisions are effective for our fiscal year tax returns for 2010-2014. The Internal Revenue Service has issued
regulations that are intended to provide guidance in interpreting the law. Based on current capital projections and timelines, we are anticipating a
benefit through 2014 of $130 - 170 million. We anticipate that the bonus depreciation allowance will have a material favorable impact on our cash
flows in the near term by reducing cash needed to pay federal income taxes.
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Results of Operations

The following tables present our financial highlights for the years ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009.

Income Statement Components
 
               Percent Change  

In thousands except per share amounts   2011    2010    2009    
2011 vs.

2010   
2010 vs.

2009  
Operating Revenues   $1,433,905   $1,552,295   $1,638,116    (7.6)%   (5.2)% 
Cost of Gas    860,266    999,703    1,076,542    (13.9)%   (7.1)% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   

Margin    573,639    552,592    561,574    3.8%   (1.6)% 
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

Operations and Maintenance    225,351    219,829    208,105    2.5%   5.6% 
Depreciation    102,829    98,494    97,425    4.4%   1.1% 
General Taxes    38,380    33,909    34,590    13.2%   (2.0)% 
Utility Income Taxes    64,068    62,082    70,079    3.2%   (11.4)% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   

Total Operating Expenses    430,628    414,314    410,199    3.9%   1.0% 
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

Operating Income    143,011    138,278    151,375    3.4%   (8.7)% 
Other Income (Expense), net of tax    14,549    47,387    18,124    (69.3)%   161.5% 
Utility Interest Charges    43,992    43,711    46,675    0.6%   (6.4)% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   

Net Income   $ 113,568   $ 141,954   $ 122,824    (20.0)%   15.6% 
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

Average Shares of Common Stock:          
Basic    72,056    72,275    73,171    (0.3)%   (1.2)% 
Diluted    72,266    72,525    73,461    (0.4)%   (1.3)% 

Earnings per Share of Common Stock:          
Basic   $ 1.58   $ 1.96   $ 1.68    (19.4)%   16.7% 
Diluted   $ 1.57   $ 1.96   $ 1.67    (19.9)%   17.4% 

Gas Deliveries, Customers, Weather Statistics and Number of Employees
 
            Percent Change  

    2011   2010   2009   
2011 vs.

2010   
2010 vs.

2009  
Deliveries in Dekatherms (in thousands):       

Sales Volumes    104,740   105,583   110,379   (0.8)%   (4.3)% 
Transportation Volumes    175,021   147,032   106,495   19.0%   38.1% 

    
 

   
 

   
 

  

Throughput    279,761   252,615   216,874   10.8%   16.5% 
    

 

   

 

   

 

  

Secondary Market Volumes    48,835   46,823   46,057   4.3%   1.7% 
Customers Billed (at period end)    958,307   946,785   937,962   1.2%   0.9% 
Gross Customer Additions    10,522   10,975   12,608   (4.1)%   (13.0)% 
Degree Days       
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Actual    3,662   3,535   3,413   3.6%   3.6% 
Normal    3,318   3,321   3,324   (0.1)%   (0.1)% 

Percent colder than normal    10.4%   6.4%   2.7%   n/a    n/a  
Number of Employees (at period end)    1,782   1,788   1,821   (0.3)%   (1.8)% 
 

27

Table of Contents

Net Income

Net income decreased $28.4 million in 2011 compared with 2010 primarily due to the following changes which decreased net income:
 

 •  $49.7 million decrease due to gain on sale of interest in equity method investment in the prior year.
 

 •  $5.5 million increase in operations and maintenance expenses.
 

 •  $4.8 million decrease in income from equity method investments.
 

 •  $4.5 million increase in general taxes.
 

 •  $4.3 million increase in depreciation.
 

 •  $.6 million increase in non-operating expense.
 

 •  $.5 million increase in charitable contributions.

These changes were partially offset by the following changes, which increased net income:
 

 •  $21 million increase in margin (operating revenues less cost of gas).
 

 •  $19.6 million decrease in income taxes.
 

 •  $1.1 million increase in non-operating income.

Net income increased $19.1 million in 2010 compared with 2009 primarily due to the following changes which increased net income:
 

 •  $49.7 million gain on sale of interest in equity method investment.
 

 •  $3 million decrease in utility interest charges.
 

 •  $.9 million decrease in non-operating expense.
 

 •  $.7 million decrease in general taxes.
 

 •  $.6 million decrease in charitable contributions.
 

 •  $.6 million increase in non-operating income.

These changes were partially offset by the following changes, which decreased net income:
 

 •  $11.7 million increase in operations and maintenance expenses.
 

 •  $10 million increase in income taxes.
 

 •  $9 million decrease in margin.
 

 •  $4.6 million decrease in income from equity method investments.
 

 •  $1.1 million increase in depreciation.

Operating Revenues

Operating revenues in 2011 decreased $118.4 million compared with 2010 primarily due to the following decreases:
 

 •  $150.8 million of lower gas costs passed through to sales customers.
 

 
•  $1.1 million from decreased revenues under the margin decoupling mechanism. As discussed in “Financial Condition and Liquidity,”

the margin decoupling mechanism in North Carolina adjusts for variations in residential and commercial use per customer, including
those due to conservation and weather.
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These decreases were partially offset by the following increases:
 

 
•  $19.8 million from higher revenues in secondary market transactions due to increased activity and gas costs. Secondary market

transactions consist of off-system sales and capacity release arrangements and are part of our regulatory gas supply management
program with regulatory-approved sharing mechanisms between our utility customers and our shareholders.

 

 •  $5.8 million from an increase in volumes delivered to transportation customers.
 

 •  $3.9 million from increased revenues under the WNA in South Carolina and Tennessee.

Operating revenues in 2010 decreased $85.8 million compared with 2009 primarily due to the following decreases:
 

 •  $65.4 million of gas costs primarily from lower total gas costs passed through to sales customers.
 

 •  $11.9 million from decreased revenues under the margin decoupling mechanism.
 

 •  $7.6 million from decreased revenues under the WNA in South Carolina and Tennessee.

These decreases were partially offset by the following increases:
 

 •  $3.7 million from revenues in secondary market transactions due to increased activity.
 

 •  $1.2 million increase from volumes delivered to transportation customers.

Cost of Gas

Cost of gas in 2011 decreased $139.4 million compared with 2010 primarily due to the following decreases:
 

 •  $83.2 million of decreased costs due to approved gas cost mechanisms, primarily commodity gas cost true ups.
 

 •  $80.5 million of decreased commodity gas costs primarily due to lower gas costs passed through to sales customers.

These decreases were partially offset by the following increases:
 

 •  $16.5 million of increased commodity gas costs in secondary marketing transactions due to increased activity and higher average gas
costs.

 

 •  $9 million of increased demand charges primarily due to timing of asset manager agreement terms.

Cost of gas in 2010 decreased $76.8 million compared with 2009 primarily due to $131.1 million from lower priced gas costs passed through
to sales customers, partially offset by the following increases:
 

 •  $31.7 million of commodity gas costs from increased volume deliveries to sales customers.
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 •  $4.8 million from commodity gas costs in secondary market transactions due to increased activity.

In all three states, we are authorized to recover from customers all prudently incurred gas costs. Changes to cost of gas are based on the
amount recoverable under approved rate schedules. The net of any over- or under-recoveries of gas costs are reflected in a regulatory deferred
account and are added to or deducted from cost of gas and are included in “Amounts due from customers” or “Amounts due to customers” in the
consolidated balance sheets.

Margin

Our utility margin is defined as natural gas revenues less natural gas commodity purchases and fixed gas costs for transportation and storage
capacity. Margin, rather than revenues, is used by management to evaluate utility operations due to the passthrough of changes in wholesale
commodity gas costs, which accounted for 47% of revenues for the twelve months ended October 31, 2011, and transportation and storage costs,
which accounted for 9%.

In general rate proceedings, state regulatory commissions authorize us to recover a margin, which is the applicable billing rate less cost of
gas, on each unit of gas delivered. The commissions also authorize us to recover margin losses resulting from negotiating lower rates to industrial
customers when necessary to remain competitive. The ability to recover such negotiated margin reductions is subject to continuing regulatory
approvals.
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Our utility margin is also impacted by certain regulatory mechanisms as defined elsewhere in this document. These include the WNA in
Tennessee and South Carolina, the Natural Gas Rate Stabilization Act in South Carolina, secondary market activity in North Carolina and South
Carolina, the Tennessee Incentive Plan in Tennessee, the margin decoupling mechanism in North Carolina and negotiated loss treatment and the
recovery of uncollectible gas costs in all three jurisdictions. We retain 25% of secondary market margins generated through off-system sales and
capacity release activity in all jurisdictions, with 75% credited to customers through the incentive plans.

Margin increased $21 million in 2011 compared with 2010 primarily due to the following increases:
 

 •  $7.8 million from increases in volumes and services to industrial and power generation customers.
 

 •  $5.1 million from residential and commercial customers primarily due to growth in those markets.
 

 •  $4.8 million in net gas cost adjustments.
 

 •  $3.3 million from increased secondary market activity and margins.

Margin decreased $9 million in 2010 compared with 2009 primarily due to the following decreases:
 

 •  $6.6 million from net adjustments to gas costs, accounts payable and lost and unaccounted for gas.
 

 •  $1.1 million from decreased volatility in secondary market transactions.
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 •  $1 million from our residential and commercial markets primarily due to a $3 million negative impact of warmer weather in the non-
weather normalized months of April and October, partially offset by customer growth.

Operations and Maintenance Expenses

Operations and maintenance expenses increased $5.5 million in 2011 compared with 2010 primarily due to the following increases:
 

 •  $2.5 million in vehicle and transportation expenses.
 

 •  $2.3 million in other miscellaneous expenses primarily due to a recovery disallowance of some prior years’ franchise fees in one of our
jurisdictions and higher bank fees from increased activity and unused amounts of the revolving syndicated credit facility.

 

 •  $1.5 million in materials.

Operations and maintenance expenses increased $11.7 million in 2010 compared with 2009 primarily due to the following increases:
 

 •  $4.2 million in payroll expense primarily from increases in long-term incentive plan accruals priced as a higher current stock price and
merit wage increases for non-officer employees.

 

 •  $3.3 million in employee benefits expense due primarily to increases in pension expense from a lower discount rate used to determine
periodic benefit cost and group insurance expense from higher claims.

 

 •  $2.4 million in contract labor for contract billing services, telecom and activity related to a new corporate rebranding campaign.
 

 •  $.9 million in advertising and sales promotion related to a new corporate rebranding campaign.

Depreciation

Depreciation expense increased from $97.4 million to $102.8 million over the three-year period 2009 to 2011 primarily due to increases in
plant in service.

General Taxes

General taxes increased $4.5 million in 2011 compared with 2010 primarily due to the following increases:
 

 •  $2.5 million from the accrual and payment of a liability for sales tax on certain customer accounts that were not exempt from sales tax.
 

 •  $1.8 million in property taxes related to a larger property base and property value reassessments by taxing authorities.

General taxes decreased by an insignificant amount in 2010 compared with 2009.
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Other Income (Expense)

Other Income (Expense) is comprised of income from equity method investments, gain on sale of interest in equity method investment, non-
operating income, charitable contributions, non-operating expense and income taxes related to these items. Non-operating income includes non-
regulated merchandising and service work, home service warranty programs, subsidiary operations, interest income and other miscellaneous
income. Non-operating expense is comprised of other miscellaneous expenses.

The primary changes to Other Income (Expense) in 2011 compared with 2010 were in income from equity method investments, the gain on
the sale of half of our ownership interest in SouthStar Energy Services LLC (SouthStar) in 2010 and non-operating income discussed below. All
other changes were insignificant.

On January 1, 2010, we sold half of our 30% membership interest in SouthStar to the other member of the joint venture and retained a 15%
earnings and membership interest after the sale. The pre-tax gain on the sale was $49.7 million. The after-tax gain was $30.3 million, or $.42 per
diluted earnings per share, for 2010.

Income from equity method investments decreased $4.8 million in 2011 compared with 2010 primarily due to a decrease of $4.5 million in
earnings from SouthStar due to a full year of recording earnings at the lower 15% ownership interest and unfavorable changes in SouthStar’s
average customer usage due to warmer weather and retail pricing plan mix which were partially offset by decreases in operating expenses.

Non-operating income increased $1.1 million in 2011 compared with 2010 primarily due to increased revenues under our non-regulated
home service warranty program, interest earned on installment loans made to our natural gas customers under our third party financing program
and a state tax refund on behalf of a joint venture.

Income from equity method investments decreased $4.6 million in 2010 compared with 2009 due to a $4.5 million decrease in earnings from
SouthStar primarily due to the recording of earnings at the new 15% ownership interest as of January 1, 2010 and a change in the retail pricing mix
chosen by SouthStar customers with a decrease in the average number of customers, losses on weather derivatives and a decreased contribution
from storage and transportation asset management due to higher transportation and commodity prices, partially offset by increased average
customer usage due to colder weather, favorable changes in the lower of cost or market storage inventory adjustments and higher retail price
spreads.

Utility Interest Charges

Utility interest charges increased $.3 million in 2011 compared with 2010 primarily due to the following changes:
 

 •  $3.7 million increase in net interest expense due to a decrease in interest charged on amounts due from customers (receivable), which
earned a carrying charge, as those balances were lower in the current period.
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•  $1.4 million increase in interest expense due to a decrease in interest in the borrowed allowance for funds used during construction

(AFUDC), which is recorded as income, primarily due to the closing of approximately half of our construction expenditures to utility
plant in service in the first half of the current year as compared with the prior year.

 

 
•  $1.1 million increase in interest expense on short-term debt primarily due to average interest rates during the current period that were

44 basis points higher than the prior year period due to higher spreads under the new revolving syndicated credit facility that was put
into place in January 2011.

 

 •  $6.6 million decrease in interest on long-term debt primarily due to lower amounts of debt outstanding during the current period.

Utility interest charges decreased $3 million in 2010 compared with 2009 primarily due to the following changes:
 

 •  $9.1 million increase in net interest expense due to a decrease in interest charged on amounts due from customers (receivable), which
earned a carrying charge, as those balances were lower in the current period.

 

 •  $7.7 million decrease in interest expense due to an increase in the borrowed AFUDC, which is recorded as income, primarily due to
increased construction expenditures.

 

 •  $2.4 million decrease in interest expense on long-term debt primarily due to lower amounts of debt outstanding.
 

 •  $1.8 million decrease in interest expense on short-term debt primarily due to lower levels of borrowing in the current period combined
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with an average interest rate for the current period approximately 35 basis points lower than the prior period.

Financial Condition and Liquidity

To meet our capital and liquidity requirements, we rely on certain resources, including cash flows from operating activities, access to capital
markets, cash generated from our investments in joint ventures and short-term bank borrowings. Our capital market strategy has continued to
focus on maintaining a strong balance sheet, ensuring sufficient cash resources and daily liquidity, accessing capital markets at favorable times
when needed, managing critical business risks, and maintaining a balanced capital structure through the issuance of equity or long-term debt
securities or the repurchase of our equity securities.

We believe that the capacity of short-term credit available to us under our revolving syndicated credit facility and the issuance of debt and
equity securities, together with cash provided by operating activities, will continue to allow us to meet our needs for working capital, construction
expenditures, investments in joint ventures, anticipated debt redemptions, dividend payments, employee benefit plan contributions, common share
repurchases and other cash needs.

Short-Term Borrowings. On January 25, 2011, we replaced our existing $450 million five-year revolving syndicated credit facility with a new
$650 million three-year revolving syndicated credit facility. The new facility expires in January 2014 and has an option to expand up to $850
million. The three-year revolving syndicated credit facility has the same financial covenant as our previous syndicated credit facility and has
additional provisions regarding defaulting lenders and replacement of lenders. We pay an annual fee of $30,000 plus fifteen basis points for any
unused amount up to $650 million. During the three months ended October 31, 2011, short-term borrowing ranged from $165.5 million to $342.5
million, and interest rates ranged from 1.10% to 1.15%. During the twelve months ended October 31, 2011, short-term borrowings ranged from
$73.5 million to $426 million, and interest rates ranged from .51% to 1.17%.
 

33

Table of Contents

Our short-term borrowings, which consist only of the revolving syndicated credit facility as included in “Bank debt” in the consolidated
balance sheets, are vital in order to meet working capital needs, such as our seasonal requirements for gas supply, general corporate liquidity,
capital expenditures and approved investments. We rely on short-term borrowings along with long-term capital markets to provide a significant
source of liquidity to meet operating requirements that are not satisfied by internally generated cash flows. Currently, cash flows from operations
are not adequate to finance the full cost of planned capital expenditures, which are fundamental to support our system infrastructure and the growth
in our customer base. We believe that our revolving syndicated credit facility, along with our access to capital markets, will allow us to meet the
increased capital requirements anticipated to be spent over the next two years.

Highlights for our bank borrowings as of October 31, 2011 and for the quarter and year ended October 31, 2011 are presented below.

Bank Borrowings
 

In thousands     
End of period (October 31, 2011):   

Amount outstanding   $331,000 
Weighted average interest rate    1.15% 

During the period (August 1, 2011 - October 31, 2011):   
Average amount outstanding   $236,000 
Weighted average interest rate    1.14% 

Maximum amount outstanding during the month:   
August   $269,500 
September    288,500 
October    342,500 

During the year ended October 31, 2011:   
Average amount outstanding   $203,500 
Weighted average interest rate    .94% 
Maximum amount outstanding   $426,000 

The level of short-term bank borrowings can vary significantly due to changes in the wholesale cost of natural gas and the level of purchases
of natural gas supplies for storage to serve customer demand. We pay our suppliers for natural gas purchases before we collect our costs from
customers through their monthly bills. If wholesale gas prices increase, we may incur more short-term debt for natural gas inventory and other
operating costs since collections from customers could be slower and some customers may not be able to pay their gas bills on a timely basis.
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As of October 31, 2011, we had $10 million available for letters of credit under our three-year revolving syndicated credit facility, of which
$3.5 million were issued and outstanding. The letters of credit are used to guarantee claims from self-insurance under our general and automobile
liability policies. As of October 31, 2011, unused lines of credit available under our three-year revolving syndicated credit facility, including the
issuance of the letters of credit, totaled $315.5 million.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities. The natural gas business is seasonal in nature. Operating cash flows may fluctuate significantly during the
year and from year to year due to working capital changes within our utility and non-utility operations. The major factors that affect our working
capital are weather, natural gas purchases and prices, natural gas storage activity, collections from customers and deferred gas cost recoveries. We
rely on operating cash flows and short-term bank borrowings to meet seasonal working capital needs. During our first and second quarters, we
generally experience overall positive cash flows from the sale of flowing gas and gas withdrawal from storage and the collection of amounts billed
to customers during the November through March winter heating season. Cash requirements generally increase during the third and fourth quarters
due to increases in natural gas purchases injected into storage, seasonal construction activity and decreases in receipts from customers.

During the winter heating season, our accounts payable increase to reflect amounts due to our natural gas suppliers for commodity and
pipeline capacity. The cost of the natural gas can vary significantly from period to period due to changes in the price of natural gas, which is a
function of market fluctuations in the commodity cost of natural gas, along with our changing requirements for storage volumes. Differences
between natural gas costs that we have paid to suppliers and amounts that we have collected from customers are included in regulatory deferred
accounts and in amounts due to or from customers. These natural gas costs can cause cash flows to vary significantly from period to period along
with variations in the timing of collections from customers under our gas cost recovery mechanisms.

Cash flows from operations are impacted by weather, which affects gas purchases and sales. Warmer weather can lead to lower revenues
from fewer volumes of natural gas sold or transported. Colder weather can increase volumes sold to weather-sensitive customers, but may lead to
conservation by customers in order to reduce their heating bills. Warmer-than-normal weather can lead to reduced operating cash flows, thereby
increasing the need for short-term bank borrowings to meet current cash requirements.

Because of the weak economy, including continued high unemployment, we may incur additional bad debt expense as well as experience
increased customer conservation. We may incur more short-term debt to pay for gas supplies and other operating costs since collections from
customers could be slower and some customers may not be able to pay their bills. Regulatory margin stabilizing and cost recovery mechanisms,
such as those that allow us to recover the gas cost portion of bad debt expense, are expected to mitigate the impact these factors may have on our
results of operations.
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Net cash provided by operating activities was $311.2 million in 2011, $360.5 million in 2010 and $344.3 million in 2009. Net cash provided
by operating activities reflects a $28.4 million decrease in net income for 2011 compared with 2010, which included the gain on the sale of half our
interest in SouthStar as discussed in “Results of Operations” above in Item 7 of this Form 10-K in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations. The effect of changes in working capital on net cash provided by operating activities is described
below:
 

 

•  Trade accounts receivable and unbilled utility revenues increased $2.5 million in the current period primarily due to total throughput
which increased 27.1 million dekatherms as compared with the same prior period, largely from the transportation of gas for industrial
customers and for power generation along with an increase in unbilled volumes, slightly offset by amounts billed to customers
reflecting lower gas costs in 2011 as compared with 2010. Weather during the current period was 3.6% colder than the same prior
period. Volumes sold to residential and commercial customers increased .2 million dekatherms as compared with the same prior period.

 

 •  Net amounts due from customers decreased $26.3 million in the current period primarily due to the collection of deferred gas costs
through rates.

 

 •  Gas in storage decreased $10.6 million in the current period primarily due to a decrease in the weighted average cost of gas purchased
for injections as well as decreased volumes in storage in 2011 as compared with 2010.

 

 
•  Prepaid gas costs decreased $.8 million in the current period primarily due to lower average cost of gas in prepaid storage. Under some

gas supply contracts, prepaid gas costs incurred during the summer months represent purchases of gas that are not available for sale, and
therefore not recorded in inventory, until the start of the winter heating season.

 

 •  Trade accounts payable increased $1.6 million in the current period primarily due to gas purchases for storage to meet customer
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demand for the next winter heating season.

Our three state regulatory commissions approve rates that are designed to give us the opportunity to generate revenues to cover our gas costs,
fixed and variable non-gas costs and earn a fair return for our shareholders. We have a WNA mechanism in South Carolina and Tennessee that
partially offsets the impact of colder- or warmer-than-normal weather on bills rendered in November through March for residential and
commercial customers. The WNA in South Carolina and Tennessee generated credits to customers of $4.9 million in 2011, $8.8 million in 2010
and $1.2 million in 2009. In Tennessee, adjustments are made directly to individual customer bills. In South Carolina, the adjustments are
calculated at the individual customer level but are recorded in “Amounts due from customers” or “Amounts due to customers” in the consolidated
balance sheets for subsequent collection from or refund to all customers in the class. The margin decoupling mechanism in North Carolina provides
for the collection of our approved margin from residential and commercial customers independent of consumption patterns. The margin decoupling
mechanism reduced margin by $7 million in 2011 and $5.9 million in 2010 and increased margin by $6 million in 2009. Our gas costs are
recoverable through PGA procedures and are not affected by the WNA or the margin decoupling mechanism.

The financial condition of the natural gas marketers and pipelines that supply and deliver natural gas to our distribution system can increase
our exposure to supply and price fluctuations. We believe our risk exposure to the financial condition of the marketers and pipelines is not
significant based on our receipt of the products and services prior to payment and the availability of other marketers of natural gas to meet our firm
supply needs if necessary. We have regulatory commission approval in North Carolina, South Carolina and Tennessee that places tighter credit
requirements on the retail natural gas marketers that schedule gas for transportation service on our system.
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The regulated utility competes with other energy products, such as electricity and propane, in the residential and commercial customer
markets. The most significant product competition is with electricity for space heating, water heating and cooking. Numerous factors can influence
customer demand for natural gas, including price, value, availability, environmental attributes, reliability and energy efficiency. Increases in the
price of natural gas can negatively impact our competitive position by decreasing the price benefits of natural gas to the consumer. This can impact
our cash needs if customer growth slows, resulting in reduced capital expenditures, or if customers conserve, resulting in reduced gas purchases
and customer billings.

In the industrial market, many of our customers are capable of burning a fuel other than natural gas, with fuel oil being the most significant
competing energy alternative. Our ability to maintain industrial market share is largely dependent on price. The relationship between supply and
demand has the greatest impact on the price of natural gas. The price of oil depends upon a number of factors beyond our control, including the
relationship between worldwide supply and demand and the policies of foreign and domestic governments and organizations, as well as the value
of the US dollar versus other currencies. Our liquidity could be impacted, either positively or negatively, as a result of alternate fuel decisions made
by industrial customers.

In an effort to keep customer rates competitive and to maximize earnings, we continue to implement business process improvement and
operations and maintenance cost management programs to capture operational efficiencies while improving customer service and maintaining a
safe and reliable system.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities was $252.6 million in 2011, $128.6 million in 2010 and $129.6 million
in 2009. Net cash used in investing activities was primarily for utility construction expenditures. Gross utility construction expenditures were
$243.6 million in 2011, a 22% increase from the $199.1 million in 2010, primarily due to $103.6 million and $52.3 million, respectively, of
investments in plant to serve power generation customers. Gross utility construction expenditures were $129 million in 2009 with $2.6 million of
investments in plant to serve power generation customers.

We have a substantial capital expansion program for construction of transmission and distribution facilities, purchase of equipment and other
general improvements. This program primarily supports our system infrastructure and the growth in our customer base. Significant utility
construction expenditures are expected to meet long-term growth, including the power generation market, and are part of our long-range forecasts
that are prepared at least annually and typically cover a forecast period of five years. We are contractually obligated to expend capital as the work
is completed.

We anticipate making capital expenditures, including AFUDC, of $240 - 280 million and $80 - 90 million in our fiscal years 2012 and 2013,
respectively, to provide natural gas service in the power generation market. These expenditures are significantly higher than we have traditionally
expended. We intend to fund expenditures related to these projects in a manner that maintains our targeted capitalization ratio of 45-50% in long-
term debt and 50-55% in common equity. Additional detail for the anticipated capital expenditures follows.
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In millions   2012    2013    2014  
Utility capital expenditures   $300 - 320    $270 - 300    $200 - 250  
Power generation related capital expenditures    240 - 280     80 - 90     —    

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total forecasted capital expenditures   $540 - 600    $350 - 390    $200 - 250  
    

 

    

 

    

 

In October 2009, we reached an agreement with Progress Energy Carolinas to provide natural gas delivery service to a power generation
facility to be built at their Wayne County, North Carolina site. The agreement, approved by the NCUC in May 2010, calls for us to construct
approximately 38 miles of 20-inch transmission pipeline along with compression facilities to provide natural gas delivery service to the plant by
June 2012. We began construction in February 2010. Our investment in the pipeline and compression facilities is supported by a long-term service
agreement. To provide the additional delivery service, we have executed an agreement with Cardinal Pipeline Company, LLC (Cardinal) to expand
our firm capacity requirement by 149,000 dekatherms per day to serve this facility. This will require Cardinal to spend an estimated $48 million to
expand its system. As a 21.49% equity venture partner of Cardinal, we will invest an estimated $10.3 million in Cardinal’s system expansion.
Capital contributions related to this system expansion began in January 2011 and will continue on a periodic basis through September 2012. As of
October 31, 2011, our contributions to date related to this system expansion were $6.2 million. For further information regarding this agreement,
see Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

In April 2010, we reached another agreement with Progress Energy Carolinas to provide natural gas delivery service to a power generation
facility to be built at their existing Sutton site near Wilmington, North Carolina. The agreement, also approved by the NCUC in May 2010, calls
for us to construct approximately 130 miles of transmission pipeline along with compression facilities to provide natural gas delivery service to the
plant by June 2013. We began construction in May 2010. Our service to Progress Energy Carolinas is supported by a long-term service agreement.
We anticipate that a portion of the cost of this project will be included in our North Carolina utility rate base.

The Sutton facilities will also create cost effective expansion capacity that we will use to help serve the growing natural gas requirements of
our customers in the eastern part of North Carolina. At the present time with the timing and design scope of the Sutton facilities, there is no current
need to proceed with our previously announced Robeson liquefied natural gas storage project. The timing and design scope of the expansion of our
facilities in Robeson County will be determined as our system infrastructure and market supply growth requirements in North Carolina dictate.

During the first quarter of fiscal 2011, we placed into service natural gas pipeline and compression facilities to provide natural gas delivery
service to a Progress Energy Carolinas power generation facility located in Richmond County, North Carolina.

During the first quarter of fiscal 2011, we also placed into service natural gas pipeline facilities to provide natural gas delivery service to a
Duke Energy Carolinas power generation facility located in Rowan County, North Carolina. In a second agreement with Duke Energy Carolinas,
we placed into service in December 2011 natural gas pipeline facilities we constructed to provide natural gas delivery service to their Rockingham
County, North Carolina power generation facility.
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On January 1, 2010, we sold half of our 30% membership interest in SouthStar to Georgia Natural Gas Company (GNGC) and retained a
15% earnings and membership share in SouthStar after the sale. At closing, we received $57.5 million from GNGC. For further information
regarding the sale, see Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

In 2009, we contributed $.9 million to our Hardy Storage Company, LLC (Hardy Storage) joint venture as part of our equity contribution for
construction of the FERC regulated interstate storage facility. We made no contributions in 2010 and 2011 as Hardy Storage converted its
construction interim notes in March 2010 into long-term project-financed debt. For further information on Hardy Storage, see Note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities. Net cash used in financing activities was $57.5 million in 2011, $233.9 million in 2010 and $214.1 million
in 2009. Funds are primarily provided from bank borrowings and the issuance of common stock through dividend reinvestment and stock purchase
and employee stock purchase plans. We may sell common stock and long-term debt when market and other conditions favor such long-term
financing. Funds are primarily used to retire long-term debt, pay down outstanding short-term bank borrowings, repurchase common stock under
the common stock repurchase program and pay quarterly dividends on our common stock. As of October 31, 2011, our current assets were $286
million and our current liabilities were $534.1 million, primarily due to seasonal requirements as discussed above.

Outstanding short-term bank borrowings increased from $242 million as of October 31, 2010 to $331 million as of October 31, 2011
primarily due to higher capital expenditures and long-term debt maturities. Over the three-year period from 2009 to 2011, our short-term
borrowings have included the replacement of our five-year revolving syndicated credit facility with our current three-year revolving syndicated

Schedule WPD-6 - Gas (Part 54) 
Page 28 of 100



Document Contents

http://ofccolo.snl.com/Cache/c12363195.html[1/9/2013 10:20:18 AM]

credit facility and a syndicated seasonal credit facility in existence from December 3, 2008 through March 31, 2009. For further information on
bank borrowings, see the previous discussion of “Short-Term Borrowings” in “Financial Condition and Liquidity” in Item 7 of this Form 10-K in
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

We retired our $60 million 6.55% medium-term notes, $60 million 7.8% medium-term notes and $30 million 7.35% medium-term notes in
September 2011, September 2010 and September 2009, respectively, as they became due. On June 1, 2011, we redeemed all of the 6.25% insured
quarterly notes with an aggregate principal balance of $196.8 million with short-term bank borrowings under the revolving syndicated credit
facility. On June 6, 2011, we issued $40 million of unsecured senior notes maturing in 2016 at an interest rate of 2.92% and $160 million of
unsecured senior notes maturing in 2021 at an interest rate of 4.24%. We used the proceeds from the sale of the senior notes to reduce our short-
term borrowings as well as for other general corporate purposes and working capital needs. The replacement of this higher rate debt with lower
rate debt will provide annual interest savings of $4.3 million.

On July 7, 2011, we filed with the SEC a combined debt and equity shelf registration statement that became effective on the same date.
Unless otherwise specified at the time such securities are offered for sale, the net proceeds from the sale of the securities will be used for general
corporate purposes, including capital expenditures, additions to working capital and advances for or investments in our subsidiaries, and for
repurchases of shares of our common stock. Pending such use, we may temporarily invest any net proceeds that are not applied to the purposes
mentioned above in investment grade securities.
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We plan to issue approximately $300 million of long-term debt in our fiscal 2012 third quarter for general corporate purposes, including the
funding of capital expenditures to serve new power generation projects. We continually monitor customer growth trends and opportunities in our
markets along with the economic recovery of our service area for the timing of any infrastructure investments that would require the need for
additional long-term debt.

From time to time, we have repurchased shares of common stock under our Common Stock Open Market Purchase Program and our ASR
program as described in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements. During 2011, we repurchased and retired .8 million shares for $23 million
under our Common Stock Open Market Purchase Program, leaving a balance of 3,710,074 shares available for repurchase under the program.
During 2010 and 2009, we repurchased 1.8 million shares and .7 million shares for $47.3 million and $17.9 million, respectively. We anticipate
repurchasing .8 million shares of common stock through an ASR agreement in the first quarter of our fiscal year 2012 with no permanent reduction
in shares outstanding for fiscal year 2012.

During 2011, we issued $20.2 million of common stock through dividend reinvestment and stock purchase and employee stock purchase
plans. During 2010 and 2009, we issued $19.1 million and $14.4 million, respectively, through these plans.

We have paid quarterly dividends on our common stock since 1956. We increased our common stock dividend on an annualized basis by
$.04 per share in 2011, 2010 and 2009. Dividends of $82.9 million, $80.3 million and $78.4 million for 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, were
paid on common stock. Provisions contained in certain note agreements under which long-term debt was issued restrict the amount of cash
dividends that may be paid. As of October 31, 2011, our retained earnings were not restricted. On December 16, 2011, the Board of Directors
declared a quarterly dividend on common stock of $.29 per share, payable January 13, 2012 to shareholders of record at the close of business on
December 27, 2011. For further information, see Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Our long-term targeted capitalization ratio is 45-50% in long-term debt and 50-55% in common equity. As of October 31, 2011, our
capitalization, including current maturities of long-term debt, if any, consisted of 40% in long-term debt and 60% in common equity.

The components of our total debt outstanding (short-term and long-term) to our total capitalization as of October 31, 2011 and 2010 are
summarized in the table below.
 

   October 31   October 31  
In thousands   2011    Percentage  2010    Percentage 
Short-term debt   $ 331,000    16 %  $ 242,000    12 % 
Current portion of long-term debt    —       —  %   60,000    3 % 
Long-term debt    675,000    34 %   671,922    35 % 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

Total debt    1,006,000    50 %   973,922    50 % 
Common stockholders’ equity    996,923    50 %   964,941    50 % 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

Total capitalization (including short-term debt)   $2,002,923    100 %  $1,938,863    100 % 
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Credit ratings impact our ability to obtain short-term and long-term financing and the cost of such financings. We believe our credit ratings
will allow us to continue to have access to the capital markets, as and when needed, at a reasonable cost of funds. In determining our credit ratings,
the rating agencies consider various factors. The more significant quantitative factors include:
 

 •  Ratio of total debt to total capitalization, including balance sheet leverage,
 

 •  Ratio of net cash flows to capital expenditures,
 

 •  Funds from operations interest coverage,
 

 •  Ratio of funds from operations to average total debt,
 

 •  Pension liabilities and funding status, and
 

 •  Pre-tax interest coverage.

Qualitative factors include, among other things:
 

 •  Stability of regulation in the jurisdictions in which we operate,
 

 •  Consistency of our earnings over time,
 

 •  Risks and controls inherent in the distribution of natural gas,
 

 •  Predictability of cash flows,
 

 •  Quality of business strategy and management,
 

 •  Corporate governance guidelines and practices,
 

 •  Industry position, and
 

 •  Contingencies.

As of October 31, 2011, all of our long-term debt was unsecured. Our long-term debt is rated “A” by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services
and “A3” by Moody’s Investors Service. Currently, with respect to our long-term debt, the credit agencies maintain their stable outlook. Credit
ratings and outlooks are opinions of the rating agency and are subject to their ongoing review. A significant decline in our operating performance,
capital structure, or a significant reduction in our liquidity could trigger a negative change in our ratings outlook or even a reduction in our credit
ratings by our rating agencies. This would mean more limited access to the private and public credit markets and an increase in the costs of such
borrowings. There is no guarantee that a rating will remain in effect for any given period of time or that a rating will not be lowered or withdrawn
by a rating agency if, in its judgment, circumstances warrant a change.

We are subject to default provisions related to our long-term debt and short-term borrowings. Failure to satisfy any of the default provisions
may result in total outstanding issues of debt becoming due. There are cross-default provisions in all of our debt agreements. As of October 31,
2011, there has been no event of default giving rise to acceleration of our debt.

The default provisions of some or all of our senior debt include:
 

 •  Failure to make principal or interest payments,
 

 •  Bankruptcy, liquidation or insolvency,
 

 •  Final judgment against us in excess of $1 million that after 60 days is not discharged, satisfied or stayed pending appeal,
 

 •  Specified events under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974,
 

 •  Change in control, and
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 •  Failure to observe or perform covenants, including:
 

 •  Interest coverage of at least 1.75 times. Interest coverage was 5.78 times as of October 31, 2011;
 

 •  Funded debt cannot exceed 70% of total capitalization. Funded debt was 51% of total capitalization as of October 31,
2011;
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 •  Funded debt of all subsidiaries in the aggregate cannot exceed 15% of total capitalization. There is no funded debt of our
subsidiaries as of October 31, 2011;

 

 •  Restrictions on permitted liens;
 

 •  Restrictions on paying dividends, on or repurchasing our stock or making investments in subsidiaries; and
 

 •  Restrictions on burdensome agreements.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments

We have incurred various contractual obligations and commitments in the normal course of business. As of October 31, 2011, our estimated
recorded and unrecorded contractual obligations are as follows.
 
    Payments Due by Period  

In thousands   
Less than

1 year    
1-3

Years    
4-5

Years    
After

5 Years    Total  
Recorded contractual obligations:           
Long-term debt (1)   $ —      $100,000   $75,000   $500,000   $ 675,000 
Short-term debt (2)    331,000    —       —       —       331,000 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $331,000   $100,000   $75,000   $500,000   $1,006,000 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 

(1) See Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
(2) See Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
 

In thousands   
Less than

1 year    
1-3

Years    
4-5

Years    
After

5 Years    Total  
Unrecorded contractual obligations and commitments: (1)           
Pipeline and storage capacity (2)   $151,456   $254,299   $112,774   $281,147   $ 799,676 
Gas supply (3)    6,974    11    —       —       6,985 
Interest on long-term debt (4)    40,181    113,198    69,423    289,479    512,281 
Telecommunications and information technology (5)    11,055    14,921    —       —       25,976 
Qualified and nonqualified pension plan funding (6)    1,052    19,140    6,731    —       26,923 
Postretirement benefits plan funding (6)    1,600    4,000    1,300    —       6,900 
Operating leases (7)    3,560    11,775    7,291    31,853    54,479 
Other purchase obligations (8)    5,912    —       —       —       5,912 
Letters of credit (9)    3,459    —       —       —       3,459 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $225,249   $417,344   $197,519   $602,479   $1,442,591 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 

(1) In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), these items are not reflected in our consolidated balance sheets.
(2) Recoverable through PGA procedures.
(3) Reservation fees are recoverable through PGA procedures.
(4) See Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
(5) Consists primarily of maintenance fees for hardware and software applications, usage fees, local and long-distance data costs, frame relay,

and cell phone and pager usage fees.
(6) Estimated funding beyond five years is not available. See Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
(7) See Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.
(8) Consists primarily of pipeline products, vehicles, contractors and merchandise.
(9) See Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Off-balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements other than letters of credit and operating leases. The letters of credit and operating leases are
discussed in Note 5 and Note 8, respectively, to the consolidated financial statements and are reflected in the table above.
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Critical Accounting Estimates

We prepare the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. We make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the periods reported. Actual results may differ significantly from these estimates and
assumptions. We base our estimates on historical experience, where applicable, and other relevant factors that we believe are reasonable under the
circumstances. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate estimates and assumptions and make adjustments in subsequent periods to reflect more current
information if we determine that modifications in assumptions and estimates are warranted.

Management considers an accounting estimate to be critical if it requires assumptions to be made that were uncertain at the time the estimate
was made and changes in the estimate or a different estimate that could have been used would have had a material impact on our financial
condition or results of operations. We consider regulatory accounting, revenue recognition, and pension and postretirement benefits to be our
critical accounting estimates. Management is responsible for the selection of these critical accounting estimates. Management has discussed these
critical accounting estimates presented below with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

Regulatory Accounting. Our regulated utility segment is subject to regulation by certain state and federal authorities. Our accounting policies
conform to the accounting regulations required by rate regulated operations and are in accordance with accounting requirements and ratemaking
practices prescribed by the regulatory authorities. The application of these accounting policies allows us to defer expenses and revenues on the
balance sheet as regulatory assets and liabilities when those expenses and revenues will be allowed in the ratemaking process in a period different
from the period in which they would have been reflected in the income statement by an unregulated company. We then recognize these deferred
regulatory assets and liabilities through the income statement in the period in which the same amounts are reflected in rates. If we, for any reason,
cease to meet the criteria for application of regulatory accounting treatment for all or part of our operations, we would eliminate from the balance
sheet the regulatory assets and liabilities related to those portions ceasing to meet such criteria and include them in the income statement for the
period in which the discontinuance of regulatory accounting treatment occurs. Such an event could have a material effect on our results of
operations in the period this action was recorded.

Management continually assesses whether the regulatory assets are probable of future recovery by considering factors such as applicable
regulatory environment changes, historical regulatory treatment of similar costs in our jurisdictions, recent rate orders to other regulated entities
and the status of any pending or potential deregulation legislation. Based on our assessment that reflects the current political and regulatory climate
at the state and federal levels, we believe that all of our regulatory assets are recoverable in current rates or future rate proceedings. However, this
assessment is subject to change in the future.
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Regulatory assets as of October 31, 2011 and 2010 totaled $200.1 million and $197.8 million, respectively. Regulatory liabilities as of
October 31, 2011 and 2010 totaled $467 million and $439.1 million, respectively. The detail of these regulatory assets and liabilities is presented in
“Rate-Regulated Basis of Accounting” in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition. Utility sales and transportation revenues are based on rates approved by state regulatory commissions. Base rates charged to
customers may not be changed without formal approval by the regulatory commission in that jurisdiction; however, the wholesale cost of gas
component of rates may be adjusted periodically under PGA procedures. In South Carolina and Tennessee, we have WNA mechanisms that are
designed to protect a portion of our revenues against warmer-than-normal weather as deviations from normal weather can affect our financial
performance and liquidity. The WNA also serves to offset the impact of colder-than-normal weather by reducing the amounts we can charge our
customers. In North Carolina, a margin decoupling mechanism provides for the recovery of our approved margin from residential and commercial
customers independent of consumption patterns. The margin earned monthly under the margin decoupling mechanism results in semi-annual rate
adjustments to refund any over-collection or recover any under-collection. The gas cost portion of our costs is recoverable through PGA
procedures and is not affected by the WNA or the margin decoupling mechanism. Without the WNA and margin decoupling mechanisms, our
operating revenues in 2011 and 2010 would have been higher by $11.9 million and $14.7 million, respectively, and lower by $4.8 million in 2009.

Revenues are recognized monthly on the accrual basis, which includes estimated amounts for gas delivered to customers but not yet billed
under the cycle-billing method from the last meter reading date to month end. Meters are read throughout the month based on an approximate 30-
day usage cycle; therefore, at any point in time, volumes are delivered to customers that have not been metered and billed. The unbilled revenue
estimate reflects factors requiring judgment related to estimated usage by customer class, customer mix, changes in weather during the period and
the impact of the WNA or margin decoupling mechanism, as applicable. Secondary market revenues are recognized when the physical sales are
delivered based on contract or market prices.

Pension and Postretirement Benefits. We have a traditional defined benefit pension plan (qualified pension plan) covering eligible employees. We
also provide certain other postretirement health care and life insurance benefits to eligible employees. For further information and our reported
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costs of providing these benefits, see Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements. The costs of providing these benefits are impacted by
numerous factors, including the provisions of the plans, changing employee demographics and various actuarial calculations, assumptions and
accounting mechanisms. Because of the complexity of these calculations, the long-term nature of these obligations and the importance of the
assumptions used, our estimate of these costs is a critical accounting estimate.

Several statistical and other factors, which attempt to anticipate future events, are used in calculating the expenses and liabilities related to the
plans. These factors include assumptions about the discount rate used in determining future benefit obligations, projected health care cost trend
rates, expected long-term return on plan assets and rate of future compensation increases, within certain guidelines. In addition, we also use
subjective factors such as withdrawal and mortality rates to estimate projected benefit obligations. The actuarial assumptions used may differ
materially from actual results due to changing market and economic conditions, higher or
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lower withdrawal rates or longer or shorter life spans of participants. These differences may result in a significant impact on the amount of pension
expense or other postretirement benefit costs recorded in future periods, and we cannot predict with certainty what these factors will be in the
future.

The discount rate has been separately determined for each plan by projecting the plan’s cash flows and developing a zero-coupon spot rate
yield curve using non-arbitrage pricing and Moody’s Investors Service’s AA or better-rated non-callable bonds. Based on this approach, the
weighted average discount rate used in the measurement of the benefit obligation for the qualified pension plan changed from 5.47% in 2010 to
4.67% in 2011. For the nonqualified pension plans, the weighted average discount rate used in the measurement of the benefit obligation changed
from 4.37% in 2010 to 4.10% in 2011. Similarly, based on this approach, the weighted average discount rate for postretirement benefits changed
from 4.85% in 2010 to 4.36% in 2011. The lower discount rates discussed above reflect the lower yields found in the AA corporate bond market
where the bond price has increased. Based on our review of actual cost trend rates and projected future trends in establishing health care cost trend
rates, the initial health care cost trend rate was assumed to be 7.80% in 2011 declining gradually to 5% by 2027.

In determining our expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, we review past long-term performance, asset allocations and long-term
inflation assumptions. We target our asset allocations for qualified pension plan assets and other postretirement benefit assets to be approximately
50% equity securities and 50% fixed income securities. To the extent that the actual rate of return on assets realized during the fiscal year is greater
or less than the assumed rate, that year’s qualified pension plan and postretirement benefits plan costs are not affected; instead, this gain or loss
reduces or increases the future costs of the plans over the average remaining service period for active employees. The expected long-term rate of
return on plan assets was 8% in 2009, 2010 and 2011. Based on a fairly constant inflation trend, our age-related assumed rate of increase in future
compensation levels was 3.92% in 2009, decreasing to 3.87% in 2010 and further decreasing to 3.78% in 2011 due to changes in the demographics
of the participants.

Our market-related value of plan assets represents the fair market value of the plan’s assets as adjusted by the portion of the prior five years’
asset gains and losses that has not yet been recognized. The use of this calculation delays the impact of current market fluctuations on benefit costs
for the fiscal year.

During 2011, we recorded cost of $2.3 million related to our qualified pension plan and postretirement benefits plan. We estimate 2012
expenses for these two plans to be in the range of $5 to $6 million representing an increase of $3 to $4 million over 2011. These estimates reflect
the discount rates and assumed rate of return on the plan assets discussed above for each plan.

The following reflects the sensitivity of pension cost to changes in certain actuarial assumptions for our qualified pension plan, assuming that
the other components of the calculation are constant.
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Actuarial Assumption   
Change in

Assumption  
Impact on 2011

Benefit Cost    
Impact on Projected
Benefit Obligation  

      
Increase (Decrease)

In thousands  
Discount rate    (.25)%  $ 515   $ 5,973 
Rate of return on plan assets    (.25)%   644    N/A  
Rate of increase in compensation    .25%   560    3,162 
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The following reflects the sensitivity of postretirement benefit cost to changes in certain actuarial assumptions, assuming that the other
components of the calculation are constant.
 

Actuarial Assumption   
Change in

Assumption  

Impact on 2011
Postretirement
Benefit Cost    

Impact on Accumulated
Postretirement Benefit

Obligation  

       
Increase (Decrease)

In thousands  
Discount rate    (.25)%  $ 13   $ 796 
Rate of return on plan assets    (.25)%   52    N/A  
Health care cost trend rate    .25%   9    177 

We utilize accounting methods consistently applied that are allowed under GAAP which reduce the volatility of reported pension costs.
Differences between actuarial assumptions and actual plan results are deferred and amortized into cost when the accumulated differences exceed
10% of the greater of the projected benefit obligation or the market-related value of the plan assets. If necessary, the excess is amortized over the
average remaining service period of active employees.

Gas Supply and Regulatory Proceedings

The source of our gas supply that we distribute to our customers comes primarily from the Gulf Coast production region where it is
purchased primarily from major and independent producers and marketers. As part of our long-term plan to diversify our reliance away from the
Gulf Coast region, we have contracted for firm, long-term market area storage service in West Virginia from Hardy Storage, a venture in which we
have a 50% equity interest, which is more fully discussed in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements. We have also contracted for firm,
long-term transportation contract service that provides access to Canadian and Rocky Mountain gas supplies via the Chicago hub, primarily to
serve our Tennessee markets.

Natural gas demand is continuing to grow in our service area, particularly to provide natural gas delivery service to existing and future power
generation facilities as discussed in the preceding section of “Cash Flows from Investing Activities” in Item 7 of this Form 10-K in Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. For further information on our equity venture with Cardinal to expand
our firm capacity requirement in order to serve a power generation facility in Wayne County, North Carolina, see Note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Secondary market transactions permit us to market gas supplies and transportation services by contract with wholesale or off-system
customers. These sales contribute smaller per-unit margins to earnings; however, the program allows us to act as a wholesale marketer of natural
gas and transportation capacity in order to generate operating margin from sources not restricted by the capacity of our retail distribution system.
For further information on secondary market transactions, see Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

We continue to work with our regulatory commissions to earn a fair rate of return for our shareholders and provide safe, reliable natural gas
distribution service to our customers. For further information about regulatory proceedings and other regulatory information, see Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Equity Method Investments

For information about our equity method investments, see Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

Environmental Matters

We have developed an environmental self-assessment plan to assess our facilities and program areas for compliance with federal, state and
local environmental regulations and to correct any deficiencies identified. As a member of the North Carolina MGP Initiative Group, we, along
with other responsible parties, work directly with the North Carolina Department of Environment and Natural Resources to set priorities for
manufactured gas plant (MGP) site remediation. For additional information on environmental matters, see Note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Accounting Guidance

For further information regarding recently issued accounting guidance, see Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

In early 2010, the SEC expressed its commitment to the development of a single set of high quality globally accepted accounting standards
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and directed its staff to execute a work plan addressing specific areas of concern regarding the potential incorporation of IFRS for the U.S. In
October 2010, the SEC staff issued its first public progress report on the work plan. Additionally, in December 2010, the SEC chairman publicly
stated that companies would be allowed a minimum of four years to implement IFRS if it is mandated. In May 2011, an SEC Staff Paper was
issued outlining a possible endorsement approach for incorporation of IFRS into the U.S. financial reporting system if the SEC were to decide that
incorporation of IFRS is in the best interest of U.S. investors. Under this possible framework, IFRS would be incorporated into U.S. GAAP during
a transition period of five to seven years with the Financial Accounting Standards Board remaining as the U.S. accounting standard setter.

In November 2011, the SEC released two more Staff Papers as part of their work plan. The first paper was the SEC Staff’s observations
regarding the application of IFRS in practice based on an analysis of 183 companies across 36 industries. The Staff found that company financial
statements generally appeared to comply with IFRS requirements. Two observations made were: (1) Companies did not always provide relevant
accounting policy disclosures or there was not
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sufficient detail or clarity in the accounting policy disclosures; and (2) Diversity in the application of IFRS made comparability challenging with
the diversity attributed to be standard driven where options were permitted by IFRS or there was an absence of IFRS guidance or just
noncompliance with IFRS. The second paper provided an assessment of a comparison of U.S. GAAP and IFRS with an inventorying of areas in
which IFRS provides less or no guidance than U.S. GAAP. The fundamental differences noted were that IFRS contains broad principles to account
for transactions across industries with limited specific guidance and stated exceptions and that fundamental differences exist between conceptual
frameworks, including the level of authority and the definition and recognition of assets and liabilities. The Staff Paper provided a broad
comparison of the requirements of both accounting standards, highlighting notable differences, but did not provide an analysis of the impact of
those differences on the quality of IFRS.

Although the SEC was expected to vote by the end of 2011 on whether to require the use of IFRS and by what method, they have further
delayed their decision to 2012 in order to complete a comprehensive work plan.

In late 2010 and early 2011, we completed a preliminary assessment of IFRS to understand the key accounting and reporting differences
compared to U.S. GAAP and to assess potential organizational, process and system impacts that would be required. The accounting differences
between U.S. GAAP and IFRS are complex and significant in many areas, and conversion to IFRS would have broad impacts to us. In addition to
financial statement and disclosure changes, converting to IFRS would involve changes to processes and controls, regulatory and management
reporting, financial reporting systems and other areas of the company. As a part of the IFRS assessment project, a preliminary conversion roadmap
was created for reporting IFRS. This IFRS conversion roadmap and our strategy for addressing a potential mandate of IFRS will be re-assessed
when the SEC makes its final determination on the use of IFRS.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to various forms of market risk, including the credit risk of our suppliers and our customers, interest rate risk, commodity
price risk and weather risk. We seek to identify, assess, monitor and manage all of these risks in accordance with defined policies and procedures
under an Enterprise Risk Management program and with the direction of the Energy Price Risk Management Committee. Risk management is
guided by senior management with Board of Directors’ oversight, and senior management takes an active role in the development of policies and
procedures.

We hold all financial instruments discussed below for purposes other than trading.

Credit Risk

We enter into contracts with third parties to buy and sell natural gas. Our policy requires counterparties to have an investment-grade credit
rating at the time of the contract. In situations where counterparties do not have investment grade credit ratings, our policy requires credit
enhancements that include letters of credit or parental guaranties. In either circumstance, the policy specifies limits on the contract amount and
duration based on the counterparty’s credit rating and/or credit support. In order to minimize our exposure, we continually re-evaluate third-party
creditworthiness and market conditions and modify our requirements accordingly.
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We also enter into contracts with third parties to manage some of our supply and capacity assets for the purpose of maximizing their value.
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These arrangements include a counterparty credit evaluation according to our policy described above prior to contract execution and typically have
durations of one year or less. In the event that a party is unable to perform under these arrangements, we have exposure to satisfy our underlying
supply or demand contractual obligations that were incurred while under the management of this third party.

We have mitigated our exposure to the risk of non-payment of utility bills by our customers. In North Carolina and South Carolina, gas costs
related to uncollectible accounts are recovered through PGA procedures. In Tennessee, the gas cost portion of net write-offs for a fiscal year that
exceed the gas cost portion included in base rates is recovered through PGA procedures. To manage the non-gas cost customer credit risk, we
evaluate credit quality and payment history and may require cash deposits from our high risk customers that do not satisfy our predetermined credit
standards until a satisfactory payment history has been established. Significant increases in the price of natural gas can also slow our collection
efforts as customers experience increased difficulty in paying their gas bills, leading to higher than normal accounts receivable.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to interest rate risk as a result of changes in interest rates on short-term debt. As of October 31, 2011, all of our long-term
debt was issued at fixed rates, and therefore not subject to interest rate risk.

We have short-term borrowing arrangements to provide working capital and general corporate liquidity. The level of borrowings under such
arrangements varies from period to period depending upon many factors, including the cost of wholesale natural gas and our gas supply hedging
programs, our investments in capital projects, the level and expense of our storage inventory and the collection of receivables. Future short-term
interest expense and payments will be impacted by both short-term interest rates and borrowing levels.

As of October 31, 2011, we had $331 million of short-term debt outstanding under our syndicated revolving credit facility at an interest rate
of 1.15%. The carrying amount of our short-term debt approximates fair value. A change of 100 basis points in the underlying average interest rate
for our short-term debt would have caused a change in interest expense of approximately $2 million during 2011.

As of October 31, 2011, information about our long-term debt is presented below.
 
                        Fair  Value as

of 
October 31,

2011  

   Expected Maturity Date      

In millions   2012   2013   2014   2015   2016   Thereafter  Total   
Fixed Rate Long-term Debt   $—     $—     $100  $—     $ 40  $ 535.0  $675.0  $ 831.3 
Average Interest Rate    —  %   —  %   5%   —  %   2.92%   6.38%   5.97%  
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Commodity Price Risk

We have mitigated the cash flow risk resulting from commodity purchase contracts under our regulatory gas cost recovery mechanisms that
permit the recovery of these costs in a timely manner. As such, we face regulatory recovery risk associated with these costs. With regulatory
commission approval, we revise rates periodically without formal rate proceedings to reflect changes in the wholesale cost of gas, including costs
associated with our hedging programs under the recovery mechanism allowed by each of our state regulators. Under our PGA procedures,
differences between gas costs incurred and gas costs billed to customers are deferred and any under-recoveries are included in “Amounts due from
customers” or any over-recoveries are included in “Amounts due to customers” in our consolidated balance sheets for collection or refund over
subsequent periods. When we have “Amounts due from customers,” we earn a carrying charge that mitigates any incremental short-term
borrowing costs. When we have “Amounts due to customers,” we incur a carrying charge that we must refund to our customers.

We manage our gas supply costs through a portfolio of short- and long-term procurement and storage contracts with various suppliers. We
actively manage our supply portfolio to balance sales and delivery obligations. We inject natural gas into storage during the summer months and
withdraw the gas during the winter heating season. In the normal course of business, we utilize New York Mercantile Exchange (NYMEX)
exchange traded instruments and have used over-the-counter instruments of various durations for the forward purchase of a portion of our natural
gas requirements, subject to regulatory review and approval.

We purchase firm gas from a diverse portfolio of suppliers at liquid exchange points. For term suppliers whose performance is greater than
one month, we evaluate and monitor their creditworthiness and maintain the ability to require additional financial assurances, including deposits,
letters of credit or surety bonds, in case a supplier defaults. Since most of our commodity supply contracts are at market index prices tied to liquid
exchange points and with our significant storage flexibility, we believe that it is unlikely that a supplier default would have a material effect on our
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Our gas purchasing practices are subject to regulatory reviews in all three states in which we operate. We are responsible for following
competitive and reasonable practices in purchasing gas for our customers. Costs have never been disallowed on the basis of prudence in any
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jurisdiction.

Weather Risk

We are exposed to weather risk in our regulated utility segment in South Carolina and Tennessee where revenues are collected from
volumetric rates without a margin decoupling mechanism. Our rates are designed based on an assumption of normal weather. In these states, this
risk is mitigated by WNA mechanisms that are designed to offset the impact of colder-than-normal or warmer-than-normal weather during the
months of November through March in our residential and commercial markets. In North Carolina, we manage our weather risk through a year
around margin decoupling mechanism that allows us to recover our approved margin from residential and commercial customers independent of
volumes sold.
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Additional information concerning market risk is set forth in “Financial Condition and Liquidity” in Item 7 of this Form 10-K in
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Consolidated financial statements required by this item are listed in Item 15 (a) 1 in Part IV of this Form 10-K.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc.
Charlotte, North Carolina

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
October 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended October 31, 2011. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Piedmont Natural Gas
Company, Inc. and subsidiaries at October 31, 2011 and 2010, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended October 31, 2011, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of October 31, 2011, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework  issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated December 23, 2011 expressed an unqualified
opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
December 23, 2011
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
October 31, 2011 and 2010

ASSETS
 
In thousands   2011    2010  
Utility Plant:     

Utility plant in service   $3,377,310   $3,176,312 
Less accumulated depreciation    974,631    917,300 

    
 

    
 

Utility plant in service, net    2,402,679    2,259,012 
Construction work in progress    217,832    171,901 
Plant held for future use    6,751    6,751 

    
 

    
 

Total utility plant, net    2,627,262    2,437,664 
    

 
    

 

Other Physical Property, at cost (net of accumulated depreciation of $806 in 2011 and $729 in 2010)    452    528 
    

 
    

 

Current Assets:     
Cash and cash equivalents    6,777    5,619 
Trade accounts receivable (less allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,347 in 2011 and $929 in 2010)    57,035    62,370 
Income taxes receivable    15,966    24,856 
Other receivables    2,547    2,289 
Unbilled utility revenues    28,715    21,337 
Inventories:     

Gas in storage    91,124    101,734 
Materials, supplies and merchandise    1,368    4,547 

Gas purchase derivative assets, at fair value    2,772    2,819 
Amounts due from customers    38,649    62,336 
Prepayments    39,128    39,832 
Deferred income taxes    1,793    —    
Other current assets    147    101 

    
 

    
 

Total current assets    286,021    327,840 
    

 
    

 

Noncurrent Assets:     
Equity method investments in non-utility activities    85,121    80,287 
Goodwill    48,852    48,852 
Marketable securities, at fair value    1,439    997 
Overfunded postretirement asset    22,879    17,342 
Regulatory asset for postretirement benefits    81,073    64,775 
Unamortized debt expense    11,315    8,576 
Regulatory cost of removal asset    19,336    17,825 
Other noncurrent assets    58,791    48,589 

    
 

    
 

Total noncurrent assets    328,806    287,243 
    

 
    

 

Total   $3,242,541   $3,053,275 
    

 

    

 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
October 31, 2011 and 2010

CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES
 
In thousands   2011   2010  
Capitalization:    

Stockholders’ equity:    
Cumulative preferred stock - no par value - 175 shares authorized   $ —     $ —    
Common stock - no par value - shares authorized: 200,000; shares outstanding: 72,318 in 2011 and
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72,282 in 2010    446,791   445,640 
Retained earnings    550,584   519,831 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (452)   (530) 

    
 

   
 

Total stockholders’ equity    996,923   964,941 
Long-term debt    675,000   671,922 

    
 

   
 

Total capitalization    1,671,923   1,636,863 
    

 
   

 

Current Liabilities:    
Current maturities of long-term debt    —      60,000 
Bank debt    331,000   242,000 
Trade accounts payable    85,721   66,019 
Other accounts payable    43,959   49,645 
Accrued interest    20,038   20,134 
Customers’ deposits    25,462   25,631 
Deferred income taxes    —      4,933 
General taxes accrued    21,262   20,100 
Amounts due to customers    2,617   —    
Other current liabilities    4,073   10,098 

    
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    534,132   498,560 
    

 
   

 

Noncurrent Liabilities:    
Deferred income taxes    512,961   429,225 
Unamortized federal investment tax credits    2,004   2,145 
Accumulated provision for postretirement benefits    14,671   14,805 
Cost of removal obligations    466,000   436,072 
Other noncurrent liabilities    40,850   35,605 

    
 

   
 

Total noncurrent liabilities    1,036,486   917,852 
    

 
   

 

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 8)    
    

 
   

 

Total   $3,242,541  $3,053,275 
    

 

   

 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Income
For the Years Ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

 
   2011   2010   2009  
In thousands except per share amounts     
Operating Revenues   $1,433,905  $1,552,295  $1,638,116 
Cost of Gas    860,266   999,703   1,076,542 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Margin    573,639   552,592   561,574 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Operating Expenses:     
Operations and maintenance    225,351   219,829   208,105 
Depreciation    102,829   98,494   97,425 
General taxes    38,380   33,909   34,590 
Utility income taxes    64,068   62,082   70,079 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    430,628   414,314   410,199 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Operating Income    143,011   138,278   151,375 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Other Income (Expense):     
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Income from equity method investments    24,027   28,854   33,464 
Gain on sale of interest in equity method investment    —      49,674   —    
Non-operating income    1,762   659   32 
Charitable contributions    (1,818)   (1,363)   (2,011) 
Non-operating expense    (1,204)   (643)   (1,558) 
Income taxes    (8,218)   (29,794)   (11,803) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total other income (expense)    14,549   47,387   18,124 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Utility Interest Charges:     
Interest on long-term debt    46,070   52,666   55,105 
Allowance for borrowed funds used during construction    (8,619)   (9,981)   (2,298) 
Other    6,541   1,026   (6,132) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total utility interest charges    43,992   43,711   46,675 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Net Income   $ 113,568  $ 141,954  $ 122,824 
    

 

   

 

   

 

Average Shares of Common Stock:     
Basic    72,056   72,275   73,171 
Diluted    72,266   72,525   73,461 

Earnings Per Share of Common Stock:     
Basic   $ 1.58  $ 1.96  $ 1.68 
Diluted   $ 1.57  $ 1.96  $ 1.67 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

 
In thousands   2011   2010   2009  
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:     

Net income   $ 113,568  $ 141,954  $ 122,824 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:     

Depreciation and amortization    107,046   102,776   102,592 
Amortization of investment tax credits    (141)   (277)   (204) 
Allowance for doubtful accounts    418   (61)   (76) 
Gain on sale of interest in equity method investment, net of tax    —      (30,286)   —    
Net gain on sale of property    —      (89)   (495) 
Income from equity method investments    (24,027)   (28,854)   (33,464) 
Distributions of earnings from equity method investments    22,685   28,834   23,954 
Deferred income taxes, net    76,962   21,831   81,468 
Changes in assets and liabilities:     

Gas purchase derivatives, at fair value    47   (30,863)   18,741 
Receivables    (3,019)   23,493   25,018 
Inventories    13,789   2,565   87,953 
Amounts due from/to customers    26,304   133,794   (14,385) 
Settlement of legal asset retirement obligations    (1,493)   (1,141)   (1,480) 
Overfunded postretirement asset    (5,537)   (17,342)   6,797 
Regulatory asset for postretirement benefits    (16,298)   12,130   (48,173) 
Other assets    972   18,184   (13,573) 
Accounts payable    (4,085)   (3,007)   (22,154) 
Regulatory liability for postretirement benefits    —      —      (372) 
Provision for postretirement benefits    (134)   (16,836)   15,384 
Other liabilities    4,188   3,706   (6,085) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net cash provided by operating activities    311,245   360,511   344,270 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:     
Utility construction expenditures    (243,641)   (199,059)   (129,006) 
Allowance for funds used during construction    (8,619)   (9,981)   (2,298) 
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Contributions to equity method investments    (6,222)   —      (862) 
Distributions of capital from equity method investments    3,029   18,260   32 
Proceeds from sale of interest in equity method investment    —      57,500   —    
Proceeds from sale of property    1,074   1,653   748 
Investments in marketable securities    (486)   (498)   (380) 
Other    2,292   3,554   2,154 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net cash used in investing activities    (252,573)   (128,571)   (129,612) 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

 
In thousands   2011   2010   2009  
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:     

Borrowings under bank debt    1,723,000   1,058,000   1,075,000 
Repayments under bank debt    (1,634,000)   (1,122,000)   (1,175,500) 
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt    200,000   —      —    
Retirement of long-term debt    (256,922)   (60,590)   (31,749) 
Expenses related to issuance and reacquiring of debt    (3,902)   (46)   —    
Issuance of common stock through dividend reinvestment and employee stock

plans    20,233   19,099   14,435 
Repurchases of common stock    (23,004)   (47,295)   (17,857) 
Dividends paid    (82,913)   (80,255)   (78,370) 
Other    (6)   (792)   (50) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net cash used in financing activities    (57,514)   (233,879)   (214,091) 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents    1,158   (1,939)   567 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year    5,619   7,558   6,991 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year   $ 6,777  $ 5,619  $ 7,558 
    

 

   

 

   

 

Cash Paid During the Year for:     
Interest   $ 50,136  $ 56,554  $ 61,050 
Income Taxes:     

Income taxes paid    5,649   32,305   51,132 
Income taxes refunded    16,958   1,845   345 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Income taxes, net   $ (11,309)  $ 30,460  $ 50,787 
    

 

   

 

   

 

Noncash Investing and Financing Activities:     
Accrued construction expenditures   $ 18,055  $ 3,225  $ 1,305 
Guaranty    —      1,234   —    

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
 

59

Table of Contents

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
For the Years Ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

 

In thousands except per share amounts   
Common

Stock   
Paid-in
Capital   

Retained
Earnings   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)   Total  

Balance, October 31, 2008   $471,565  $ 763  $414,246  $ 670  $887,244 
        

 

Comprehensive Income:       
Net income      122,824    122,824 
Other comprehensive income:       
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Unrealized gain from hedging activities of equity method
investments, net of tax of ($3,886)       (6,032)   (6,032) 

Reclassification adjustment of realized gain from hedging
activities of equity method investments included in net
income, net of tax of $1,879       2,915   2,915 

        
 

Total comprehensive income        119,707 
Common Stock Issued    17,861      17,861 
Common Stock Repurchased    (17,857)      (17,857) 
Share-Based Compensation Expense     (730)     (730) 
Dividends - Incentive Compensation Plan     (33)   33    —    
Tax Benefit from Dividends Paid on ESOP Shares      93    93 
Dividends Declared ($1.07 per share)      (78,370)    (78,370) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balance, October 31, 2009    471,569   —      458,826   (2,447)   927,948 
        

 

Comprehensive Income:       
Net income      141,954    141,954 
Other comprehensive income:       

Unrealized gain from hedging activities of equity method
investments, net of tax of ($52)       (88)   (88) 

Reclassification adjustment of realized gain from hedging
activities of equity method investments included in net
income, net of tax of $1,291       2,005   2,005 

        
 

Total comprehensive income        143,871 
Common Stock Issued    21,366      21,366 
Common Stock Repurchased    (47,276)      (47,276) 
Rescission Offer    (19)      (19) 
Costs of Rescission Offer      (792)    (792) 
Tax Benefit from Dividends Paid on ESOP Shares      98    98 
Dividends Declared ($1.11 per share)      (80,255)    (80,255) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balance, October 31, 2010    445,640   —      519,831   (530)   964,941 
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
For the Years Ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

 

In thousands except per share amounts   
Common

Stock   

Paid-
in

Capital   
Retained
Earnings   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)   Total  

Comprehensive Income:          
Net income       113,568      113,568 
Other comprehensive income:          

Unrealized gain from hedging activities of equity method
investments, net of tax of ($371)          (576)   (576) 

Reclassification adjustment of realized gain from hedging activities
of equity method investments included in net income, net of tax
of $420          654   654 

           
 

Total comprehensive income           113,646 
Common Stock Issued    24,155         24,155 
Common Stock Repurchased    (23,004)         (23,004) 
Costs of Rescission Offer       (6)      (6) 
Tax Benefit from Dividends Paid on ESOP Shares       104      104 
Dividends Declared ($1.15 per share)       (82,913)      (82,913) 

    
 

   
 

    
 

     
 

   
 

Balance, October 31, 2011   $446,791  $ —      $550,584    $ (452)  $996,923 
    

 

   

 

    

 

     

 

   

 

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (OCI) as of October 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows.
 

In thousands   2011   2010  
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Hedging activities of equity method investments   $(452)  $(530) 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations and Basis of Consolidation

Piedmont is an energy services company primarily engaged in the distribution of natural gas to residential, commercial, industrial and power
generation customers in portions of North Carolina, South Carolina and Tennessee. We are invested in joint venture, energy-related businesses,
including unregulated retail natural gas marketing, and regulated interstate natural gas storage and intrastate natural gas transportation. Our utility
operations are regulated by three state regulatory commissions. For further information on regulatory matters, see Note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements reflect the accounts of Piedmont and its wholly owned subsidiaries whose financial statements are
prepared for the same reporting period as Piedmont using consistent accounting policies. Investments in non-utility activities, or joint ventures, are
accounted for under the equity method as we do not have controlling voting interests or otherwise exercise control over the management of such
companies. Our ownership interest in each entity is recorded in “Equity method investments in non-utility activities” in the consolidated balance
sheets at cost plus post-acquisition contributions and earnings based on our share in each of the joint ventures less any distributions received from
the joint venture, and if applicable, less any impairment in value of the investment. Earnings or losses from equity method investments are recorded
in “Income from equity method investments” in the consolidated statements of income. For further information on equity method investments, see
Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements. Revenues and expenses of all other non-utility activities are included in “Non-operating income”
in the consolidated statements of income. Inter-company transactions have been eliminated in consolidation where appropriate; however, we have
not eliminated inter-company profit on sales to affiliates and costs from affiliates in accordance with accounting regulations prescribed under rate-
based regulation.

We monitor significant events occurring after the balance sheet date and prior to the issuance of the financial statements to determine the
impacts, if any, of events on the financial statements to be issued. All subsequent events of which we are aware have been evaluated. There are no
subsequent events that had a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. For further information, see Note 15 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Use of Estimates

The consolidated financial statements of Piedmont have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)
in the United States of America and under the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). In accordance with GAAP, we make
certain estimates and assumptions regarding reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of
the consolidated financial statements, and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from
estimates.
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Segment Reporting

Our segments are based on the components of the company that are evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how
to allocate resources and in assessing performance. Our chief operating decision maker is the executive management team comprised of senior
level management. Our segments are identified based on products and services, regulatory environments and our current corporate organization and
business decision making activities. We evaluate the performance of the regulated utility based on margin, operations and maintenance expenses
and operating income. We evaluate the performance of the non-utility activities segment based on earnings from the ventures.

We have two reportable business segments, regulated utility and non-utility activities. The regulated utility segment is the gas distribution
business, including the operations of merchandising and its related service work and home warranty programs, with activities conducted by the
parent company. Operations of our non-utility activities segment are comprised of our equity method investments in joint ventures. See Note 14
for further discussion of segments.
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Rate-Regulated Basis of Accounting

Our utility operations are subject to regulation with respect to rates, service area, accounting and various other matters by the regulatory
commissions in the states in which we operate. The accounting regulations provide that rate-regulated public utilities account for and report assets
and liabilities consistent with the economic effect of the manner in which independent third-party regulators establish rates. In applying these
regulations, we capitalize certain costs and benefits as regulatory assets and liabilities, respectively, in order to provide for recovery from or refund
to utility customers in future periods.

Our regulatory assets are recoverable through either base rates or rate riders specifically authorized by a state regulatory commission. Base
rates are designed to provide both a recovery of cost and a return on investment during the period the rates are in effect. As such, all of our
regulatory assets are subject to review by the respective state regulatory commission during any future rate proceedings. In the event that
accounting for the effects of regulation were no longer applicable, we would recognize a write-off of the regulatory assets and regulatory liabilities
that would result in an adjustment to net income. Our utility operations continue to recover their costs through cost-based rates established by the
state regulatory commissions. As a result, we believe that the accounting prescribed under rate-based regulation remains appropriate. It is our
opinion that all regulatory assets are recoverable in current rates or in future rate proceedings.

Regulatory assets and liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets as of October 31, 2011 and 2010 are presented below.
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In thousands   2011    2010  
Regulatory Assets:     

Unamortized debt expense   $ 11,315   $ 8,576 
Amounts due from customers    38,649    62,336 
Environmental costs *    9,644    7,960 
Deferred operations and maintenance expenses *    7,676    8,258 
Deferred pipeline integrity expenses *    7,927    6,728 
Deferred pension and other retirement benefits costs *    22,119    18,783 
Amounts not yet recognized as a component of pension and other retirement

benefits costs    81,073    64,775 
Regulatory cost of removal asset    19,336    17,825 
Other *    2,396    2,531 

    
 

    
 

Total   $200,135   $197,772 
    

 

    

 

Regulatory Liabilities:     
Regulatory cost of removal obligations   $438,605   $412,776 
Amounts due to customers    2,617    —    
Deferred income taxes*    25,731    26,299 

    
 

    
 

Total   $466,953   $439,075 
    

 

    

 

 
* Regulatory assets are included in “Other noncurrent assets” in “Noncurrent Assets” and regulatory liabilities are included in “Other noncurrent

liabilities” in “Noncurrent Liabilities” in the consolidated balance sheets.

As of October 31, 2011, we had regulatory assets totaling $.5 million on which we do not earn a return during the recovery period. The
original amortization period for these assets is 15 years and, accordingly, $.5 million will be fully amortized by 2018. We have $4.5 million related
to unrealized mark-to-market amounts on which we do not earn a return until they are recorded in interest-bearing amounts due to/from customer
accounts when realized and $81.1 million of regulatory postretirement assets, $19.3 million of asset retirement obligations (AROs) and $9.6
million of estimated environmental costs on which we do not earn a return. Included in deferred pension and other retirement costs are amounts
related to pension funding for our Tennessee jurisdiction. The recovery of these amounts is authorized by the Tennessee Regulatory Authority
(TRA) on a deferred cash basis.

Utility Plant and Depreciation

Utility plant is stated at original cost, including direct labor and materials, contractor costs, allocable overhead charges, such as engineering,
supervision, corporate office salaries and expenses, and pensions and insurance, and an allowance for funds used during construction (AFUDC)
that is calculated under a formula prescribed by our state regulators. We apply the group method of accounting, where the cost of homogeneous
assets are aggregated and depreciated by applying a rate based on the average expected useful life of the assets. Major expenditures that last longer
than a year and improve or lengthen the expected useful life of the overall property from original expectations that are recoverable in regulatory
rate base are capitalized while expenditures not meeting these criteria are expensed as incurred. The costs of property retired or otherwise disposed
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of are removed from utility plant and charged to accumulated depreciation for recovery through rates. On certain assets, like land, that are
nondepreciable, we record a gain or loss upon the disposal of the property that is recorded in Other Income (Expense) in the consolidated
statements of income.
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AFUDC represents the estimated costs of funds from both debt and equity sources used to finance the construction of major projects and is
capitalized for ratemaking purposes when the completed projects are placed in service. The portion of AFUDC attributable to borrowed funds is
shown as a reduction of “Utility Interest Charges” in the consolidated statements of income. Any portion of AFUDC attributable to equity funds
would be included in “Other Income (Expense)” in the consolidated statements of income.

AFUDC for the years ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 is presented below.
 

In thousands   2011    2010    2009  
AFUDC   $8,619    $9,981    $2,298  

In accordance with utility accounting practice, we have classified expenditures associated with a liquefied natural gas (LNG) peak storage
facility in the eastern part of North Carolina that has been delayed due to current economic conditions as “Plant held for future use” in the
consolidated balance sheets. Another project under construction will create cost effective expansion capacity that we will use to help serve the
growing natural gas requirements of our customers in the eastern part of North Carolina. The timing and design scope of the expansion of our
facilities in this area will be determined as our system infrastructure and market supply growth requirements in North Carolina dictate and such
costs, approximately half being land purchase and preparation, will be moved to any such future project.

We compute depreciation expense using the straight-line method over periods ranging from 4 to 88 years. The composite weighted-average
depreciation rates were 3.19% for 2011, 3.20% for 2010 and 3.25% for 2009.

Depreciation rates for utility plant are approved by our regulatory commissions. In North Carolina, we are required to conduct a depreciation
study every five years and file the results with the regulatory commission. No such five-year requirement exists in South Carolina or Tennessee;
however, we periodically propose revised rates in those states based on depreciation studies. Our last system-wide depreciation study based on
fiscal year 2009 data was completed in 2011 and filed with the appropriate regulatory commission in all jurisdictions. New depreciation rates were
approved effective November 1, 2011 for South Carolina. We have proposed the implementation of the new depreciation rates in Tennessee
beginning March 1, 2012. We anticipate new rates to become effective in North Carolina in connection with our next general rate case filing.

The estimated costs of removal on certain regulated properties are collected through depreciation expense through rates, with a corresponding
credit to accumulated depreciation. Our approved depreciation rates are comprised of two components, one based on average service life and one
based on cost of removal for certain regulated properties. Therefore, through depreciation expense, we accrue estimated non-legal costs of removal
on any depreciable asset that includes cost of removal in its depreciation rate.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider instruments purchased with an original maturity at date of purchase of three months or less to be cash equivalents, particularly
affecting the statements of cash flows. We have no restrictions on our cash balances that would impact the payment of dividends as of October 31,
2011 and 2010.

Trade Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Trade accounts receivable consist of natural gas sales and transportation services, merchandise sales and service work. We bill customers
monthly with payment due within 30 days. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts, which we adjust periodically, based on the aging of
receivables and our historical and projected charge-off activity. Our estimate of recoverability could differ from actual experience based on
customer credit issues, the level of natural gas prices and general economic conditions. We write off our customers’ accounts when they are
deemed to be uncollectible. Pursuant to orders issued by the North Carolina Utilities Commission (NCUC) and the Public Service Commission of
South Carolina (PSCSC), we are authorized to recover all uncollected gas costs through the purchased gas adjustment (PGA). As a result, only the
portion of accounts written off relating to the non-gas costs, or margin, is included in base rates and, accordingly, only this portion is included in
the provision for uncollectibles expense. In Tennessee, to the extent that the gas cost portion of net write-offs for a fiscal year is less than the gas
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cost portion included in base rates, the difference would be refunded to customers through the Actual Cost Adjustment (ACA) filings; if the
difference is greater, there would be a charge to customers through the ACA filing. Non-regulated merchandise and service work receivables due
beyond one year are included in “Other noncurrent assets” in “Noncurrent Assets” in the consolidated balance sheets.

We are exposed to credit risk when we enter into contracts with third parties to sell natural gas. We also enter into short-term contracts with
third parties to manage some of our supply and capacity assets for the purpose of maximizing their value. Our internal credit policies require
counterparties to have an investment-grade credit rating at the time of the contract. Where the counterparty does not have an investment-grade
credit rating, our policy requires credit enhancements that include letters of credit or parental guaranties. In either circumstance, the policy specifies
limits on the contract amount and duration based on the counterparty’s credit rating and/or credit support. We continually re-evaluate third-party
credit worthiness and market conditions and modify our requirements accordingly.

Our principal business activity is the distribution of natural gas. We believe that we have provided an adequate allowance for any receivables
which may not be ultimately collected. As of October 31, 2011 and 2010, our trade accounts receivable consisted of the following.
 

In thousands   2011   2010  
Gas receivables   $55,928  $60,823 
Non-regulated merchandise and service work receivables    2,454   2,476 
Allowance for doubtful accounts    (1,347)   (929) 

    
 

   
 

Trade accounts receivable   $57,035  $62,370 
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A reconciliation of the changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts for the years ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 is presented
below.
 

In thousands   2011   2010   2009  
Balance at beginning of year   $ 929  $ 990  $ 1,066 

Additions charged to uncollectibles expense    4,842   4,886   5,570 
Accounts written off, net of recoveries    (4,424)   (4,947)   (5,646) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Balance at end of year   $ 1,347  $ 929  $ 990 
    

 

   

 

   

 

Inventories

We maintain gas inventories on the basis of average cost. Injections into storage are priced at the purchase cost at the time of injection, and
withdrawals from storage are priced at the weighted average purchase price in storage. The cost of gas in storage is recoverable under rate
schedules approved by state regulatory commissions. Inventory activity is subject to regulatory review on an annual basis in gas cost recovery
proceedings.

We utilize asset management agreements with counterparties for certain natural gas storage and transportation assets. At October 31, 2011
and 2010, such counterparties held natural gas storage assets, included in “Prepayments” in the consolidated balance sheets, with a value of $35.8
million and $36.6 million, respectively, through capacity release and agency relationships. Under the terms of the asset management agreements,
we receive capacity and storage asset management fees, which are recorded as secondary market transactions and shared between our utility
customers and our shareholders. The asset management agreements expire at various times through March 31, 2014. For further information on the
revenue sharing of secondary market transactions, see Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Materials, supplies and merchandise inventories are valued at the lower of average cost or market and removed from such inventory at
average cost.

Fair Value Measurements

Effective November 1, 2009, we adopted the additional authoritative guidance related to nonrecurring fair value guidance for certain
nonfinancial assets and liabilities and the use of fair value in the impairment testing of goodwill, intangible assets and long-lived assets. In
February 2010, we adopted the amended fair value guidance, which clarified disclosure requirements for fair value measurements and requires
disclosure of transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3. The adoption of the additional fair value guidance had no material impact on our financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, bank debt, accounts payable, accrued interest and other current liabilities
approximate fair value as all amounts reported are to be collected or paid within one year. Our financial assets and liabilities are recorded at fair
value. They consist primarily of derivatives that are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets in accordance with derivative accounting standards
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and marketable securities, classified as trading securities, that are held in a rabbi trust established for our deferred compensation plans. Our pension
and postretirement plan assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets in accordance with employers’ accounting
and related disclosures of postretirement plans.
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Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, or exit date. We utilize market data or assumptions that market participants would use in valuing the asset or
liability, including assumptions about risk and the risks inherent in the inputs to the valuation technique. These inputs can be readily observable,
market corroborated or generally unobservable. We primarily apply the market approach for fair value measurements and endeavor to utilize the
best available information. Accordingly, we use valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs. The fair value of our financial assets and liabilities are subject to potentially significant volatility based on changes in market
prices, the portfolio valuation of our contracts, as well as the maturity and settlement of those contracts, and subsequent newly originated
transactions, each of which directly affects the estimated fair value of our financial instruments. We are able to classify fair value balances based
on the observance of those inputs at the lowest level into the following fair value hierarchy levels as set forth in the fair value guidance.

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the reporting date. Active markets have
sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information for the asset or liability on an ongoing basis. Our Level 1 items consist of financial
instruments of exchange-traded derivatives, investments in marketable securities and benefit plan assets held in registered investment companies
and individual stocks.

Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices in active markets included in Level 1 and are either directly or indirectly corroborated or
observable as of the reporting date, generally using valuation methodologies. These methodologies are primarily industry-standard methodologies
that consider various assumptions, including quoted forward prices for commodities, time value, volatility factors, and current market and
contractual prices for the underlying instruments, as well as other relevant economic measures. Substantially all of these assumptions are
observable in the marketplace throughout the full term of the instrument, can be derived from observable data or are supported by observable levels
at which transactions are executed in the marketplace. We obtain market price data from multiple sources in order to value some of our Level 2
transactions and this data is representative of transactions that occurred in the market place. Our Level 2 items include non-exchange-traded
derivative instruments, such as some qualified pension plan assets held in hedge fund of funds, commodities hedge fund of funds, swaps, futures,
currency forwards, corporate bonds and government and agency obligations that are valued at the closing price reported in the active market for
similar assets in which the individual securities are traded or based on yields currently available on comparable securities of issuers with similar
credit ratings or based on the most recent available financial information for the respective funds and securities. For some qualified pension plan
assets, the determination of Level 2 assets was completed through a process of reviewing each individual security while consulting research and
other metrics provided by investment managers, including a pricing matrix detailing the pricing source and security type, annual audited financial
statements and valuation policies and procedures.

Level 3 inputs include significant pricing inputs that are generally less observable from objective sources and may be used with internally
developed methodologies that result in management’s best estimate of fair value. Our Level 3 inputs include cost estimates for removal (contract
fees or manpower/equipment estimates), inflation factors, risk premiums, the remaining
 

68

Table of Contents

life of long-lived assets, the credit adjusted risk free rate to discount for the time value of money over an appropriate time span, and the most
recent available financial information of an investment in a hedge fund of funds, diversified private equity fund of funds and commodities hedge
fund of funds for some of our qualified pension plan assets. We do not have any other assets or liabilities classified as Level 3.

Transfers between different levels of the fair value hierarchy may occur based on the level of observable inputs used to value the instruments
for the period. These transfers represent existing assets or liabilities previously categorized as a Level 1 or Level 2 for which the inputs to the
estimate became less observable or assets and liabilities previously classified as Level 2 or Level 3 for which the lowest significant input became
more observable during the period. Transfers into and out of each level are measured at the end of the reporting period.

For the fair value measurements of our derivatives and marketable securities, see Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements. For the fair
value measurements of our benefit plan assets, see Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Schedule WPD-6 - Gas (Part 54) 
Page 47 of 100



Document Contents

http://ofccolo.snl.com/Cache/c12363195.html[1/9/2013 10:20:18 AM]

Goodwill, Equity Method Investments and Long-Lived Assets

Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired in a business combination. We annually
evaluate goodwill for impairment as of October 31, or more frequently if impairment indicators arise during the year. These indicators include, but
are not limited to, a significant change in operating performance, the business climate, legal or regulatory factors, or a planned sale or disposition
of a significant portion of the business. We test goodwill using a fair value approach at a reporting unit level, generally equivalent to our operating
segments as discussed in Note 14. An impairment charge would be recognized if the carrying value of the reporting unit, including goodwill,
exceeded its fair value. All of our goodwill is attributable to the regulated utility segment.

We early adopted the accounting guidance issued September 2011 that simplifies how an entity tests goodwill for impairment. As part of our
qualitative assessment, we considered macroeconomic conditions such as a general deterioration in economic condition, limitations on accessing
capital, and other developments in equity and credit markets. We evaluated industry and market considerations for any deterioration in the
environment in which we operate, the increased competitive environment, a decline (both absolute and relative to our peers) in market-dependent
multiples or metrics, any change in the market for our products or services, and regulatory and political development. We assessed our overall
financial performance and considered cost factors such as increases in utility construction expenditures, labor, or other costs that would have a
negative effect on earnings. We determined the relevance of any entity-specific events or events affecting our regulated utility segment which
would have a negative effect on the carrying value of the reporting unit.

Based on a qualitative assessment, we have determined that it is not necessary to perform a quantitative goodwill impairment test as of
October 31, 2011. Annual goodwill impairment assessments performed have indicated that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the
reporting unit is substantially in excess of carrying value and not at risk of failing step one of the quantitative goodwill impairment test. No
impairment has been recognized during the years ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009.
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We review our equity method investments and long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. There were no events or circumstances during the years ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 that
resulted in any impairment charges. For further information on equity method investments, see Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

Marketable Securities

We have marketable securities that are invested in money market and mutual funds that are liquid and actively traded on the exchanges.
These securities are assets that are held in a rabbi trust established for our deferred compensation plans that became effective on January 1, 2009.
For further information on the deferred compensation plans, see Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

We have classified these marketable securities as trading securities since their inception as the assets are held in a rabbi trust. Trading
securities are recorded at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets with any gains or losses recognized currently in earnings. We do not intend
to engage in active trading of the securities, and participants in the deferred compensation plans may redirect their investments at any time. Any
participant’s account that exceeds $25,000 will be paid over five years upon retirement. A lesser amount will be paid upon retirement in a lump
sum. We have matched the current portion of the deferred compensation liability with the current asset and noncurrent deferred compensation
liability with the noncurrent asset; the current portion has been included in “Other current assets” in the consolidated balance sheets.

The money market investments in the trust approximate fair value due to the short period of time to maturity. The fair values of the equity
securities are based on quoted market prices as traded on the exchanges. The composition of these securities as of October 31, 2011 and 2010 is as
follows.
 

In thousands   2011    2010  
   Cost    Fair  Value   Cost    Fair  Value 
Current trading securities:         

Money markets   $ —      $ —      $—      $ —    
Mutual funds    47    52    4    5 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total current trading securities    47    52    4    5 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Noncurrent trading securities:         
Money markets    217    217    254    254 
Mutual funds    1,107    1,222    618    743 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total noncurrent trading securities    1,324    1,439    872    997 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Total trading securities   $1,371   $ 1,491   $876   $ 1,002 
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Unamortized Debt Expense

Unamortized debt expense consists of costs, such as underwriting and broker dealer fees, discounts and commissions, legal fees, accountant
fees, registration fees and rating agency fees, related to issuing long-term debt and the short-term syndicated revolving credit facility. We amortize
long-term debt expense on a straight-line basis, which approximates the effective interest method, over the life of the related debt which has lives
ranging from 5 to 30 years. We amortize bank debt expense over the life of the syndicated revolving credit facility, which is three years.

Should we reacquire long-term debt prior to its term date and simultaneously issue new debt, we defer the gain or loss resulting from the
transaction, essentially the remaining unamortized debt expense, and amortize it over the life of the new debt in accordance with established
regulatory practice. Where the refunding of the debt is not simultaneous, we defer the gain or loss resulting from the reacquisition of the debt and
amortize over the remaining life of the redeemed debt in accordance with established regulatory practice. For income tax purposes, any gain or loss
would be recognized as incurred.

Issuances and Repurchases of Common Stock

As discussed in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements, we repurchase shares on the open market and such shares are then cancelled
and become authorized but unissued shares. Currently, it is our policy to issue new shares for share-based employee awards and shareholder and
employee investment plans.

Asset Retirement Obligations

The accounting guidance for AROs addresses the financial accounting and reporting for AROs associated with the retirement of long-lived
assets that result from the acquisition, construction, development and operation of the assets. The accounting guidance requires the recognition of
the fair value of a liability for AROs in the period in which the liability is incurred if a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. We have
determined that AROs exist for our underground mains and services.

In accordance with long-standing regulatory treatment, our depreciation rates are comprised of two components, one based on average
service life and one based on cost of removal. We collect through rates the estimated costs of removal on certain regulated properties through
depreciation expense, with a corresponding credit to accumulated depreciation. These removal costs are non-legal obligations as defined by the
accounting guidance. Because these estimated removal costs meet the requirements of rate regulated accounting guidance, we have accounted for
these non-legal AROs as a regulatory liability. We record the estimated non-legal AROs in “Cost of removal obligations” in “Noncurrent
Liabilities” in our consolidated balance sheets. In the rate setting process, the liability for non-legal costs of removal is treated as a reduction to the
net rate base upon which the regulated utility has the opportunity to earn its allowed rate of return.

In 2006, we applied the accounting guidance for conditional AROs that requires recognition of a liability for the fair value of conditional
AROs when incurred if the liability can be reasonably estimated. At the same time, the NCUC, the PSCSC and the TRA approved placing these
ARO costs in deferred accounts to preserve the regulatory treatment of these costs. AROs will be capitalized concurrently by increasing the
carrying amount of the related asset by the same amount as the liability. In periods subsequent to the initial measurement, any changes in the
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liability resulting from the passage of time (accretion) or due to the revisions of either timing or the amount of the originally estimated cash flows
to settle conditional AROs must be recognized. The estimated cash flows to settle conditional AROs are discounted using the credit adjusted risk-
free rate, which ranged from 4.5% to 5.87% with a weighted average of 5.86% for the twelve months ended October 31, 2011. The estimate was
calculated using a time value weighted average credit adjusted risk-free rate. Any accretion will not be reflected in the income statement as we
have received regulatory treatment for deferral as a regulatory asset with netting against a regulatory liability. We have recorded a liability on our
distribution and transmission mains and services.

The cost of removal obligations recorded in our consolidated balance sheets as of October 31, 2011 and 2010 are presented below.
 

In thousands   2011    2010  
Regulatory non-legal AROs   $438,605   $412,776 
Conditional AROs    27,395    23,296 

    
 

    
 

Total cost of removal obligations   $466,000   $436,072 
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A reconciliation of the changes in conditional AROs for the year ended October 31, 2011 and 2010 is presented below.
 

In thousands   2011   2010  
Beginning of period   $23,295  $23,331 

Liabilities incurred during the period    3,102   137 
Liabilities settled during the period    (1,493)   (1,141) 
Accretion    1,365   1,350 
Adjustment to estimated cash flows    1,126   (382) 

    
 

   
 

End of period   $27,395  $23,295 
    

 

   

 

Revenue Recognition

We record revenues when services are provided to our distribution service customers. Utility sales and transportation revenues are based on
rates approved by state regulatory commissions. Base rates charged to jurisdictional customers may not be changed without formal approval by the
regulatory commission in that jurisdiction; however, the wholesale cost of gas component of rates may be adjusted periodically under PGA
provisions. In South Carolina and Tennessee, a weather normalization adjustment (WNA) is calculated for residential and commercial customers
during the winter heating season November through March. The WNA is designed to offset the impact that warmer-than-normal or colder-than-
normal weather has on customer billings during the winter heating season. In North Carolina, a year around margin decoupling mechanism
provides for the recovery of our approved margin from residential and commercial customers independent of consumption patterns. The gas cost
portion of our costs is recoverable through PGA procedures and is not affected by the WNA or the margin decoupling mechanism.
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Revenues are recognized monthly on the accrual basis, which includes estimated amounts for gas delivered to customers but not yet billed
under the cycle-billing method from the last meter reading date to month end. The unbilled revenue estimate reflects factors requiring judgment
related to estimated usage by customer class, customer mix, changes in weather during the period and the impact of the WNA or margin decoupling
mechanism, as applicable.

Secondary market revenues associated with the commodity are recognized when the physical sales are delivered based on contract or market
prices. Asset management fees for storage and transportation remitted on a monthly basis are recognized as earned given the monthly capacity costs
associated with the contracts involved. Asset management fees remitted in a lump sum are deferred and amortized ratably into income over the
period in which they are earned, which is typically the contract term. See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements regarding revenue sharing
of secondary market transactions.

Utility sales, transportation and secondary market revenues are reported on a net of tax basis. For further information regarding taxes, see
“Taxes” in this Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Cost of Gas and Deferred Purchased Gas Adjustments

We charge our utility customers for natural gas consumed using natural gas cost recovery mechanisms as set by the regulatory commissions
in states in which we operate. Rate schedules for utility sales and transportation customers include PGA provisions that provide for the recovery of
prudently incurred and allocated gas costs. With regulatory commission approval, we revise rates periodically without formal rate proceedings to
reflect changes in the wholesale cost of gas. Under PGA provisions, charges to cost of gas are based on the amount recoverable under approved rate
schedules. By jurisdiction, differences between gas costs incurred and gas costs billed to customers are deferred and included in “Amounts due
from customers” or “Amounts due to customers” in the consolidated balance sheets. We review gas costs and deferral activity periodically and,
with regulatory commission approval, increase rates to collect under-recoveries or decrease rates to refund over-recoveries over a subsequent
period.

We charge our secondary market customers for natural gas based on specified contract terms. Within our cost of gas, we include amounts for
lost and unaccounted for gas and adjustments to reflect the gains and losses associated with gas price hedging derivatives.

Taxes

We have two categories of income taxes in our consolidated statements of income: current and deferred. Current income tax expense consists
of federal and state income tax less applicable tax credits related to the current year. Deferred income tax expense generally is equal to the changes
in the deferred income tax liability and regulatory tax liability during the year. Deferred taxes are primarily attributable to utility plant, deferred gas
costs, revenues and cost of gas, equity method investments, benefit of loss carryforwards and employee benefits and compensation. The
determination of our provision for income taxes requires judgment, the use of estimates, and the interpretation and application of complex tax laws.
Judgment is required in assessing the timing and amounts of deductible and taxable items.
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Deferred income taxes are determined based on the estimated future tax effects of differences between the book and tax basis of assets and
liabilities. We have provided valuation allowances to reduce the carrying amount of deferred tax assets to amounts that are more likely than not to
be realized. To the extent that the establishment of deferred income taxes is different from the recovery of taxes through the ratemaking process,
the differences are deferred in accordance with rate-regulated accounting provisions, and a regulatory asset or liability is recognized for the impact
of tax expenses or benefits that will be collected from or refunded to customers in different periods pursuant to rate orders.

Deferred investment tax credits, including energy credits, associated with our utility operations are presented in our consolidated balance
sheets. We amortize these deferred investment and energy tax credits to income over the estimated useful lives of the property to which the credits
relate.

We recognize accrued interest and penalties, if any, related to uncertain tax positions in operating expenses in the consolidated statements of
income. This is consistent with the recognition of these items in prior reporting periods.

Excise taxes, sales taxes and franchises fees separately stated on customer bills are recorded on a net basis as liabilities payable to the
applicable jurisdictions. All other taxes other than income taxes are recorded as general taxes. General taxes consist of property taxes, payroll taxes,
Tennessee gross receipt taxes, franchise taxes, tax on company use, public utility fees and other miscellaneous taxes.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

With respect to cash overdrafts, book overdrafts are included within operating cash flows while any bank overdrafts are included with
financing cash flows.

Recently Issued Accounting Guidance

In June 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) amended accounting guidance to eliminate the quantitative approach that
entities use to determine whether an entity has a controlling financial interest in a variable interest entity (VIE) and to require that the entity with a
variable interest in a VIE qualitatively assess whether it has a controlling financial interest, and if so, determine whether it is the primary
beneficiary. The guidance requires companies to continually evaluate the VIE for consolidation, rather than performing the assessment only when
specific events occur. It also requires enhanced disclosures to provide more information about the entity’s involvement with the VIE. The guidance
is effective for fiscal periods beginning after November 15, 2009. Our adoption of this guidance on consolidation of VIEs, effective November 1,
2010, had no impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. For information regarding disclosures related to variable
interests in unconsolidated VIEs, see Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued accounting guidance to require separate disclosures about purchases, sales, issuances and settlements
relating to Level 3 fair value measurements. The guidance will be effective for interim periods for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2010.
We will adopt the guidance for Level 3 disclosure for recurring and non-recurring items covered under the fair value guidance for the first quarter
of our fiscal year ending October 31, 2012. Since the guidance addresses only disclosures related to fair value measurements under Level 3, the
adoption of this guidance will not have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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In July 2010, the FASB issued accounting guidance to improve disclosures about the credit quality of an entity’s financing receivables and
the reserves held against them. End of reporting period disclosures are required for the reporting period ending on or after December 15, 2010. The
disclosures about activity that occurred during a reporting period were effective for interim and annual periods beginning on or after December 15,
2010. We adopted the guidance for the end of period disclosures as of January 31, 2011, and the guidance for the disclosures related to activity in
the reporting period during our fiscal second quarter beginning February 1, 2011. Since the guidance addresses only disclosures related to credit
quality of financing receivables and the allowance for credit losses, the adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.

In May 2011, the FASB issued accounting guidance to improve the comparability of fair value measurements presented and disclosed in
financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The amendments are not
intended to change the application of the current fair value requirements, but to clarify the application of existing requirements. The guidance does
change particular principles or requirements for measuring fair value or disclosing information about fair value measurements. To improve
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consistency, language has been changed to ensure that U.S. GAAP and IFRS fair value measurement and disclosure requirements are described in
the same way. The guidance will be effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011. We will adopt the amended fair
value guidance for the second quarter of our fiscal year ending October 31, 2012. We do not expect the adoption of this guidance to have a material
impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In June 2011, the FASB issued accounting guidance to increase the prominence of OCI in financial statements. The guidance gives
businesses two options for presenting OCI. An OCI statement can be included with the statement of operations, and together the two will comprise
the statement of comprehensive income. Alternatively, businesses can present a separate OCI statement, but that statement must appear
consecutively with the statement of operations within the financial report. The guidance will be effective for interim and annual periods beginning
after December 15, 2011. In October 2011, the FASB tentatively decided to indefinitely defer the provisions to require entities to present the
adjustment of items reclassified from OCI to net income in both net income and OCI. We will adopt the unaffected provisions of OCI presentation
guidance for the second quarter of our fiscal year ending October 31, 2012. The adoption of this guidance will have no impact on our financial
position, results of operations or cash flows. We intend to present net income and other comprehensive income in one continuous statement.

In September 2011, the FASB issued accounting guidance to simplify how an entity tests goodwill for impairment. An entity is allowed an
option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not (greater than 50%) that the fair value of a reporting unit is
less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the two-step quantitative impairment test. An entity is
not required to calculate the fair value of a reporting unit unless the entity determines that it is more likely than not that its fair value is less than its
carrying amount. This guidance, which we early adopted for our goodwill assessment performed for October 31, 2011, is effective for annual and
interim goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011.
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2. Regulatory Matters

Our utility operations are regulated by the NCUC, PSCSC and TRA as to rates, service area, adequacy of service, safety standards,
extensions and abandonment of facilities, accounting and depreciation. We are also regulated by the NCUC as to the issuance of long-term debt
and equity securities.

The NCUC and the PSCSC regulate our gas purchasing practices under a standard of prudence and audit our gas cost accounting practices.
The TRA regulates our gas purchasing practices under a gas supply incentive program which compares our actual costs to market pricing
benchmarks. As part of this jurisdictional oversight, all three states address our gas supply hedging activities. Additionally, North Carolina and
South Carolina allow for recovery of uncollectible gas costs through the PGA. The portion of uncollectibles related to gas costs is recovered
through the deferred account and only the non-gas costs, or margin, portion of uncollectibles is included in base rates and uncollectibles expense.
In Tennessee, to the extent that the gas cost portion of net write-offs for a fiscal year is less than the gas cost portion included in base rates, the
difference would be refunded to customers through the ACA filings; if the difference is greater, there would be a charge to customers through the
ACA filing.

North Carolina Jurisdiction

The North Carolina General Assembly enacted the Clean Water and Natural Gas Critical Needs Act of 1998 which provided for the issuance
of $200 million of general obligation bonds of the state for the purpose of providing grants, loans or other financing for the cost of constructing
natural gas facilities in unserved areas of North Carolina. In 2000, the NCUC issued an order awarding Eastern North Carolina Natural Gas
Company (EasternNC) an exclusive franchise to provide natural gas service to 14 counties in the eastern-most part of North Carolina that had not
been able to obtain gas service because of the relatively small population of those counties and the resulting economic infeasibility of providing
service and granted $38.7 million in state bond funding. In 2001, the NCUC issued an order granting EasternNC an additional $149.6 million, for a
total of $188.3 million. With the 2003 acquisition and subsequent merger of EasternNC into our regulated utility segment, we are required to
provide an accounting of the operational feasibility of this area to the NCUC every two years. Should this operational area become economically
feasible and generate a profit, which we believe is unlikely, we would begin to repay the state bond funding.

The NCUC had allowed EasternNC to defer its operations and maintenance expenses during the first eight years of operation or until the first
rate case order, whichever occurred first, with a maximum deferral of $15 million. The deferred amounts accrued interest at a rate of 8.69% per
annum. In December 2003, the NCUC confirmed that these deferred expenses should be treated as a regulatory asset for future recovery from
customers to the extent they are deemed prudent and proper. As a part of the 2005 general rate case proceeding, deferral ceased on October 31,
2005, and the balance in the deferred account as of June 30, 2005, $7.9 million, including accrued interest, is being amortized over 15 years
beginning November 1, 2005. Under the settlement of the 2008 general rate proceeding, the unamortized balance of the EasternNC deferred
operations and maintenance expenses was $9 million at October 31, 2008. This balance is accruing interest at a rate of 7.84% per annum and is
being amortized over a twelve year period. As of October 31, 2011 and 2010, we had unamortized balances of $7.7 million and $8.3 million,
respectively.
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With the inception of our North Carolina energy conservation program on November 1, 2005, we incurred charges of $6.4 million for the
benefit of residential and commercial customers. The charges consisted of $3.75 million for the funding of conservation programs in North
Carolina, $2.25 million for the reduction of residential and commercial customer rates in North Carolina and $.4 million for interest accruals on the
conservation funding and reduction of customer rates. At October 31, 2010, we had a liability for the conservation programs of $.4 million and no
liability as of October 31, 2011.

We incur certain pipeline integrity management costs in compliance with the Pipeline Safety Improvement Act of 1992 and regulations of the
United States Department of Transportation. The NCUC approved deferral treatment of the operations and maintenance costs applicable to all
incremental expenditures beginning November 1, 2004. Under the settlement of the 2008 general rate proceeding, the pipeline integrity
management costs incurred between July 1, 2005 and June 30, 2008 of $4.6 million were fully amortized over a three-year period beginning
November 1, 2008. The existing regulatory asset treatment for ongoing pipeline integrity management costs continues until another recovery
mechanism is established in a future rate proceeding. The unamortized balance as of October 31, 2011 that is subject to a future rate proceeding is
$8 million.

In North Carolina, our recovery of gas costs is subject to annual gas cost proceedings to determine the prudence of our gas purchases. Costs
have never been disallowed on the basis of prudence.

In February 2010, the NCUC approved our accounting of gas costs for the twelve months ended May 31, 2009, with adjustments agreed to
by us as a result of the North Carolina Public Staff’s audit of the 2009 gas cost review period. We were deemed prudent on our gas purchasing
policies and practices during this review period and allowed 100% recovery.

In January 2011, the NCUC approved our accounting of gas costs for the twelve months ended May 31, 2010, with adjustments agreed to by
us as a result of the North Carolina Public Staff’s audit of the 2010 gas cost review period. We were deemed prudent on our gas purchasing policies
and practices during this review period and allowed 100% recovery.

In August 2011, we filed testimony with the NCUC in support of our gas cost purchasing and accounting practices for the twelve months
ended May 31, 2011. A hearing on this matter was held on October 4, 2011. We are unable to predict the outcome of this proceeding at this time.

Our gas cost hedging plan for North Carolina is designed to provide some level of protection against significant price increases, targets a
percentage range of 22.5% to 45% of annual normalized sales volumes for North Carolina and operates using historical pricing indices that are tied
to future projected gas prices as traded on a national exchange. Unlike South Carolina as discussed below, recovery of costs associated with the
North Carolina hedging plan is not pre-approved by the NCUC, and the costs are treated as gas costs subject to the annual gas cost prudence
review. Any gain or loss recognition under the hedging program is a reduction in or an addition to gas costs, respectively, which, along with any
hedging expenses, are flowed through to North Carolina customers in rates. The gas cost review orders issued February 2010 and January
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2011 found our hedging activities during the review periods to be reasonable and prudent. As part of the February 2010 order, the NCUC approved
an adjustment of $1.1 million related to hedging activity that decreased “Amounts due from customers” as agreed to by us and the North Carolina
Public Staff.

South Carolina Jurisdiction

We currently operate under the Natural Gas Rate Stabilization Act (RSA) of 2005 in South Carolina. If a utility elects to operate under the
RSA, the annual filing will provide that the utility’s rate of return on equity will remain within a 50-basis point band above or below the last
approved allowed rate of return on equity.

In June 2009, we filed with the PSCSC a quarterly monitoring report for the twelve months ended March 31, 2009 and a cost and revenue
study as permitted by the RSA requesting a change in rates from those approved by the PSCSC in the October 2008 order. In October 2009, the
PSCSC issued an order approving a settlement between the Office of Regulatory Staff (ORS), the South Carolina Energy Users Committee
(SCEUC) and us that resulted in a $1.1 million annual increase in margin based on a return on equity of 11.2%, effective November 1, 2009.

In June 2010, we filed with the PSCSC a quarterly monitoring report for the twelve months ended March 31, 2010 and a cost and revenue
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study as permitted by the RSA requesting a change in rates from those approved by the PSCSC in the October 2009 order. In October 2010, the
PSCSC issued an order approving a settlement between the ORS, the SCEUC and us that resulted in a $.75 million annual increase in margin on a
return on equity of 11.3%, effective November 1, 2010.

In June 2011, we filed with the PSCSC a quarterly monitoring report for the twelve months ended March 31, 2011 and a cost and revenue
study as permitted by the RSA requesting a change in rates from those approved by the PSCSC in the October 2010 order. In October 2011, the
PSCSC issued an order approving a settlement between the ORS, the SCEUC and us that resulted in a $3.1 million annual decrease in margin
based on a return on equity of 11.3% and a decrease of $1.9 million in depreciation rates for South Carolina utility plant in service, effective
November 1, 2011.

In South Carolina, our recovery of gas costs is subject to annual gas cost proceedings to determine the prudence of our gas purchases. Costs
have never been disallowed on the basis of prudence.

In August 2009, the PSCSC approved our PGAs and found our gas purchasing policies to be prudent for the twelve months ended March 31,
2009.

In August 2010, the PSCSC approved our PGAs and found our gas purchasing policies to be prudent for the twelve months ended March 31,
2010.

The PSCSC has approved a gas cost hedging plan for the purpose of cost stabilization for South Carolina customers. The plan targets a
percentage range of 22.5% to 45% of annual normalized sales volumes for South Carolina and operates using historical pricing indices tied to
future projected gas prices as traded on a national exchange. All properly accounted for costs incurred in accordance with the plan are deemed to
be prudently incurred and recovered in rates as gas costs. Any gain or loss recognized under the hedging program is a reduction in or an addition
to gas costs, respectively, and flows through to South Carolina customers in rates.
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In February 2011, the ORS requested that the PSCSC temporarily suspend the PSCSC-approved gas hedging programs operated by the
regulated gas utilities in South Carolina due to more moderate market conditions for the cost of natural gas. This suspension of the hedging
program was requested to be effective prospectively upon the issuance of an order by the PSCSC. All existing hedges would continue to be
managed under the current approved hedging programs as gas costs in the annual review of purchased gas costs and gas purchasing policies. In
March 2011, we filed a letter with the PSCSC stating that we believe that it is reasonable and prudent to continue our current hedging program to
provide some degree of price stability for natural gas consumers. We believe that some price volatility will continue to exist in the market due to
unpredictable events. Oral arguments and informational briefings on this matter were heard by the PSCSC in April 2011. In June 2011, the ORS
withdrew its petition for suspension of gas hedging programs. In July 2011, the PSCSC granted the ORS’ motion to withdraw the above mentioned
petition and directed the ORS and the regulated gas utilities in South Carolina to address the prudence of gas hedging activities in annual review
proceedings.

In August 2011, the PSCSC approved our PGAs and found our gas purchasing policies to be prudent for the twelve months ended March 31,
2011. The settlement agreement also stipulated that our hedging program should no longer have a required minimum volume of hedging. At the
PSCSC’s request, the ORS held a public briefing in November 2011 on the issue of how to measure the prudence of hedging programs in future
annual review proceedings with no action taken on the matter.

In October 2009, we filed a petition with the PSCSC requesting approval to offer three energy efficiency programs to residential and
commercial customers at a total annual cost of $.35 million. The proposed programs in South Carolina were designed to promote energy
conservation and efficiency by residential and commercial customers with full ratepayer recovery of program costs through annual RSA filings and
were similar to approved energy efficiency programs in North Carolina. In May 2010, the PSCSC approved the energy efficiency programs on a
three-year experimental basis with equipment rebates on the purchase of high-efficiency natural gas equipment and weatherization assistance for
low-income residential customers.

Tennessee Jurisdiction

In Tennessee, the Tennessee Incentive Plan (TIP) replaced annual prudence reviews under the ACA mechanism in 1996 by benchmarking
gas costs against amounts determined by published market indices and by sharing secondary market (capacity release and off-system sales) activity
performance. In 2007, the TRA modified our TIP to clarify and simplify the calculation of allocating gains and losses to ratepayers and
shareholders by adopting a uniform 75/25 sharing ratio. The TRA also maintained the $1.6 million annual incentive cap for us on gains and losses,
improved the transparency of plan operations by an agreed to request for proposal procedures for asset management transactions and provided for
a triennial review of TIP operations by an independent consultant.
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In December 2008, we filed an annual report for the twelve months ended December 31, 2007 with the TRA that reflected the transactions in
the deferred gas cost account for the ACA mechanism. In April 2009, the TRA staff filed its final audit report, with which we concurred. In
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May 2009, the TRA issued an order adopting all findings from the staff audit. The order included cost of gas adjustments for the calendar year
2007 review period. There was no material impact from these gas cost adjustments on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
We were found to be in compliance with the TRA rules in the use of the ACA mechanism.

In July 2009, we filed an annual report for the twelve months ended December 31, 2008 with the TRA that reflected the transactions in the
deferred gas cost account for the ACA mechanism. In July 2010, in coordination with the TRA Audit Staff, we withdrew the annual report filed in
July 2009 and concurrently filed a revised annual report for the twelve months ended December 31, 2008. There was no material impact from these
gas cost adjustments to our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. In October 2010, the TRA issued its order adopting the findings
of the revised TRA Audit Staff report on this matter, which were in agreement with our revised report.

In December 2010, we filed our report for the eighteen months ended June 30, 2010 with the TRA that reflected the transactions in the
deferred gas cost account for the ACA mechanism. This one-time eighteen month audit period was designed to synchronize the ACA audit year
with the TIP year in order to facilitate the audit process for future periods. In August 2011, the TRA issued an order approving the deferred gas
cost account.

In September 2010, we filed an annual report with the TRA reflecting the shared gas cost savings from gains and losses derived from gas
purchase benchmarking and secondary market transactions for the twelve months ended June 30, 2010 under the TIP. In May 2011, the TRA
issued an order approving our TIP account balances.

In August 2011, we filed an annual report with the TRA reflecting the shared gas cost savings from gains and losses derived from gas
purchase benchmarking and secondary market transactions for the twelve months ended June 30, 2011 under the TIP. We are unable to predict the
outcome of this proceeding at this time.

In September 2011, we filed an annual report for the twelve months ended June 30, 2011 with the TRA that reflected the transactions in the
deferred gas cost account for the ACA mechanism. We are unable to predict the outcome of this proceeding at this time.

In September 2011, we filed a general rate application with the TRA requesting authority for an increase to rates and charges for all
customers to produce overall incremental revenues of $16.7 million annually, or 8.9% above the current annual revenues. In addition, the petition
also requested modifications of the cost allocation and rate designs underlying our existing rates, approval to implement a school-based energy
education program with appropriate cost recovery mechanisms, an amortization of certain regulatory assets and deferred accounts, revised
depreciation rates for plant and changes to the existing service regulations and tariffs. The changes are proposed to be effective March 1, 2012. A
hearing on this matter has been scheduled for the week of January 23, 2012. We are unable to predict the outcome of this proceeding at this time.

In February 2010, we filed a petition with the TRA to adjust the applicable rate for the collection of the Nashville franchise fee from certain
customers. The proposed rate adjustment was calculated to recover the net $2.9 million of under-collected Nashville franchise fee payments as of
May 31, 2009. In April 2010, the TRA passed a motion approving a new Nashville franchise fee rate designed to recover only the net under-
collections that have accrued since June 1, 2005,
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which would deny recovery of $1.5 million for us. In October 2011, the TRA issued an order denying us the recovery of $1.5 million of franchise
fees consistent with its April 2010 motion, and we recorded $1.5 million in operations and maintenance expenses. In November 2011, we filed for
reconsideration, which was granted on November 21, 2011. We are unable to predict the outcome of this proceeding at this time. However, we do
not believe this matter will have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In September 2010, we filed a petition with the TRA requesting deferred accounting treatment for the direct, incremental expenses incurred
as a result of our response to the severe flooding in Nashville in May 2010. The TRA approved our petition in October 2010. The balance in the
deferred account is $1 million as of October 31, 2011 and 2010. We are seeking recovery of these deferred expenses in the general rate application
filed with the TRA in September 2011.
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All Jurisdictions

Due to the seasonal nature of our business, we contract with customers in the secondary market to sell supply and capacity assets when
available. In North Carolina and South Carolina, we operate under sharing mechanisms approved by the NCUC and the PSCSC for secondary
market transactions where 75% of the net margins are flowed through to jurisdictional customers in rates and 25% is retained by us. In Tennessee,
we operate under the amended TIP where gas purchase benchmarking gains and losses are combined with secondary market transaction gains and
losses and shared 75% by customers and 25% by us. Our share of net gains or losses in Tennessee is subject to an overall annual cap of $1.6
million. In all three jurisdictions for the twelve months ended October 31, 2011, we generated $56.1 million of margin from secondary market
activity, $42.1 million of which is allocated to customers as gas cost reductions and $14 million as margin allocated to us. In all three jurisdictions
for the twelve months ended October 31, 2010, we generated $42.8 million of margin from secondary market activity, $32.1 million of which is
allocated to customers as gas cost reductions and $10.7 million as margin allocated to us. In all three jurisdictions for the twelve months ended
October 31, 2009, we generated $46 million of margin from secondary market activity, $34.5 million which is allocated to customers as gas cost
reductions and $11.5 million as margin allocated to us.

We currently have commission approval in all three states that place tighter credit requirements on the retail natural gas marketers that
schedule gas into our system in order to mitigate the risk exposure to the financial condition of the marketers.

3. Earnings Per Share

We compute basic earnings per share (EPS) using the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during each period.
Shares of common stock to be issued under approved incentive compensation plans are contingently issuable shares and are included in our
calculation of fully diluted earnings per share.

A reconciliation of basic and diluted EPS for the years ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 is presented below.
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In thousands except per share amounts   2011    2010    2009  
Net Income   $113,568   $141,954   $122,824 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Average shares of common stock outstanding for basic earnings per share    72,056    72,275    73,171 
Contingently issuable shares under incentive compensation plans    210    250    290 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Average shares of dilutive stock    72,266    72,525    73,461 
    

 

    

 

    

 

Earnings Per Share of Common Stock:       
Basic   $ 1.58   $ 1.96   $ 1.68 
Diluted   $ 1.57   $ 1.96   $ 1.67 

4. Long-Term Debt

All of our long-term debt is unsecured and is issued at fixed rates. Long-term debt as of October 31, 2011 and 2010 is as follows.
 

In thousands   2011    2010  
Senior Notes:     

2.92%, due 2016   $ 40,000   $ —    
8.51%, due 2017    35,000    35,000 
4.24%, due 2021    160,000    —    

Medium-Term Notes:     
6.55%, due 2011    —       60,000 
5.00%, due 2013    100,000    100,000 
6.87%, due 2023    45,000    45,000 
8.45%, due 2024    40,000    40,000 
7.40%, due 2025    55,000    55,000 
7.50%, due 2026    40,000    40,000 
7.95%, due 2029    60,000    60,000 
6.00%, due 2033    100,000    100,000 

Insured Quarterly Notes:     
6.25%, due 2036    —       196,922 

    
 

    
 

Total    675,000    731,922 
Less current maturities    —       60,000 

    
 

    
 

Total   $675,000   $671,922 
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Current maturities for the next five years ending October 31 and thereafter are as follows.
 

In thousands     
2012   $ —    
2013    —    
2014    100,000 
2015    —    
2016    40,000 
Thereafter    535,000 

    
 

Total   $675,000 
    

 

Payments of $.1 million and $.6 million in 2011 and 2010, respectively, were paid to noteholders of the 6.25% insured quarterly notes based
on a redemption right upon the death of the owner of the notes, within specified limitations. We redeemed all of the 6.25% insured quarterly notes
on June 1, 2011, which had an aggregate principal balance of $196.8 million. We retired the balance of $60 million of our 6.55% medium-term
notes and $60 million of our 7.8% medium-term notes in September 2011 and September 2010, respectively, as they became due.

On June 6, 2011, we issued $40 million unsecured senior notes maturing in 2016 at an interest rate of 2.92% and $160 million unsecured
senior notes maturing in 2021 at an interest rate of 4.24%. We used the proceeds from the sale of the senior notes to reduce our short-term
borrowings used to finance the redemption of the 6.25% insured quarterly notes, as well as for other general corporate purposes and working
capital needs.

On July 7, 2011, we filed with the SEC a combined debt and equity shelf registration statement that became effective on the same date.
Unless otherwise specified at the time such securities are offered for sale, the net proceeds from the sale of the securities will be used for general
corporate purposes, including capital expenditures, additions to working capital and advances for our investments in our subsidiaries, and for
repurchases of shares of our common stock. Pending such use, we may temporarily invest any net proceeds that are not applied to the purposes
mentioned above in investment grade securities.

The amount of cash dividends that may be paid on common stock is restricted by provisions contained in certain note agreements under
which long-term debt was issued, with those for the senior notes being the most restrictive. We cannot pay or declare any dividends or make any
other distribution on any class of stock or make any investments in subsidiaries or permit any subsidiary to do any of the above (all of the foregoing
being “restricted payments”), except out of net earnings available for restricted payments. As of October 31, 2011, our retained earnings were not
restricted as the amount available for restricted payments was greater than our actual retained earnings as presented below.
 

In thousands     
Amount available for restricted payments   $605,481 
Retained earnings    550,584 

We are subject to default provisions related to our long-term debt and short-term debt. Since there are cross default provisions in all of our
debt agreements, failure to satisfy any of the default provisions may result in total outstanding issues of debt becoming due. As of October 31,
2011, we are in compliance with all default provisions.
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5. Short-Term Debt Instruments

On January 25, 2011, we replaced our existing $450 million five-year revolving syndicated credit facility with a new $650 million three-year
revolving syndicated credit facility that expires in January 2014. The new facility has an option to expand up to $850 million. We pay an annual
fee of $30,000 plus fifteen basis points for any unused amount up to $650 million. The facility provides a line of credit for letters of credit of $10
million, of which $3.5 million was issued and outstanding at October 31, 2011. The prior five-year revolving syndicated credit facility provided a
line of credit for letters of credit of $5 million, of which $2.7 million was issued and outstanding at October 31, 2010. These letters of credit are
used to guarantee claims from self-insurance under our general and automobile liability policies. The credit facility bears interest based on the 30-
day LIBOR rate plus from 65 to 150 basis points, based on our credit ratings. Amounts borrowed remain outstanding until repaid and do not mature
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daily. Due to the seasonal nature of our business, amounts borrowed can vary significantly during the year.

Our outstanding short-term bank borrowings, as included in “Bank debt” in the consolidated balance sheets, were $331 million, as of
October 31, 2011, under our three-year revolving syndicated credit facility and $242 million, as of October 31, 2010, under our five-year revolving
syndicated credit facility, in LIBOR cost-plus loans at a weighted average interest rate of .94% in 2011 and .50% in 2010. During the twelve
months ended October 31, 2011, short-term borrowings ranged from $73.5 million to $426 million, and interest rates ranged from .51% to 1.17%
when borrowing. Our three-year revolving syndicated credit facility’s financial covenants require us to maintain a ratio of total debt to total
capitalization of no greater than 70%, and our actual ratio was 51% at October 31, 2011.
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6. Capital Stock and Accelerated Share Repurchase

Changes in common stock for the years ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 are as follows.
 

In thousands   Shares   Amount  
Balance, October 31, 2008    73,246  $471,565 

Issued to participants in the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP)    37   875 
Issued to the Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan (DRIP)    565   13,560 
Issued to participants in the Executive Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)    89   2,755 
Issued to participants in the Incentive Compensation Plan (ICP)    29   671 
Shares repurchased under Accelerated Share Repurchase (ASR) agreement    (700)   (17,857) 

    
 

   
 

Balance, October 31, 2009    73,266   471,569 
Issued to ESPP    35   899 
Issued to DRIP    676   17,663 
Issued to ICP    106   2,804 
Shares repurchased under ASR agreement    (1,800)   (47,276) 
Shares repurchased under rescission offer    (1)   (19) 

    
 

   
 

Balance, October 31, 2010    72,282   445,640 
Issued to ESPP    30   870 
Issued to DRIP    657   18,834 
Issued to ICP    149   4,451 
Shares repurchased under ASR agreement    (800)   (23,004) 

    
 

   
 

Balance, October 31, 2011    72,318  $446,791 
    

 

   

 

In June 2004, the Board of Directors approved a Common Stock Open Market Purchase Program that authorized the repurchase of up to three
million shares of currently outstanding shares of common stock. We implemented the program in September 2004. We utilize a broker to
repurchase the shares on the open market, and such shares are cancelled and become authorized but unissued shares available for issuance under
the ESPP, DRIP and ICP.

On December 16, 2005, the Board of Directors approved an increase in the number of shares in this program from three million to six million
to reflect the two-for-one stock split in 2004. The Board also approved on that date an amendment of the Common Stock Open Market Purchase
Program to provide for the repurchase of up to four million additional shares of common stock to maintain our debt-to-equity capitalization ratios
at target levels. These combined actions increased the total authorized share repurchases from three million to ten million shares. The additional
four million shares were referred to as our ASR program. On March 6, 2009, the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to an
additional four million shares under the Common Stock Open Market Purchase Program and the ASR program, which were consolidated.

On January 10, 2011, we entered into an ASR agreement where we purchased 800,000 shares of our common stock from an investment bank
at the closing price that day of $27.79 per share. The settlement and retirement of those shares occurred on January 11, 2011. Total consideration
paid to purchase the shares of $22.2 million was recorded in “Stockholders’ equity” as a reduction in “Common stock” in the consolidated balance
sheets.

As part of the ASR, we simultaneously entered into a forward sale contract with the investment bank that was expected to mature in 48
trading days, or March 18, 2011. Under the terms of the forward sale contract, the investment bank was required to purchase, in the open market,
800,000 shares of our common stock during the term of the contract to fulfill its obligation related to the shares it borrowed from third parties and
sold to us. At settlement, we, at our option, were required to either pay cash or issue registered or unregistered shares of our common stock to the
investment bank if the investment bank’s weighted average purchase price, less a $.10 per
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share discount, was higher than the initial purchase closing price. The investment bank was required to pay us either cash or shares of our common
stock, at our option, if the investment bank’s weighted average price, less a $.10 per share discount, for the shares purchased was lower than the
initial purchase closing price. At settlement on March 21, 2011, we paid cash of $.8 million to the investment bank and recorded this amount in
“Stockholders’ equity” as a reduction of “Common Stock” in the consolidated balance sheets. The $.8 million was the difference between the
investment bank’s weighted average purchase price of $28.8551 per share less a discount of $.10 per share for a settlement price of $28.7551 per
share and the initial purchase closing price of $27.79 per share multiplied by 800,000 shares.

As of October 31, 2011, our shares of common stock were reserved for issuance as follows.
 

In thousands     
ESPP    273 
DRIP    1,431 
LTIP    901 
ICP    1,171 

    
 

Total    3,776 
    

 

In late 2009, we discovered that we had inadvertently sold more shares under our DRIP than were registered with the SEC and authorized by
our Board of Directors for issuance under the DRIP as well as having an expired registration statement. To correct these issuances, our Board of
Directors ratified the authorization and issuance of the excess number of shares, we filed a registration statement in November 2009 covering the
sale and issuance of an additional 2.75 million shares of our common stock under our DRIP, and we filed a registration statement in February
2010, which offered to rescind the purchase of the shares sold under the DRIP between December 1, 2008 and November 16, 2009 and registered
all previously unregistered shares issued under the DRIP during that period. All related unauthorized shares and related proceeds received by us
and the repurchase of rescinded shares and consideration paid were immaterial. We reported these events to the relevant regulatory authorities,
including the SEC and the NCUC. We have not been subjected to enforcement actions, penalties or fines by these regulatory authorities.

7. Financial Instruments and Related Fair Value

Derivative Assets and Liabilities under Master Netting Arrangements

We maintain brokerage accounts to facilitate transactions that support our gas cost hedging plans. The accounting guidance related to
derivatives and hedging requires that we use a gross presentation, based on our election, for the fair value amounts of our derivative instruments
and the fair value of the right to reclaim cash collateral. We use long position gas purchase options to provide some level of protection for our
customers in the event of significant commodity price increases. As of October 31, 2011 and 2010, we had long gas purchase options providing
total coverage of 38.1 million dekatherms and 33.5 million dekatherms, respectively. The long gas purchase options held at October 31, 2011 are
for the period from December 2011 through October 2012.
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Fair Value Measurements

We use financial instruments to mitigate commodity price risk for our customers. We also have marketable securities that are held in a rabbi
trust established for certain of our deferred compensation plans. In developing our fair value measurements of these financial instruments, we
utilize market data or assumptions about risk and the risks inherent in the inputs to the valuation technique. Fair value refers to the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants in the market in which the entity
transacts. We classify fair value balances based on the observance of those inputs into the fair value hierarchy levels as set forth in the fair value
accounting guidance and fully described in “Fair Value Measurements” in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

The following table sets forth, by level of the fair value hierarchy, our financial assets and liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on
a recurring basis as of October 31, 2011 and 2010. Financial assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input
that is significant to the fair value measurement. Our assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires
judgment and may affect the valuation of fair value assets and liabilities and their consideration within the fair value hierarchy levels. We have had
no transfers between any level during the years ended October 31, 2011 and 2010.
 

Recurring Fair Value Measurements as of October 31, 2011  
Significant
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In thousands   

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets

(Level 1)    

Other
Observable

Inputs
(Level 2)    

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)    

Total
Carrying

Value  
Assets:         
Derivatives held for distribution operations   $ 2,772   $ —      $ —      $2,772 
Debt and equity securities held as trading securities:         

Money markets    217    —       —       217 
Mutual funds    1,274    —       —       1,274 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total fair value assets   $ 4,263   $ —      $ —      $4,263 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
Recurring Fair Value Measurements as of October 31, 2010  

In thousands   

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets

(Level 1)    

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)    

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)    

Total
Carrying

Value  
Assets:         
Derivatives held for distribution operations   $ 2,819   $ —      $ —      $2,819 
Debt and equity securities held as trading securities:         

Money markets    254    —       —       254 
Mutual funds    748    —       —       748 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total fair value assets   $ 3,821   $ —      $ —      $3,821 
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Our utility segment derivative instruments are used in accordance with programs filed with or approved by the NCUC, the PSCSC and the
TRA to hedge the impact of market fluctuations in natural gas prices. These derivative instruments are accounted for at fair value each reporting
period. In accordance with regulatory requirements, the net costs and the gains and losses related to these derivatives are reflected in purchased gas
costs and ultimately passed through to customers through our PGA procedures. In accordance with accounting provisions for rate-regulated
activities, the unrecovered amounts related to these instruments are reflected as a regulatory asset or liability, as appropriate, in “Amounts due to
customers” or “Amounts due from customers” in the consolidated balance sheets. These derivative instruments reflect exchange-traded derivative
contracts. Exchange-traded contracts are generally based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets and are classified within Level 1.

Trading securities include assets in a rabbi trust established for our deferred compensation plans and are included in “Marketable securities,
at fair value” in the consolidated balance sheets. Securities classified within Level 1 include funds held in money market and mutual funds which
are highly liquid and are actively traded on the exchanges.

In developing the fair value of our long-term debt, we use a discounted cash flow technique, consistently applied, that incorporates a
developed discount rate using long-term debt similarly rated by credit rating agencies combined with the U.S. Treasury bench mark with
consideration given to maturities, redemption terms and credit ratings similar to our debt issuances. The carrying amount and fair value of our
long-term debt, including the current portion, are shown below.
 

In thousands   
Carrying
Amount    Fair  Value  

As of October 31, 2011   $675,000   $831,323 
As of October 31, 2010    731,922    890,277 

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures

The costs of our financial price hedging options for natural gas and all other costs related to hedging activities of our regulated gas costs are
recorded in accordance with our regulatory tariffs approved by our state regulatory commissions, and thus are not accounted for as hedging
instruments under derivative accounting standards. As required by the accounting guidance, the fair value amounts are presented on a gross basis
and do not reflect any netting of asset and liability amounts or cash collateral amounts under master netting arrangements.
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The following table presents the fair value and balance sheet classification of our financial options for natural gas as of October 31, 2011 and
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2010.
 

Fair Value of Derivative Instruments  

In thousands   
Fair Value

October 31, 2011   
Fair Value

October 31, 2010 
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments under Derivative Accounting Standards:     
Asset Financial Instruments     

Current Assets - Gas purchase derivative assets (December 2011 - October 2012)   $ 2,772   
    

 

  

Current Assets - Gas purchase derivative assets (December 2010 - November 2011)     $ 2,819 
      

 

We purchase natural gas for our regulated operations for resale under tariffs approved by state regulatory commissions. We recover the cost
of gas purchased for regulated operations through PGA procedures. Our risk management policies allow us to use financial instruments to hedge
commodity price risks, but not for speculative trading. The strategy and objective of our hedging programs is to use these financial instruments to
provide some level of protection against significant price increases. Accordingly, the operation of the hedging programs on the regulated utility
segment as a result of the use of these financial derivatives generally has no earnings impact.

The following table presents the impact that financial instruments not designated as hedging instruments under derivative accounting
standards would have had on our consolidated statements of income for the twelve months ended October 31, 2011 and 2010, absent the regulatory
treatment under our approved PGA procedures.
 

In thousands   
Amount of Loss Recognized
on Derivative Instruments    

Amount of Loss Deferred
Under PGA Procedures    

Location of Loss
Recognized through

PGA Procedures

   
Twelve Months Ended

October 31    
Twelve Months Ended

October 31     
   2011    2010    2011    2010     
Gas purchase options   $ 10   $ 62,516   $ 10   $ 62,516   Cost of Gas

In Tennessee, the cost of gas purchase options and all other costs related to hedging activities up to 1% of total annual gas costs are approved
for recovery under the terms and conditions of our TIP approved by the TRA. In South Carolina, the costs of gas purchase options are subject to
the terms and conditions of our gas hedging plan approved by the PSCSC. In North Carolina, costs associated with our hedging program are treated
as gas costs subject to an annual cost review proceeding by the NCUC.

Risk Management

Our financial derivative instruments do not contain material credit-risk-related or other contingent features that could require us to make
accelerated payments.

We seek to identify, assess, monitor and manage risk in accordance with defined policies and procedures under an Enterprise Risk
Management program. In addition, we have an Energy Price Risk Management Committee that monitors compliance with our hedging programs,
policies and procedures.
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8. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

Leases

We lease certain buildings, land and equipment for use in our operations under noncancelable operating leases. We account for these leases
by recognizing the future minimum lease payments as expense on a straight-line basis over the respective minimum lease terms under current
accounting guidance.

Operating lease payments for the years ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 are as follows.
 

In thousands   2011    2010    2009  
Operating lease payments   $4,496   $5,303     $6,173 

Future minimum lease obligations for the next five years ending October 31 and thereafter are as follows.
 

In thousands     
2012   $ 3,560 
2013    4,068 
2014    3,941 
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2015    3,766 
2016    3,720 
Thereafter    35,424 

    
 

Total   $54,479 
    

 

Long-term contracts

We routinely enter into long-term gas supply commodity and capacity commitments and other agreements that commit future cash flows to
acquire services we need in our business. These commitments include pipeline and storage capacity contracts and gas supply contracts to provide
service to our customers and telecommunication and information technology contracts and other purchase obligations. The time periods for
pipeline and storage capacity contracts range from one to twenty-one years. The time periods for gas supply contracts range from one to under two
years. The time periods for the telecommunications and technology outsourcing contracts, maintenance fees for hardware and software
applications, usage fees, local and long-distance costs and wireless service range from one to three years. Other purchase obligations consist
primarily of commitments for pipeline products, vehicles and contractors.

Certain storage and pipeline capacity contracts require the payment of demand charges that are based on rates approved by the Federal Energy
Regulatory Commission (FERC) in order to maintain our right to access the natural gas storage or the pipeline capacity on a firm basis during the
contract term. The demand charges that are incurred in each period are recognized in the consolidated statements of income as part of gas
purchases and included in cost of gas.
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As of October 31, 2011, future unconditional purchase obligations for the next five years ending October 31 and thereafter are as follows.
 

In thousands   

Pipeline and
Storage

Capacity    
Gas

Supply    

Telecommunications
and Information

Technology    Other    Total  
2012   $151,456   $6,974   $ 11,055   $5,912   $175,397 
2013    100,637    11    6,855    —       107,503 
2014    80,603    —       6,108    —       86,711 
2015    73,059    —       1,958    —       75,017 
2016    57,154    —       —       —       57,154 
Thereafter    336,767    —       —       —       336,767 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $799,676   $6,985   $ 25,976   $5,912   $838,549 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Legal

We have only routine litigation in the normal course of business. We do not expect any of these routine litigation matters to have a material
effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Letters of Credit

We use letters of credit to guarantee claims from self-insurance under our general and automobile liability policies. We had $3.5 million in
letters of credit that were issued and outstanding at October 31, 2011. Additional information concerning letters of credit is included in Note 5 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Environmental Matters

Our three regulatory commissions have authorized us to utilize deferral accounting in connection with environmental costs. Accordingly, we
have established regulatory assets for actual environmental costs incurred and for estimated environmental liabilities recorded.

In October 1997, we entered into a settlement with a third party with respect to nine manufactured gas plant (MGP) sites that we have
owned, leased or operated that released us from any investigation and remediation liability. Although no such claims are pending or, to our
knowledge, threatened, the settlement did not cover any third-party claims for personal injury, death, property damage and diminution of property
value or natural resources.

There are four other MGP sites located in Hickory and Reidsville, North Carolina, Nashville, Tennessee and Anderson, South Carolina that
we have owned, leased or operated. Remediation work on our Reidsville site under our North Carolina Department of Environment and Natural
Resources (NCDENR) approved plan is scheduled to be completed in fiscal 2012.
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As part of a voluntary agreement with the NCDENR, we conducted and completed the soil and groundwater remediation for the Hickory,
North Carolina MGP site. The soil and groundwater remediation report was approved by the NCDENR. We continue to conduct periodic
groundwater monitoring at this site in accordance with our site remediation plan. We have incurred $1.4 million of remediation costs on this site
through October 31, 2011.

In November 2008, we submitted our final report of the remediation of the Nashville MGP holding tank site to the Tennessee Department of
Environment and Conservation (TDEC). Remediation has been completed, and a consent order imposing usage restrictions on the property was
approved and signed by the TDEC in June 2010. The public comment period has ended, and we continue to conduct semi-annual groundwater
monitoring at the site per the final consent order. We have incurred $1.5 million of remediation costs through October 31, 2011.

In connection with the 2003 North Carolina Natural Gas Corporation (NCNG) acquisition, several MGP sites owned by NCNG were
transferred to a wholly owned subsidiary of Progress Energy, Inc. (Progress) prior to closing. Progress has complete responsibility for performing
all of NCNG’s remediation obligations to conduct testing and clean-up at these sites, including both the costs of such testing and clean-up and the
implementation of any affirmative remediation obligations that NCNG has related to the sites. Progress’ responsibility does not include any third-
party claims for personal injury, death, property damage, and diminution of property value or natural resources. We know of no such pending or
threatened claims.

During 2008, we became aware of and began investigating soil and groundwater molecular sieve contamination concerns at our Huntersville
LNG facility. The molecular sieve and the related contaminated soil were removed and properly disposed, and in June 2010, we received a
determination letter from the NCDENR that no further soil remediation would be required for the Huntersville LNG molecular sieve issue. In
September 2011, we received a letter from the NCDENR indicating their desire to enter into an Administrative Consent Order (ACO) addressing
the remaining groundwater issues at the site and imposing a fine in an amount that will be less than $100,000. We are currently negotiating the
ACO. Plans to investigate the extent of the groundwater contamination related to the sieve burial are being developed and are tentatively scheduled
to be implemented in the first quarter of our fiscal year 2012. The Huntersville LNG facility also was originally coated with lead-based paint. As a
precautionary measure to ensure that no lead contamination occurs, removal of lead-based paint from the site was initiated in spring 2010. We
have incurred $3.2 million to remediate the Huntersville LNG site through October 31, 2011. Additional facilities at our Huntersville LNG plant
site are being evaluated for lead-based paint removal with work tentatively scheduled for our fiscal year 2012.

During the twelve months ended October 31, 2011, we assessed the cost to remove lead-based paint at our Nashville LNG facility. As of
October 31, 2011, our estimate of the total cost to remediate the property is $.5 million, and we have incurred $.4 million through October 31,
2011. This work is scheduled to be completed in our fiscal year 2012.

We are transitioning away from owning and maintaining our own petroleum underground storage tanks (USTs). Our Charlotte, North
Carolina district continues to operate USTs. During 2011, our Greenville, South Carolina and Greensboro and Salisbury, North Carolina districts
had their USTs removed, and we do not anticipate significant environmental remediation with respect to the removal process. As of October 31,
2011, our estimated undiscounted environmental liability for USTs for which we retain remediation responsibility is $.3 million.
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In July 2005, we were notified by the NCDENR that we were named as a potentially responsible party for alleged environmental issues
associated with an UST site in Clemmons, North Carolina. We owned and operated this site from March 1986 until June 1988 in connection with a
non-utility venture. There have been at least four owners of the site. We contractually transferred any clean-up costs to the new owner of the site
when we sold this venture in June 1988. Our current estimate of the cost to remediate the site is approximately $144,540. It is unclear how many of
the former owners may ultimately be held liable for this site; however, based on the uncertainty of the ultimate liability, we established a non-
regulated environmental liability for $36,135, one-fourth of the estimated cost.

One of our operating districts has coatings containing asbestos on some of their pipelines. We have educated our employees on the hazards of
asbestos and implemented procedures for removing these coatings from our pipelines when we must excavate and expose small portions of the
pipeline. Lead-based paint is being removed at multiple LNG facilities that we own. Employees have been trained on the hazards of lead exposure,
and we have engaged independent environmental contractors to remove and dispose of the lead-based paint at these facilities.

As of October 31, 2011, our estimated undiscounted environmental liability totaled $2.8 million, and consisted of $1.5 million for the MGP
sites for which we retain remediation responsibility, $1 million for the LNG facilities and $.3 million for USTs not yet remediated.
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As of October 31, 2011, our regulatory assets for unamortized environmental costs totaled $9.6 million. We sought recovery of $2 million in
the pending Tennessee rate case. We will seek recovery of the remaining balance in future rate proceedings.

Further evaluation of the MGP, LNG and UST sites and removal of lead-based paint could significantly affect recorded amounts; however,
we believe that the ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

9. Employee Benefit Plans

Effective January 1, 2008, we amended our noncontributory defined benefit pension plan, other postretirement employee benefits (OPEB)
plan and our 401(k) plans. These amendments applied to nonunion employees and employees covered by the Carolinas bargaining unit contract.
Effective January 1, 2009, these same amendments applied to all employees, including those covered by the Nashville, Tennessee bargaining unit
contract.

Under GAAP, we are required to recognize all obligations related to defined benefit pension and OPEB plans and quantify the plans’ funding
status as an asset or liability on our consolidated balance sheets. In accordance with accounting guidance, we measure the plans’ assets and
obligations that determine our funded status as of the end of our fiscal year, October 31. We are required to recognize as a component of OCI the
changes in the funded status that occurred during the year that are not recognized as part of net periodic benefit cost under the authoritative
guidance; however, in 2006, we obtained regulatory treatment from the NCUC, the PSCSC and the TRA to record the amount that would have
been recorded in accumulated OCI as a regulatory asset or liability as the future recovery of pension and OPEB costs is probable. To date, our
regulators have allowed future recovery of our pension and OBEB costs. Our plans’ assets are required to be accounted for at fair value. For the
impact of this regulatory treatment, see the following table of actuarial plan information that specifies the amounts not yet recognized as a
component of cost and recognized as a regulatory asset or liability.
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Pension Benefits

We have a noncontributory, tax-qualified defined benefit pension plan (qualified pension plan) for our eligible employees. A defined benefit
plan specifies the amount of benefit that an eligible participant eventually will receive upon retirement using information about that participant. An
employee became eligible on the January 1 or July 1 following either the date on which he or she attained age 30 or attained age 21 and completed
1,000 hours of service during the 12-month period commencing on the employment date. Plan benefits are generally based on credited years of
service and the level of compensation during the five consecutive years of the last ten years prior to retirement or termination during which the
participant received the highest compensation. Our policy is to fund the plan in an amount not in excess of the amount that is deductible for income
tax purposes. Effective January 1, 2008, the qualified pension plan was amended for all employees not covered by the bargaining unit contract in
Nashville, Tennessee to close the plan to employees hired after December 31, 2007 and to modify how benefits are accrued in the future for
existing employees. Employees hired prior to January 1, 2008 continue to participate in the amended traditional qualified pension plan. Employees
are vested after five years of service and can be credited with up to a total of 35 years of service. When a vested employee leaves the company, his
benefit payment will be calculated as the greater of the accrued benefit as of December 31, 2007 under the old formula plus the accrued benefit
under the new formula for years of service after December 31, 2007, or the benefit for all years of service up to 35 years under the new formula.
These amendments were effective on January 1, 2009 for employees covered by the bargaining unit contract in Nashville, Tennessee.

The investment objectives of the qualified pension plan are oriented to meet both the current ongoing and future commitments to the
participants and designed to grow at an acceptable rate of return for the risks permitted under the investment policy guidelines. Assets are
structured to provide for both short-term and long-term needs and to meet the objectives of the qualified pension plan as specified by the Benefits
Committee of the Board of Directors.

Our primary investment objective of the qualified pension plan is to generate sufficient assets to meet plan liabilities. The plan’s assets will
therefore be invested to maximize long-term returns in a manner that is consistent with the plan’s liabilities, cash flow requirements and risk
tolerance. The plan’s liabilities are defined in terms of participant salaries. Given the nature of these liabilities and recognizing the long-term
benefits of investing in return-generating assets, the qualified pension plan seeks to invest in a diversified portfolio to:
 

 •  Achieve full funding over the longer term, and
 

 •  Control year-to-year fluctuations in pension expense that is created by asset and liability volatility.

We consider the historical long-term return experience of our assets, the current and targeted allocation of our plan assets and the expected
long-term rates of return. Investment advisors assist us in deriving expected long-term rates of return. These rates are generally based on a 20-year
horizon for various asset classes, our expected investments of plan assets and active asset management instead of a passive investment strategy of
an index fund.
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The investment philosophy of the qualified pension plan is to maintain a balanced portfolio which is diversified across asset classes. The
portfolio is primarily composed of equity and fixed income investments in order to provide diversification as to issuers, economic sectors, markets
and investment instruments. Risk and quality are viewed in the context of the diversification requirements of the aggregate portfolio. We measure
and monitor investment risk on an ongoing basis through quarterly investment portfolio reviews, annual liability measurements and periodic
asset/liability studies. We do not have a concentration of assets in a single entity, industry, country, commodity or class of investment fund.

The qualified pension plan maintains a 45% target allocation to fixed income securities, including U.S. treasuries, corporate bonds, high
yield bonds, asset-backed securities and derivatives. The derivatives must be fully collateralized so that they either hedge an existing position or
there is a cash position for an equivalent value of the underlying principal. No leveraged position greater than 10% within the fixed income
portfolio can be taken with derivatives, and the aggregate risk exposure of the plan can be no greater than that which could be achieved without
using derivatives. The qualified pension plan maintains a 35% target allocation to equities, including exposure to large cap growth, large cap value
and small cap domestic equity securities, as well as exposure to international equity. There is a 5% target allocation to real estate in a diversified
global real estate investment trust (REIT) fund. The remaining 15% target allocation is for investments in other types of funds, including
commodities, hedge funds and private equity funds that follow several diversified strategies.

Employees hired or rehired after December 31, 2007 (or December 31, 2008 for employees covered by the bargaining unit contract in
Nashville, Tennessee) cannot participate in the amended traditional pension plan but are participants in the Money Purchase Pension (MPP) plan, a
defined contribution pension plan that allows the employee to direct the investments and assume the risk of investment returns. A defined
contribution plan specifies the amount of the employer’s annual contribution to individual participant accounts established for the retirement
benefit. Eligible employees who have completed 30 days of continuous service and have attained age 18 are eligible to participate. Under the MPP
plan, we annually deposit a percentage of each participant’s pay into an account of the MPP plan. This contribution equals 4% of the participant’s
compensation plus an additional 4% of compensation above the social security wage base up to the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) compensation
limit. The participant is vested in this plan after three years of service. During the year ended October 31, 2011, we contributed $.3 million to the
MPP plan.

OPEB Plan

We provide certain postretirement health care and life insurance benefits to eligible retirees. The liability associated with such benefits is
funded in irrevocable trust funds that can only be used to pay the benefits. Employees are first eligible to retire and receive these benefits at age 55
with ten or more years of service after the age of 45. Employees who met this requirement in 1993 or who retired prior to 1993 are in a
“grandfathered” group for whom we pay the full cost of the retiree’s coverage. Retirees not in the grandfathered group have 80% of the cost of
retiree coverage paid by us, subject to certain annual contribution limits. Retirees are responsible for the full cost of dependent coverage. Effective
January 1, 2008 (January 1, 2009 for new employees covered under the bargaining unit contract in Nashville, Tennessee), new employees have to
complete ten years of service after age 50 to be eligible for benefits, and no benefits are provided to those employees after age 65 when they are
automatically eligible for Medicare benefits to
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cover health costs. Our OPEB plan includes a defined dollar benefit to pay the premiums for Medicare Part D. Employees who meet the eligibility
requirements to retire also receive a life insurance benefit. For employees who retire after July 1, 2005, this benefit is $15,000. The life insurance
amount for employees who retired prior to this date was calculated as a percentage of their basic life insurance prior to retirement.

OPEB plan assets are comprised of mutual funds within a 401(h) and Voluntary Employees’ Beneficiary Association trusts. The investment
philosophy is the same as the qualified pension plan as discussed above. We target an OPEB allocation of 45% to fixed income securities,
including U.S. treasuries, corporate bonds, high yield bonds and asset-backed securities. The OPEB plan maintains a 47% target allocation to
equities, which includes exposure to large cap growth, large cap value and small cap domestic equity, as well as exposure to international equity.
The OPEB plan maintains a 5% target allocation to real estate in a diversified global REIT fund and a 3% target allocation to cash. We do not have
a concentration of assets in a single entity, industry, country, commodity or class of investment fund.

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plans

We have pension liabilities related to supplemental executive retirement plans (SERPs) for certain former employees, non-employee
directors or the surviving spouse. There are no assets related to these SERPs, and no additional benefits accrue to the participants. Payments to the
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participants are made from operating funds during the year. These nonqualified plans are presented below.

On September 4, 2008, the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors terminated a former SERP effective October 31, 2008. The
supplemental retirement benefit was replaced with a non-qualified defined contribution restoration plan (DCR plan), effective January 1, 2009.
Benefits payable under the new plan are informally funded through a rabbi trust with a bank as the trustee. We contribute 13% of the total cash
compensation (base salary, short-term incentive and MVP incentive) that exceeds the IRS compensation limit to the DCR plan account of each
executive. An additional one-time contribution was made for all eligible officers in January 2009 equal to the greater of:
 

 •  13% of base salary paid in November 2008 and December 2008 (to the extent that calendar year-to-date base salary exceeded the 2008
annual limit), or

 

 •  Two monthly premiums (without adjustment for taxes) under the former SERP.

In addition, an opening balance that totaled $.3 million was established for four Vice Presidents to compensate them for the loss of future
benefits under the new plan. Participants may not contribute to the DCR plan. Vesting under the DCR plan is five-year cliff vesting, including
service prior to adoption, of annual company contributions, and prospective five-year cliff vesting for the opening balances of the four Vice
Presidents. If the officer severs employment before the expiration of the relevant five-year period, he or she receives nothing from that portion of
the DCR plan. Participants in the DCR plan may provide instructions to us for the deemed investment of their plan accounts. Distribution will
occur upon separation of service or death of the participant. The insurance portion of the SERP benefit was maintained in the form of new term life
insurance as discussed below.
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Also on September 4, 2008, the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors approved a voluntary deferred compensation plan,
effective January 1, 2009, for the benefit of all officers and director-level employees. Benefits under this plan, known as the Voluntary Deferral
Plan, are also informally funded through a rabbi trust with a bank as the trustee. There are no company contributions to the Voluntary Deferral
Plan. Participants may defer up to 50% of base salary with elections made by December 31 prior to the upcoming calendar year, and up to 95% of
annual incentive pay with elections made by April 30. Vesting is immediate and deferrals are held in the rabbi trust. Participants may provide
instructions to us for the deemed investment of their plan accounts. Distributions can be made from the Voluntary Deferral Plan on a specified date
that is at least two years from the date of deferral, on separation of service or upon death.

The funding to the DCR plan accounts for the years ended October 31, 2011 and 2010, and the amounts recorded as liabilities for these
deferred compensation plans as of October 31, 2011 and 2010 are presented below.
 

In thousands   2011    2010  
Funding   $ 352   $ 444 
Liability:     

Current    52    5 
Noncurrent    1,766    1,293 

We provide term life insurance policies for officers at the vice president level and above who were participants in the former SERP that
terminated on October 31, 2008; the level of the insurance benefit is dependent upon the position of the officer. These life insurance policies are
owned exclusively by each officer. Premiums on these policies are paid and expensed, as grossed up for taxes to the individual officer. Beginning
on December 1, 2008, we provide a term life insurance benefit equal to $200,000 to all officers and director-level employees for which we bear the
cost of the policies. The cost of these premiums is presented below.
 

In thousands   2011   2010   2009 
Term life policies of former SERP officers   $56   $57   $59 
Officers and director-level employees    24    24    20 

Actuarial Plan Information

A reconciliation of changes in the plans’ benefit obligations and fair value of assets for the years ended October 31, 2011 and 2010, and a
statement of the funded status and the amounts reflected in the consolidated balance sheets for the years ended October 31, 2011 and 2010 are
presented below.
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   Qualified Pension   Nonqualified Pension   Other Benefits  
In thousands   2011   2010   2011   2010   2011   2010  
Accumulated benefit obligation at year end   $205,159  $182,822  $ 5,219  $ 5,039   N/A    N/A  

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Change in projected benefit obligation:        
Obligation at beginning of year   $211,003  $195,329  $ 5,039  $ 4,828  $31,919  $ 35,523 
Service cost    8,508   8,069   45   38   1,398   1,337 
Interest cost    11,024   10,898   209   243   1,495   1,906 
Plan amendments    —      —      290   —      —      —    
Actuarial (gain) loss    16,896   7,549   130   420   (327)   (3,769) 
Participant contributions    —      —      —      —      898   883 
Administrative expenses    (391)   (306)   —      —      —      —    
Benefit payments    (10,408)   (10,536)   (494)   (490)   (3,483)   (3,961) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Obligation at end of year   $236,632  $211,003  $ 5,219  $ 5,039  $31,900  $ 31,919 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Change in fair value of plan assets:        
Fair value at beginning of year   $228,345  $184,277  $ —     $ —     $21,636  $ 19,278 
Actual return on plan assets    19,965   32,910   —      —      792   2,841 
Employer contributions    22,000   22,000   494   490   2,202   2,595 
Participant contributions    —      —      —      —      898   883 
Administrative expenses    (391)   (306)   —      —      —      —    
Benefit payments    (10,408)   (10,536)   (494)   (490)   (3,483)   (3,961) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Fair value at end of year   $259,511  $228,345  $ —     $ —     $22,045  $ 21,636 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Noncurrent assets   $ 22,879  $ 17,342  $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —    
Current liabilities    —      —      (517)   (517)   —      —    
Noncurrent liabilities    —      —      (4,702)   (4,522)   (9,855)   (10,283) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net amount recognized   $ 22,879  $ 17,342  $(5,219)  $(5,039)  $ (9,855)  $(10,283) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Amounts Not Yet Recognized as a Component of Cost and Recognized
in a Deferred        

Regulatory Account:        
Unrecognized transition obligation   $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ (1,334)  $ (2,001) 
Unrecognized prior service (cost) credit    21,638   23,836   (358)   (88)   —      —    
Unrecognized actuarial loss    (99,653)   (85,661)   (941)   (852)   (424)   (9) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Regulatory asset    (78,015)   (61,825)   (1,299)   (940)   (1,758)   (2,010) 
Cumulative employer contribution in excess of cost    100,894   79,167   (3,920)   (4,099)   (8,097)   (8,273) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net amount recognized   $ 22,879  $ 17,342  $(5,219)  $(5,039)  $ (9,855)  $(10,283) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

In 2006 with the implementation of accounting guidance for employers’ accounting for defined benefit pension and other postretirement
plans, the NCUC, the PSCSC and the TRA approved our request to place certain defined benefit postretirement obligations in a deferred regulatory
account instead of OCI as presented above. The regulators have allowed future recovery of our pension and OPEB costs to this date.

Net periodic benefit cost for the years ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 includes the following components.
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   Qualified Pension   Nonqualified Pension   Other Benefits  
In thousands   2011   2010   2009   2011   2010   2009   2011   2010   2009  
Service cost   $ 8,508  $ 8,069  $ 5,733  $ 45  $ 38  $ 25  $ 1,398  $ 1,337  $ 885 
Interest cost    11,024   10,898   11,240   209   243   325   1,495   1,906   2,267 
Expected return on plan assets    (20,608)   (18,773)   (16,755)   —      —      —      (1,534)   (1,381)   (1,104) 
Amortization of transition obligation    —      —      —      —      —      —      667   667   667 
Amortization of prior service cost (credit)    (2,198)   (2,198)   (2,198)   20   20   20   —      —      —    
Amortization of actuarial loss (gain)    3,547   1,998   —      41   9   (20)   —      236   —    

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net periodic benefit (income) cost    273   (6)   (1,980)   315   310   350   2,026   2,765   2,715 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Other changes in plan assets and benefit
obligation recognized through regulatory
asset or liability:           
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Prior service cost    —      —      —      290   —      —      —      —      —    
Net loss (gain)    17,539   (6,587)   39,631   130   420   923   415   (5,229)   6,464 

Amounts recognized as a component of net
periodic benefit cost:           

Transition obligation    —      —      —      —      —      —      (667)   (667)   (667) 
Amortization of net (loss) gain    (3,547)   (1,998)   —      (41)   (9)   20   —      (236)   —    
Prior service (cost) credit    2,198   2,198   2,198   (20)   (20)   (20)   —      —      —    

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total recognized in regulatory asset (liability)    16,190   (6,387)   41,829   359   391   923   (252)   (6,132)   5,797 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost
and regulatory asset (liability)   $ 16,463  $ (6,393)  $ 39,849  $674  $701  $1,273  $ 1,774  $(3,367)  $ 8,512 

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

The 2012 estimated amortization of the following items, which are recorded as a regulatory asset or liability instead of accumulated OCI
discussed above, and expected refunds for our plans are as follows.
 

In thousands   Qualified Pension  Nonqualified Pension   Other Benefits 
Amortization of transition obligation   $ —     $ —      $ 667 
Amortization of unrecognized prior service cost

(credit)    (2,198)   81    —    
Amortization of unrecognized actuarial loss    5,478   49    —    
Refunds expected    3,280   130    667 

The discount rate has been separately determined for each plan by projecting the plan’s cash flows and developing a zero-coupon spot rate
yield curve using non-arbitrage pricing and Moody’s Investors Service’s AA or better-rated non-callable bonds that produces similar results to a
hypothetical bond portfolio. The discount rate can vary from plan year to plan year. As of October 31, 2011, the benchmark by plan was as
follows.
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Pension plan    4.67% 
NCNG SERP    4.01% 
Directors’ SERP    4.26% 
Piedmont SERP    3.50% 
OPEB    4.36% 

Equity market performance has a significant effect on our market-related value of plan assets. In determining the market-related value of
plan assets, we use the following methodology: The asset gain or loss is determined each year by comparing the fund’s actual return to the
expected return, based on the disclosed expected return on investment assumption. Such asset gain or loss is then recognized ratably over a five-
year period. Thus, the market-related value of assets as of year end is determined by adjusting the market value of assets by the portion of the prior
five years’ gains or losses that has not yet been recognized, meaning that 20% of the prior five years’ asset gains and losses are recognized each
year. This method has been applied consistently in all years presented in the consolidated financial statements.

We amortize unrecognized prior-service cost over the average remaining service period for active employees. We amortize the unrecognized
transition obligation over the average remaining service period for active employees expected to receive benefits under the plan as of the date of
transition. We amortize gains and losses in excess of 10% of the greater of the benefit obligation and the market-related value of assets over the
average remaining service period for active employees. The method of amortization in all cases is straight-line.

The weighted average assumptions used in the measurement of the benefit obligation as of October 31, 2011 and 2010 are presented below.
 
   Qualified Pension   Nonqualified Pension   Other Benefits  
   2011   2010   2011   2010   2011   2010  
Discount rate    4.67%   5.47%   4.10%   4.37%   4.36%   4.85% 
Rate of compensation increase    3.78%   3.87%   N/A    N/A    N/A    N/A  

The weighted average assumptions used to determine the net periodic benefit cost as of October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 are presented
below.
 
   Qualified Pension   Nonqualified Pension  
   2011   2010   2009   2011   2010   2009  
Discount rate    5.47%   5.99%   8.15%   4.37%   5.28%   8.46% 
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Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets    8.00%   8.00%   8.00%   N/A    N/A    N/A  
Rate of compensation increase    3.87%   3.92%   3.97%   N/A    N/A    N/A  
 

   Other Benefits  
   2011   2010   2009  
Discount rate    4.85%   5.58%   8.50% 
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets    8.00%   8.00%   8.00% 
Rate of compensation increase    N/A    N/A    N/A  

We anticipate that we will contribute the following amounts to our plans in 2012.
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In thousands     
Qualified pension plan   $ —    
Nonqualified pension plans    517 
MPP plan    535 
OPEB plan    1,600 

The Pension Protection Act of 2006 (PPA) specified funding requirements for single employer defined benefit pension plans. The PPA
established a 100% funding target for plan years beginning after December 31, 2007, and we are in compliance.

Benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid for the next ten years ending October 31 as
follows.
 

In thousands   
Qualified
Pension    

Nonqualified
Pension    

Other
Benefits  

2012   $21,486   $ 517   $ 1,992 
2013    16,161    484    2,031 
2014    13,946    450    2,233 
2015    14,827    461    2,330 
2016    15,452    436    2,381 
2017 - 2021    94,812    1,977    13,151 

The assumed health care cost trend rates used in measuring the accumulated OPEB obligation for the medical plans for all participants as of
October 31, 2011 and 2010 are presented below.
 

   2011   2010  
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year    7.70%   7.80% 
Rate to which the cost trend is assumed to decline (the ultimate trend rate)    5.00%   5.00% 
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate    2027   2027 

The health care cost trend rate assumptions could have a significant effect on the amounts reported. A change of 1% would have the
following effects.
 

In thousands   1% Increase   1% Decrease 
Effect on total of service and interest cost components of net periodic

postretirement health care benefit cost for the year ended
October 31, 2011   $ 37   $ (38) 

Effect on the health care cost component of the accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation as of October 31, 2011    693    (706) 

Fair Value Measurements

The qualified pension plan’s asset allocations by level within the fair value hierarchy at October 31, 2011 and 2010 are presented below. Our
assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment and may affect the valuation of fair value
assets and their placement within the fair value hierarchy levels. For further information on a description of the fair value hierarchy, see “Fair
Value Measurements” in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.
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   Qualified Pension Plan as of October 31, 2011  

In thousands   

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets

(Level 1)   

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)   

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)   

Total
Carrying

Value   
% of
Total  

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 5,891  $ 2  $ —      5,893   2% 
        

 

Fixed Income Securities:        45% 
        

 

U.S. treasuries    —      11,109   —      11,109   4% 
Long duration bonds (1)    66,824   —      —      66,824   26% 
Corporate bonds    —      24,383   —      24,383   9% 
High yield bonds (2)    12,504   —      —      12,504   5% 
Collateralized mortgage obligations    —      1,448   —      1,448   1% 
Municipals    —      324   —      324   —  % 
Derivatives    (25)   437   —      412   —  % 

        
 

Equity Securities: (3)        35% 
        

 

Large cap core index (4)    11,206   —      —      11,206   4% 
Large cap value    8,623   —      —      8,623   3% 
Large cap growth    15,897   —      —      15,897   6% 
Small cap    23,827   —      —      23,827   9% 
International value    13,770   —      —      13,770   6% 
International growth    18,057   —      —      18,057   7% 

        
 

Real Estate:        6% 
        

 

Global REIT    14,909   —      —      14,909   6% 
        

 

Other Investments:        12% 
        

 

Hedge fund of funds (5)    —      10,089   6,207   16,296   6% 
Private equity fund of funds (6)    —      —      1,925   1,925   1% 
Commodities (7)    —      3,632   8,472   12,104   5% 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total assets at fair value   $ 191,483  $ 51,424  $ 16,604  $259,511   100% 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Percent of fair value hierarchy    74%   20%   6%   100%  
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   Qualified Pension Plan as of October 31, 2010  

In thousands   

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets

(Level 1)   

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)   

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)   

Total
Carrying

Value   
% of
Total  

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 1,969  $ —     $ —      1,969   1% 
        

 

Fixed Income Securities:        50% 
        

 

U.S. treasuries    —      26,886   —      26,886   12% 
Long duration bonds (1)    60,393   —      —      60,393   26% 
Corporate bonds    —      13,063   —      13,063   6% 
High yield bonds (2)    11,509   —      —      11,509   5% 
Derivatives    (27)   1,694   —      1,667   1% 

        
 

Equity Securities: (3)        39% 
        

 

Large cap core index (4)    10,815   —      —      10,815   5% 
Large cap value    10,640   —      —      10,640   5% 
Large cap growth    12,601   —      —      12,601   5% 
Small cap    21,748   —      —      21,748   9% 
International value    17,170   —      —      17,170   7% 
International growth    17,243   —      —      17,243   8% 

        
 

Real Estate:        5% 
        

 

Global REIT    12,070   —      —      12,070   5% 
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Other Investments:        5% 
        

 

Hedge fund of funds (5)    —      4,795   5,196   9,991   5% 
Private equity fund of funds (6)    —      —      580   580   —  % 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total assets at fair value   $ 176,131  $ 46,438  $ 5,776  $228,345   100% 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Percent of fair value hierarchy    77%   20%   3%   100%  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

 

 
(1) This category represents actively managed long duration fixed income funds.
(2) This category represents actively managed high yield fixed income funds.
(3) This category represents actively managed equity funds and separate accounts with diversified investment strategies with the exception of the

Large Cap Core Index Fund category.
(4) This category represents low-cost equity index funds not actively managed that track the S&P 500 index.
(5) This category represents investments across a variety of markets through investment funds or managed accounts that invest in equities,

equity-related instruments, fixed income and other debt-related instruments.
(6) This category represents exposure to a diversified private equity fund of funds investment. The target allocation is 5% but is still being

funded through capital calls. Until a 5% allocation can be achieved, the balance of the 5% allocation is invested in a low-cost equity fund
managed to track the S&P 500 index.

(7) This category represents exposure to a commodities fund of funds investment, which is comprised of actively managed commodity market-
oriented strategies through opportunistic investments in a well diversified group of underlying managers.
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The following is a reconciliation of the assets in the qualified pension plan that are classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
 

In thousands   

Hedge
Fund

of Funds   

Private
Equity
Fund
of 

Funds   Commodities  Total  
Balance, October 31, 2009   $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —    
Actual return on plan assets:      

Relating to assets still held at the reporting date    307   (4)   —      303 
Relating to assets sold during the period    —      —      —      —    

Purchases, sales and settlements (net)    4,889   584   —      5,473 
Transfer in/out of Level 3    —      —      —      —    

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balance, October 31, 2010    5,196   580   —      5,776 
Actual return on plan assets:      

Relating to assets still held at the reporting date    (1,236)   66   (488)   (1,658) 
Relating to assets sold during the period    —      —      —      —    

Purchases, sales and settlements (net)    2,247   1,279   8,960   12,486 
Transfer in/out of Level 3    —      —      —      —    

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balance, October 31, 2011   $ 6,207  $1,925  $ 8,472  $16,604 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

The OPEB plan’s asset allocations by level within the fair value hierarchy at October 31, 2011 and 2010 are presented below. Our
assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment and may affect the valuation of fair value
assets and their placement within the fair value hierarchy levels. For further information on a description of the fair value hierarchy, see “Fair
Value Measurements” in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.
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   Other Benefits (1) as of October 31, 2011  

In thousands   

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets

(Level 1)   

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)   

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)   

Total
Carrying

Value   
% of
Total  

Cash and cash equivalents
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  $ 1,011  $ —     $ —     $ 1,011   5% 
        

 

Fixed Income Securities:        45% 
        

 

U.S. treasuries    2,162   —      —      2,162   10% 
Corporate bonds (2) / Asset-backed securities    7,790   —      —      7,790   35% 

        
 

Equity Securities:        45% 
        

 

Large cap value    1,108   —      —      1,108   5% 
Large cap growth    1,107   —      —      1,107   5% 
Small cap value    1,092   —      —      1,092   5% 
Small cap growth    1,131   —      —      1,131   5% 
Large cap index    1,996   —      —      1,996   9% 
International blend    3,557   —      —      3,557   16% 

        
 

Real Estate:        5% 
        

 

Global REIT    1,091   —      —      1,091   5% 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Total assets at fair value   $ 22,045  $ —     $ —     $22,045   100% 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Percent of fair value hierarchy    100%   —  %   —  %   100%  
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   Other Benefits (1) as of October 31, 2010  

In thousands   

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets

(Level 1)   

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)   

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)   

Total
Carrying

Value   
% of
Total  

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 526  $ —     $ —     $ 526   3% 
        

 

Fixed Income Securities:        45% 
        

 

U.S. treasuries    2,164   —      —      2,164   10% 
Corporate bonds (2) / Asset-backed securities    7,603   —      —      7,603   35% 

        
 

Equity Securities:        47% 
        

 

Large cap value    1,131   —      —      1,131   5% 
Large cap growth    1,152   —      —      1,152   5% 
Small cap value    1,158   —      —      1,158   5% 
Small cap growth    1,162   —      —      1,162   5% 
Large cap index    2,019   —      —      2,019   10% 
International blend    3,650   —      —      3,650   17% 

        
 

Real Estate:        5% 
        

 

Global REIT    1,071   —      —      1,071   5% 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Total assets at fair value   $ 21,636  $ —     $ —     $21,636   100% 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Percent of fair value hierarchy    100%   —  %   —  %   100%  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

 

 
(1) The plan assets are invested in mutual funds.
(2) This category represents primarily investment grade corporate securities even though the plan maintains a 5% allocation to a high yield bond

fund.

401(k) Plan

We maintain a 401(k) plan that is a profit-sharing plan under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Tax
Code), which includes qualified cash or deferred arrangements under Tax Code Section 401(k). The 401(k) plan is subject to the provisions of the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act. Eligible employees who have completed 30 days of continuous service and have attained age 18 are
eligible to participate. Participants may defer a portion of their base salary and cash incentive payments to the plan, and we match a portion of their
contributions. Employee contributions vest immediately, and company contributions vest after six months of service.

Beginning January 1, 2008 (January 1, 2009 for employees covered under the bargaining unit contract in Nashville, Tennessee), employees
receive a company match of 100% up to the first 5% of eligible pay contributed. Prior to January 1, 2008, we matched 50% of employee
contributions up to the first 10% of pay contributed. Employees may contribute up to 50% of eligible pay to the 401(k) on a pre-tax basis, up to the
Tax Code annual contribution limit. We automatically enroll all affected non-participating employees in the 401(k) plan at a 2% contribution rate
unless the employee chooses not to participate by notifying our record keeper. For employees who are automatically enrolled in the 401(k) plan,
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we automatically increase their contributions by 1% each year to a maximum of 5% unless the employee chooses to opt out of the automatic
increase by contacting our record keeper. If the employee does not make an investment election, employee contributions and matches are
automatically invested in a diversified portfolio
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of stocks and bonds. Participants may direct up to 20% of their contributions and company matching contributions as an investment in the
Piedmont Stock Fund. Employees may change their contribution rate and investments at any time. For the years ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and
2009, we made matching contributions to participant accounts as follows.
 

In thousands   2011    2010    2009  
401(k) matching contributions   $5,203   $5,269     $4,698 

As a result of a plan merger effective in 2001, participants’ accounts in our employee stock ownership plan (ESOP) were transferred into the
participants’ 401(k) accounts. Former ESOP participants may remain invested in Piedmont common stock in their 401(k) plan or may sell the
common stock at any time and reinvest the proceeds in other available investment options. The tax benefit of any dividends paid on ESOP shares
still in participants’ accounts is reflected in the consolidated statement of stockholders’ equity as an increase in retained earnings.

10. Employee Share-Based Plans

Under our shareholder approved incentive compensation plans, eligible officers and other participants are awarded units that pay out
depending upon the level of performance achieved by Piedmont during three-year incentive plan performance periods. Distribution of those awards
may be made in the form of shares of common stock and withholdings for payment of applicable taxes on the compensation. These plans require
that a minimum threshold performance level be achieved in order for any award to be distributed. For the years ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and
2009, we recorded compensation expense, and as of October 31, 2011 and 2010, we have accrued a liability for these awards based on the fair
market value of our stock at the end of each quarter. The liability is re-measured to market value at the settlement date.

We have three awards under approved incentive compensation plans with three-year performance periods ending October 31,
2011, October 31, 2012 and October 31, 2013. 50% of the units awarded will be based on achievement of a target annual compounded increase in
basic EPS. For this 50% portion, an EPS performance of 80% of target will result in an 80% payout, an EPS performance of 100% of target will
result in a 100% payout and an EPS performance of 120% of target will result in a maximum 120% payout, and EPS performance levels between
these levels will be subject to mathematical interpolation. EPS performance below 80% of target will result in no payout of this portion. The other
50% of the units awarded will be based on the achievement of total annual shareholder return (increase in our common stock price plus dividends
reinvested over the specified period of time) in comparison to a peer group which consists of natural gas companies. The total shareholder return
performance measure will be our percentile ranking in relationship to the peer group. For this 50% portion, a ranking below the 25th percentile
will result in no payout, a ranking between the 25th and 39th percentile will result in an 80% payout, a ranking between the 40th and 49th
percentile will result in a 90% payout, a ranking between the 50th and 74th percentile will result in a 100% payout, a ranking between the 75th and
89th percentile will result in a 110% payout, and a ranking at or above the 90th percentile will result in a maximum 120% payout.

In December 2010, a long-term retention award under the incentive compensation plan was approved for eligible officers and other
participants. This retention award will be distributed to participants who have met the retention requirements at the end of a three-year period
ending in
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December 2013 in the form of shares of common stock and withholdings for payment of applicable taxes on the compensation. The Compensation
Committee of our Board of Directors has the discretion to accelerate the vesting of a participant’s retention units. For the twelve months ended
October 31, 2011, we recorded compensation expense, and as of October 31, 2011, we have accrued a liability for these awards based on the fair
market value of our stock at the end of each quarter. The liability is re-measured to market value at the settlement date.

Also under our approved incentive compensation plan, 65,000 unvested shares of our common stock were granted to our President and Chief
Executive Officer in September 2006. During the five-year vesting period, any dividends paid on these shares were accrued and converted into
additional shares at the closing price on the date of the dividend payment. In accordance with the vesting schedule 20%, 30% and 50% of the shares
vested on September 1, 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively.
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The compensation expense related to the incentive compensation plans for the years ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, and the
amounts recorded as liabilities as of October 31, 2011 and 2010 are presented below.
 

In thousands   2011    2010    2009  
Compensation expense   $2,604   $6,118   $2,487 
Tax benefit    673    1,756    207 
Liability    5,015    9,914   

Based on current accrual assumptions as of October 31, 2011, the expected payout for the approved incentive compensation plans ending
October 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013 will occur in the following fiscal years.
 

In thousands   2012    2013    2014  
Amount of payout   $—      $2,719     $2,296 

On a quarterly basis, we issue shares of common stock under the ESPP and have accounted for the issuance as an equity transaction. The
exercise price is calculated as 95% of the fair market value on the purchase date of each quarter where fair market value is determined by
calculating the mean average of the high and low trading prices on the purchase date.

11. Income Taxes

The components of income tax expense for the years ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 are presented below.
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   2011   2010    2009  
In thousands   Federal   State   Federal   State    Federal   State  
Charged (Credited) to operating income:         

Current   $(11,403)  $ 4,209  $18,133  $ 3,928   $ (7,774)  $ 181 
Deferred    64,806   6,597   33,432   6,866    65,828   12,047 
Tax Credits         

Utilization    184   —      105   —       130   —    
Amortization    (325)   —      (382)   —       (333)   —    

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Total    53,262   10,806   51,288   10,794    57,851   12,228 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
    

 
   

 

Charged (Credited) to other income (expense):         
Current    3,263   (36)   22,519   3,755    7,764   1,064 
Deferred    4,167   824   2,963   557    2,492   483 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Total    7,430   788   25,482   4,312    10,256   1,547 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
    

 
   

 

Total   $ 60,692  $11,594  $76,770  $15,106   $68,107  $13,775 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

A reconciliation of income tax expense at the federal statutory rate to recorded income tax expense for the years ended October 31, 2011,
2010 and 2009 is presented below.
 

In thousands   2011   2010   2009  
Federal taxes at 35%   $65,049  $81,841  $71,647 
State income taxes, net of federal benefit    7,536   9,819   8,954 
Amortization of investment tax credits    (325)   (382)   (333) 
Other, net    26   598   1,614 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total   $72,286  $91,876  $81,882 
    

 

   

 

   

 

As of October 31, 2011 and 2010, deferred income taxes consisted of the following temporary differences.
 

In thousands   2011   2010  
Deferred tax assets:    

Benefit of loss carryforwards   $ 2,474  $ 2,474 
Employee benefits and compensation    10,267   13,082 
Revenue requirement    10,306   10,530 
Utility plant    10,799   9,183 
Other    6,043   4,958 

    
 

   
 

Total deferred tax assets    39,889   40,227 
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Valuation Allowance    (505)   (1,324) 
    

 
   

 

Total deferred tax assets, net    39,384   38,903 
    

 
   

 

Deferred tax liabilities:    
Utility plant    437,388   370,348 
Revenues and cost of gas    6,896   14,976 
Equity method investments    32,296   27,244 
Deferred costs    55,142   46,387 
Other    18,830   14,106 

    
 

   
 

Total deferred tax liabilities    550,552   473,061 
    

 
   

 

Net deferred income tax liabilities   $511,168  $434,158 
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As of October 31, 2011 and 2010, total net deferred income tax assets were net of a valuation allowance to reduce amounts to the amounts
that we believe will be more likely than not realized. We and our wholly owned subsidiaries file a consolidated federal income tax return and
various state income tax returns. As of October 31, 2011 and 2010, we had federal net operating loss carryforwards of $6.2 million and $6.5
million, respectively, which expire from 2024 through 2026. As of October 31, 2011 and 2010, we had state net operating loss carryforwards of $7
million and $7.1 million, respectively, which expire from 2018 through 2025. We may use the loss carryforwards to offset taxable income. Of the
loss carryforwards, $6.2 million are subject to an annual limitation of $.3 million.

Our return for the tax year ended October 31, 2008 is currently under examination by the IRS. We do not expect the audit to have a material
effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. We are no longer subject to federal income tax examinations for tax years
ending before and including October 31, 2007, and with few exceptions, state income tax examinations by tax authorities for years ended before
and including October 31, 2007.

A reconciliation of changes in the deferred tax valuation allowance for the years ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 is presented below.
 

In thousands   2011   2010   2009  
Balance at beginning of year   $1,324  $1,400  $1,114 

Charged (credited) to income tax expense    (819)   (76)   286 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Balance at end of year   $ 505  $1,324  $1,400 
    

 

   

 

   

 

A reconciliation of the unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended October 31, 2011 and 2010 is presented below.
 

In thousands   2011    2010  
Balance, beginning of year   $—      $293 

Decrease from settlements with taxing authorities    —       —    
Decrease from expiration of statute of limitations    —       293 

    
 

    
 

Balance, end of year   $—      $—    
    

 

    

 

We recorded no interest related to unrecognized tax benefits during the year ended October 31, 2011 and only immaterial amounts of interest
during the year ended October 31, 2010.

12. Equity Method Investments

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of wholly owned subsidiaries whose investments in joint venture, energy-related
businesses are accounted for under the equity method. Our ownership interest in each entity is included in “Equity method investments in non-
utility activities” in the consolidated balance sheets. Earnings or losses from equity method investments are included in “Income from equity
method investments” in the consolidated statements of income.

As of October 31, 2011, there were no amounts that represented undistributed earnings of our 50% or less owned equity method investments
in our retained earnings.
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Cardinal Pipeline Company, L.L.C.

We own 21.49% of the membership interests in Cardinal Pipeline Company, L.L.C. (Cardinal), a North Carolina limited liability company.
The other members are subsidiaries of The Williams Companies, Inc., and SCANA Corporation. Cardinal owns and operates an intrastate natural
gas pipeline in North Carolina and is regulated by the NCUC. Cardinal has firm service agreements with local distribution companies for 100% of
the firm transportation capacity on the pipeline, of which Piedmont subscribes to approximately 37%. Cardinal is dependent on the Williams-
Transco pipeline system to deliver gas into its system for service to its customers. Cardinal’s long-term debt is nonrecourse to the members and is
secured by Cardinal’s assets and by each member’s equity investment in Cardinal.

In October 2009, we reached an agreement with Progress Energy Carolinas, Inc. to provide natural gas delivery service to a power generation
facility to be built at their Wayne County, North Carolina site. To provide the additional delivery service, we have executed an agreement with
Cardinal, which was approved by the NCUC in May 2010, to expand our firm capacity requirement by 149,000 dekatherms per day to serve
Progress Energy Carolinas. This will require Cardinal to spend an estimated $48 million for a new compressor station and expanded meter stations
in order to increase the capacity of its system by up to 199,000 dekatherms per day of firm capacity for us and another customer. As an equity
venture partner of Cardinal, we will invest an estimated $10.3 million in Cardinal’s system expansion. Capital contributions related to this system
expansion began in January 2011 and will continue on a periodic basis through September 2012. As of October 31, 2011, our contributions related
to this expansion were $6.2 million.

The members’ capital will be replaced with permanent financing with a target overall capital structure of 45-50% debt and 50-55% equity
after the project is placed into service, scheduled to be June 2012. Our service subscription to Cardinal’s capacity following the system expansion
will increase from approximately 37% to approximately 53%. The NCUC issued a formal certificate order to Progress Energy Carolinas for their
Wayne County generation project in October 2009.

We have related party transactions as a transportation customer of Cardinal, and we record in cost of gas the transportation costs charged by
Cardinal. For each of the years ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, these transportation costs and the amounts we owed Cardinal as of
October 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows.
 

In thousands   2011    2010    2009  
Transportation costs   $4,104   $4,104   $4,104 
Trade accounts payable    349    349   
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Summarized financial information provided to us by Cardinal for 100% of Cardinal as of September 30, 2011 and 2010, and for the twelve
months ended September 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 is presented below.
 

In thousands   2011    2010    2009  
Current assets   $25,868   $ 9,239   
Non-current assets    88,329    75,508   
Current liabilities    5,665    3,977   
Non-current liabilities    24,225    26,592   
Revenues    13,633    13,633   $13,633 
Gross profit    13,633    13,633    13,633 
Income before income taxes    6,473    6,375    6,893 

Pine Needle LNG Company, L.L.C.

We own 40% of the membership interests in Pine Needle LNG Company, L.L.C. (Pine Needle), a North Carolina limited liability company.
The other members are the Municipal Gas Authority of Georgia and subsidiaries of The Williams Companies, Inc., SCANA Corporation and Hess
Corporation. Pine Needle owns an interstate LNG storage facility in North Carolina and is regulated by the FERC. Pine Needle has firm service
agreements for 100% of the storage capacity of the facility, of which Piedmont subscribes to approximately 64%.

Pine Needle enters into interest-rate swap agreements to modify the interest characteristics of its long-term debt. Our share of movements in
the market value of these agreements are recorded as a hedge in “Accumulated other comprehensive loss” in the consolidated balance sheets. Pine
Needle’s long-term debt is nonrecourse to the members and is secured by Pine Needle’s assets and by each member’s equity investment in Pine
Needle.

We have related party transactions as a customer of Pine Needle, and we record in cost of gas the storage costs charged by Pine Needle. For
the years ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, these gas storage costs and the amounts we owed Pine Needle as of October 31, 2011 and 2010
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are as follows.
 

In thousands   2011    2010    2009  
Gas storage costs   $10,677   $12,158   $12,364 
Trade accounts payable    849    985   
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Summarized financial information provided to us by Pine Needle for 100% of Pine Needle as of September 30, 2011 and 2010, and for the
twelve months ended September 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 is presented below.
 

In thousands   2011    2010    2009  
Current assets   $10,984   $15,593   
Non-current assets    74,472    78,863   
Current liabilities    1,826    3,923   
Non-current liabilities    35,657    35,007   
Revenues    17,666    18,808   $18,744 
Gross profit    17,666    18,808    18,744 
Income before income taxes    5,763    8,317    8,381 

SouthStar Energy Services LLC

We own 15% of the membership interests in SouthStar Energy Services LLC (SouthStar), a Delaware limited liability company. The other
member is Georgia Natural Gas Company (GNGC), a wholly-owned subsidiary of AGL Resources, Inc. SouthStar primarily sells natural gas to
residential, commercial and industrial customers in the southeastern United States and Ohio with most of its business being conducted in the
unregulated retail gas market in Georgia. On January 1, 2010, we sold half of our 30% membership interest in SouthStar to GNGC and retained a
15% earnings and membership share in SouthStar after the sale. At closing, we received $57.5 million from GNGC resulting in an after-tax gain of
$30.3 million, or $.42 per diluted share for 2010. GNGC has no further rights to acquire our remaining 15% interest. We will continue to account
for our 15% membership interest in SouthStar using the equity method, as we retain board representation with voting rights equal to GNGC on
significant governance matters and policy decisions, and thus, exercise significant influence over the operations of SouthStar.

SouthStar’s business is seasonal in nature as variations in weather conditions generally result in greater revenue and earnings during the
winter months when weather is colder and natural gas consumption is higher. Also, because SouthStar is not a rate-regulated company, the timing
of its earnings can be affected by changes in the wholesale price of natural gas. While SouthStar uses financial contracts to moderate the effect of
price and weather changes on the timing of its earnings, wholesale price and weather volatility can cause variations in the timing of the recognition
of earnings.

These financial contracts, in the form of futures, options and swaps, are considered to be derivatives and fair value is based on selected
market indices. Our share of movements in the market value of these contracts are recorded as a hedge in “Accumulated other comprehensive loss”
in the consolidated balance sheets.

We have related party transactions as we sell wholesale gas supplies to SouthStar, and we record in operating revenues the amounts billed to
SouthStar. For the years ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, our operating revenues from these sales and the amounts SouthStar owed us as
of October 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows.
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In thousands   2011    2010    2009  
Operating revenues   $4,961   $5,083   $8,226 
Trade accounts receivable    736    713   

Summarized financial information provided to us by SouthStar for 100% of SouthStar as of September 30, 2011 and 2010, and for the twelve
months ended September 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 is presented below.
 

In thousands   2011    2010    2009  
Current assets   $169,286   $167,218   
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Non-current assets    9,292    9,382   
Current liabilities    62,869    62,899   
Non-current liabilities    141    160   
Revenues    733,987    843,483   $854,455 
Gross profit    176,010    183,748    169,639 
Income before income taxes    103,704    107,096    98,308 

Hardy Storage Company, LLC

Piedmont Hardy Storage Company, a wholly owned subsidiary of Piedmont, owns 50% of the membership interests in Hardy Storage
Company, LLC (Hardy Storage), a West Virginia limited liability company. The other owner is a subsidiary of Columbia Gas Transmission
Corporation, a subsidiary of NiSource Inc. Hardy Storage owns and operates an underground interstate natural gas storage facility located in Hardy
and Hampshire Counties, West Virginia, that is regulated by the FERC. Hardy Storage has firm service contracts for 100% of the storage capacity
of the facility, of which Piedmont subscribes to approximately 40%.

In June 2006, Hardy Storage signed a note purchase agreement for interim notes and a revolving equity bridge facility for construction
financing. The revolving equity bridge facility was subsequently paid off in 2007. The members of Hardy Storage each agreed to guarantee 50% of
the construction financing as well as a separate guaranty of 50% of construction expenditures should contingency wells be required based on the
performance of the facility over the first three years after the in-service date. The Guaranty of Principal and Residual Guaranty were executed by a
wholly owned subsidiary of Piedmont, Piedmont Energy Partners, Inc. Securing our guaranty was a pledge of intercompany notes issued by
Piedmont to its non-utility subsidiaries held under its wholly owned subsidiary. Also pledged was our membership interest in Hardy Storage.

In March 2010, Hardy Storage paid $3.6 million on the interim notes to enable completion of their conversion to long-term project financing
of $119.8 million due in 2023 at an interest rate of 5.88%. As a result of the conversion, our Guaranty of Principal and Residual Guaranty, as
executed in connection with the interim financing, terminated with no payments having been made. The long-term project financing is
nonrecourse to the members of Hardy Storage and their parent entities.
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Prior to the long-term financing, we had recorded a liability of $1.2 million for the fair value of this guaranty based on the present value of
50% of the construction financing outstanding at the end of each quarter with the risk of the project evaluated at each quarter end, with a
corresponding increase to our investment account in the venture. Upon completion of the permanent financing in March 2010, the liability was
reversed, and our investment account was adjusted accordingly to reflect the elimination of the guaranty.

We have related party transactions as a customer of Hardy Storage and record in cost of gas the storage costs charged by Hardy Storage. For
the years ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, these gas storage costs and the amounts we owed Hardy Storage as of October 31, 2011 and
2010 are as follows.
 

In thousands   2011    2010    2009  
Gas storage costs   $9,702   $9,386   $9,340 
Trade accounts payable    808    808   

Summarized financial information provided to us by Hardy Storage for 100% of Hardy Storage as of October 31, 2011 and 2010, and for the
twelve months ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 is presented below.
 

In thousands   2011    2010    2009  
Current assets   $ 7,358   $ 13,070   
Non-current assets    167,221    170,693   
Current liabilities    10,945    15,280   
Non-current liabilities    102,490    109,495   
Revenues    24,378    23,562   $23,465 
Gross profit    24,378    23,562    23,465 
Income before income taxes    9,657    8,249    8,155 

13. Variable Interest Entities

Effective November 1, 2010, we adopted the FASB guidance that requires us to evaluate our variable interest in a VIE to qualitatively assess
whether we have a controlling financial interest, and if so, determine whether we are the primary beneficiary. Under accounting guidance, a VIE is
a legal entity that conducts a business or holds property whose equity, by design, has any of the following characteristics: an insufficient amount of
equity at risk to finance its activities, equity owners who do not have the power to direct the significant activities of the entity (or have voting

Schedule WPD-6 - Gas (Part 54) 
Page 78 of 100



Document Contents

http://ofccolo.snl.com/Cache/c12363195.html[1/9/2013 10:20:18 AM]

rights that are disproportionate to their ownership interest), or where equity owners do not receive expected losses or returns. An entity may have
an interest in a VIE through ownership or other contractual rights or obligations and that interest changes as the entity’s net assets change. The
consolidating investor is the entity that has the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic
performance, and the obligation to absorb losses of the entity that could potentially be significant to the VIE or the right to receive benefits from
the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE.
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As of October 31, 2011, we have determined that we are not the primary beneficiary, as defined by the authoritative guidance related to
consolidations, in any of our equity method investments, as discussed in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements. Based on our
involvement in these investments, we do not have the power to direct the activities of these investments that most significantly impact the VIE’s
economic performance. As we are not the consolidating investor, we will continue to apply equity method accounting to these investments as
discussed in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements. Our maximum loss exposure related to these equity method investments is limited to
our equity investment in each entity. As of October 31, 2011 and 2010, our investment balances are as follows.
 

In thousands   
October 31,

2011    
October 31,

2010  
Cardinal   $ 18,323   $ 11,837 
Pine Needle    18,690    21,810 
SouthStar    17,536    17,146 
Hardy Storage    30,572    29,494 

    
 

    
 

Total equity method investments in non-utility activities   $ 85,121   $ 80,287 
    

 

    

 

We have also reviewed various lease arrangements, contracts to purchase, sell or deliver natural gas and other agreements in which we hold a
variable interest. In these cases, we have determined that we are not the primary beneficiary of the related VIE because we do not have the power
to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance, or the obligation to absorb losses of the VIE or
the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE.

14. Business Segments

Operations of the regulated utility segment are reflected in “Operating Income” in the consolidated statements of income. Operations of the
non-utility activities segment are included in the consolidated statements of income in “Income from equity method investments” and “Non-
operating income.” All of our operations are within the United States. No single customer accounts for more than 10% of our consolidated
revenues.
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Operations by segment for the years ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, and as of October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 are presented
below.
 

In thousands   
Regulated

Utility    

Non-
Utility

Activities   Total  
2011      
Revenues from external customers   $1,433,905   $ —     $1,433,905 
Margin    573,639    —      573,639 
Operations and maintenance expenses    225,351    109   225,460 
Depreciation    102,829    28   102,857 
Income from equity method investments    —       24,027   24,027 
Interest expense    43,992    —      43,992 
Operating income (loss) before income taxes    207,079    (120)   206,959 
Income before income taxes    161,925    23,929   185,854 
Total assets    2,968,574    85,519   3,054,093 
Equity method investments in non-utility activities    —       85,121   85,121 
Construction expenditures    243,641    —      243,641 
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In thousands   
Regulated

Utility    

Non-
Utility

Activities   Total  
2010      
Revenues from external customers   $1,552,295   $ —     $1,552,295 
Margin    552,592    —      552,592 
Operations and maintenance expenses    219,829    301   220,130 
Depreciation    98,494    29   98,523 
Income from equity method investments    —       28,854   28,854 
Gain on sale of interest in equity method investment    —       49,674   49,674 
Interest expense    43,711    —      43,711 
Operating income (loss) before income taxes    200,360    (697)   199,663 
Income before income taxes    155,923    77,907   233,830 
Total assets    2,784,087    80,808   2,864,895 
Equity method investments in non-utility activities    —       80,287   80,287 
Construction expenditures    199,059    —      199,059 

 

In thousands   
Regulated

Utility    
Non-Utility
Activities   Total  

2009      
Revenues from external customers   $1,638,116   $ —     $1,638,116 
Margin    561,574    —      561,574 
Operations and maintenance expenses    208,105    326   208,431 
Depreciation    97,425    29   97,454 
Income from equity method investments    —       33,464   33,464 
Interest expense    46,675    34   46,709 
Operating income (loss) before income taxes    221,454    (503)   220,951 
Income before income taxes    171,752    32,954   204,706 
Total assets    2,919,260    104,891   3,024,151 
Equity method investments in non-utility activities    —       104,429   104,429 
Construction expenditures    129,006    —      129,006 
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Reconciliations to the consolidated financial statements for the years ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, and as of October 31, 2011 and
2010 are as follows.
 

In thousands   2011   2010   2009  
Operating Income:     

Segment operating income before income taxes   $206,959  $199,663  $220,951 
Utility income taxes    (64,068)   (62,082)   (70,079) 
Non-utility activities operating loss before income taxes    120   697   503 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total   $143,011  $138,278  $151,375 
    

 

   

 

   

 

Net Income:     
Income before income taxes for reportable segments   $185,854  $233,830  $204,706 
Income taxes    (72,286)   (91,876)   (81,882) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total   $113,568  $141,954  $122,824 
    

 

   

 

   

 

 
In thousands   2011    2010  
Consolidated Assets:     

Total assets for reportable segments   $3,054,093   $2,864,895 
Eliminations/Adjustments    188,448    188,380 

    
 

    
 

Total   $3,242,541   $3,053,275 
    

 

    

 

15. Subsequent Events

We monitor significant events occurring after the balance sheet date and prior to the issuance of the financial statements to determine the
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impacts, if any, of events on the financial statements to be issued. All subsequent events of which we are aware were evaluated. For information on
subsequent event disclosure items related to regulatory matters, see Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

16. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (In thousands except per share amounts) (Unaudited)
 
                 Earnings (Loss)

Per Share of
Common Stock  

           Operating
Income
(Loss)  

 Net
Income
(Loss)  

 
   Operating

Revenues  
        

     Margin      Basic   Diluted  
Fiscal Year 2011          
January 31   $652,056   $230,006   $90,869  $ 84,440  $ 1.17  $ 1.16 
April 30    392,567    172,931    52,927   47,408   0.66   0.66 
July 31    197,274    81,963    389   (8,703)   (0.12)   (0.12) 
October 31    192,008    88,739    (1,174)   (9,577)   (0.13)   (0.13) 
Fiscal Year 2010          
January 31   $673,736   $222,942   $87,801  $113,749  $ 1.55  $ 1.55 
April 30    472,846    168,678    52,225   46,825   0.65   0.65 
July 31    211,603    77,897    (3,471)   (9,518)   (0.13)   (0.13) 
October 31    194,110    83,075    1,723   (9,102)   (0.13)   (0.13) 
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The pattern of quarterly earnings is the result of the highly seasonal nature of the business as variations in weather conditions and our
regulated utility rate designs generally result in greater earnings during the winter months. Basic earnings per share are calculated using the
weighted average number of shares outstanding during the quarter. The annual amount may differ from the total of the quarterly amounts due to
changes in the number of shares outstanding during the year.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Management’s Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, including the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, has
evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act as of the
end of the period covered by this Form 10-K. Such disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the
information we are required to disclose in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods required by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms and that such information is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Based on such evaluation, the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Senior Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this Form 10-K, our disclosure controls and procedures were
effective at the reasonable assurance level.

We routinely review our internal control over financial reporting and from time to time make changes intended to enhance the effectiveness
of our internal control over financial reporting. There were no changes to our internal control over financial reporting as such term is defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

December 23, 2011

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over
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financial reporting as that term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is supported by a program of internal audits and
appropriate reviews by management, written policies and guidelines, careful selection and training of qualified personnel and a written Code of
Ethics and Business Conduct adopted by the Company’s Board of Directors and applicable to all Company Directors, officers and employees.

Because of the inherent limitations, any system of internal control over financial reporting, no matter how well designed, may not prevent or
detect misstatements due to the possibility that a control can be circumvented or overridden or that misstatements due to error or fraud may occur
that are not detected. Also, projections of the effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies and procedures included in such controls may deteriorate.

We have conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based upon the framework in “Internal
Control - Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based upon such evaluation,
our management concluded that as of October 31, 2011, our internal control over financial reporting was effective.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, has issued its report on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of October 31, 2011.
 

Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc.

/s/    THOMAS E. SKAINS        
Thomas E. Skains

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

/s/    KARL W. NEWLIN        
Karl W. Newlin

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial  Officer

/s/    JOSE M. SIMON        
Jose M. Simon

Vice President and Controller
 

120

Table of Contents

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc.
Charlotte, North Carolina

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
October 31, 2011, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework  issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal executive and
principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other
personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
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financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management
override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any
evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of October 31, 2011, based
on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework  issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated
financial statements as of and for the year ended October 31, 2011 of the Company and our report dated December 23, 2011 expressed an
unqualified opinion on those financial statements.
 
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
December 23, 2011
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Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information concerning our executive officers and directors is set forth in the sections entitled “Information Regarding the Board of
Directors” and “Executive Officers” in our Proxy Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which sections are incorporated in this
annual report on Form 10-K by reference. Information concerning compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, is set forth in the section entitled “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in our Proxy Statement for the 2012
Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which section is incorporated in this annual report on Form 10-K by reference.

Information concerning our Audit Committee and our Audit Committee financial experts is set forth in the section entitled “Committees of
the Board” in our Proxy Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which section is incorporated in this annual report on Form 10-K
by reference.

We have adopted a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct that is applicable to all our directors, officers and employees, including our
principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer. We have also adopted Special Provisions Relating to the
Company’s Principal Executive Officer and Senior Financial Officers (Special Provisions) that are part of our Corporate Governance Guidelines
and that apply to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer. The Code of Ethics and Business
Conduct and Special Provisions are available on the “For Investors-Corporate Governance” section of our website at www.piedmontng.com. If we
amend or grant a waiver, including an implicit waiver, from the Code of Ethics and Business Conduct or Special Provisions that apply to the
principal executive officer, principal financial officer and controller or persons performing similar functions and that relate to any element of the
code enumerated in Item 406(b) of Regulation S-K, we will disclose the amendment or waiver on the “For Investors-Corporate Governance”
section of our website within four business days of such amendment or waiver.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information for this item is set forth in the sections entitled “Executive Compensation,” “Director Compensation,” “Compensation
Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation,” and “Compensation Committee Report” in our Proxy Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders, which sections are incorporated in this annual report on Form 10-K by reference.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information for this item is set forth in the section entitled “Security Ownership of Management and Certain Beneficial Owners” in our
Proxy Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which section is incorporated in this annual report on Form 10-K by reference.

Information concerning securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans is set forth in the section entitled “Equity
Compensation Plan Information” in our Proxy Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which section is incorporated in this
annual report on Form 10-K by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information for this item is set forth in the section entitled “Independence of Board Members and Related Person Transactions” in our Proxy
Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which section is incorporated in this annual report on Form 10-K by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information for this item is set forth in the table entitled “Fees For Services” in “Proposal 2 – Ratification of the Appointment of Deloitte &
Touche LLP As Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm For Fiscal Year 2012” in our Proxy Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders, which section is incorporated in this annual report on Form 10-K by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
 
(a)  1.  Financial Statements

The following consolidated financial statements for the year ended October 31, 2011, are included in Item 8 of this report as follows:
 

Consolidated Balance Sheets - October 31, 2011 and 2010   
Consolidated Statements of Income - Years Ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009   
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - Years Ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009   
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity – Years Ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009   
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements   
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm   

 
(a)   2.  Supplemental Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules

None

Schedules and certain other information are omitted for the reason that they are not required or are not applicable, or the required information
is shown in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.
 
(a)  3.  Exhibits

    

Where an exhibit is filed by incorporation by reference to a previously filed registration statement or report, such registration statement
or report is identified in parentheses. Upon written request of a shareholder, we will provide a copy of the exhibit at a nominal charge.

    The exhibits numbered 10.1 through 10.21 are management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements.

  

3.1
  

Restated Articles of Incorporation of Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc., dated as of March 2009 (Exhibit 3.1, Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended July 31, 2009).

  

3.2
  

By-laws of Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc., as Amended and Restated Effective September 8, 2011 (Exhibit 3.1, Form 8-K dated
September 13, 2011).

4.1 Note Agreement, dated as of September 21, 1992, between Piedmont and Provident Life and Accident Insurance Company (Exhibit
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    4.30, Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 1992).
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4.2
  

Amendment to Note Agreement, dated as of September 16, 2005, by and between Piedmont and Provident Life and Accident Insurance
Company (Exhibit 4.2, Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2007).

  

4.3
  

Indenture, dated as of April 1, 1993, between Piedmont and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (as successor to
Citibank, N.A.), Trustee (Exhibit 4.1, Form S-3 Registration Statement No. 33-59369).

  4.4   Medium-Term Note, Series A, dated as of October 6, 1993 (Exhibit 4.8, Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 1993).

  

4.5
  

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of February 25, 1994, between PNG Acquisition Company, Piedmont Natural Gas Company,
Inc., and Citibank, N.A., Trustee (Exhibit 4.2, Form S-3 Registration Statement No. 33-59369).

  4.6   Medium-Term Note, Series A, dated as of September 19, 1994 (Exhibit 4.9, Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 1994).

  4.7   Form of Master Global Note (Exhibit 4.4, Form S-3 Registration Statement No. 33-59369).

  

4.8
  

Pricing Supplement of Medium-Term Notes, Series B, dated October 3, 1995 (Exhibit 4.10, Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 31, 1995).

  

4.9
  

Pricing Supplement of Medium-Term Notes, Series B, dated October 4, 1996 (Exhibit 4.11, Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 31, 1996).

  4.10  Form of Master Global Note, executed September 9, 1999 (Exhibit 4.4, Form S-3 Registration Statement No. 333-26161).

  

4.11
  

Pricing Supplement of Medium-Term Notes, Series C, dated September 15, 1999 (Rule 424(b)(3) Pricing Supplement to Form S-3
Registration Statement Nos. 33-59369 and 333-26161).

  

4.12
  

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 15, 2003, between Piedmont and Citibank, N.A., Trustee (Exhibit 4.3, Form S-3
Registration Statement No. 333-106268).

  4.13  Form of 5% Medium-Term Note, Series E, dated as of December 19, 2003 (Exhibit 99.1, Form 8-K, dated December 23, 2003).

  4.14  Form of 6% Medium-Term Note, Series E, dated as of December 19, 2003 (Exhibit 99.2, Form 8-K, dated December 23, 2003).
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4.15
  

Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 20, 2006, between Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc. and Citibank, N.A., as trustee
(Exhibit 4.1, Form 8-K dated June 20, 2006).

  

4.16
  

Agreement of Resignation, Appointment and Acceptance dated as of March 29, 2007, by and among Piedmont Natural Gas Company,
Inc., Citibank, N.A., and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A. (Exhibit 4.1, Form 10-Q for quarter ended April 30, 2007).

  

4.17
  

Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 6, 2011, among Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc. and the Purchasers party thereto
(Exhibit 10, Form 8-K, dated May 12, 2011).

  4.18  Form of 2.92% Series A Senior Notes due June 6, 2016 (Exhibit 4.1, Form 8-K dated May 12, 2011).

  4.19  Form of 4.24% Series B Senior Notes due June 6, 2021 (Exhibit 4.2, Form 8-K dated May 12, 2011).

  

4.20
  

Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 6, 2011, between Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc. and The Bank of New York
Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (Exhibit 4.2, Form S-3-ASR Registration Statement No. 333-175386).

  

4.21
  

Amendment to September 1992 Note Agreement dated as of April 15, 2011 by and between Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc., and
Provident Life and Accident Insurance Company (Exhibit 10.3, Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 2011).

    Compensatory Contracts:

  

10.1
  

Form of Director Retirement Benefits Agreement with outside directors, dated September 1, 1999 (Exhibit 10.54, Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended October 31, 1999).
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  10.2  Establishment of Measures for Long-Term Incentive Plan 10 (filed in Form 8-K dated October 20, 2006, as Item 1.01).

  

10.3
  

Employment Agreement with Thomas E. Skains, dated December 1, 1999 (Exhibit 10.40, Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October
31, 1999).

  

10.4
  

Employment Agreement with Franklin H. Yoho, dated March 18, 2002 (Exhibit 10.23, Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October
31, 2002).

  10.5  Employment Agreement with Michael H. Yount, dated May 1, 2006 (Exhibit 10.1, Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 2006).
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  10.6   Employment Agreement with Kevin M. O’Hara, dated May 1, 2006 (Exhibit 10.2, Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 2006).

  

10.7

  

Form of Severance Agreement with Thomas E. Skains, dated September 4, 2007 (Substantially identical agreements have been
entered into as of the same date with Franklin H. Yoho, Michael H. Yount, Kevin M. O’Hara and Jane R. Lewis-Raymond) (Exhibit
10.2, Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 31, 2007).

  10.8   Schedule of Severance Agreements with Executives (Exhibit 10.2a, Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 31, 2007).

  

10.9
  

Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan as Amended and Restated Effective December 15, 2010
(Appendix A, Form DEF14A dated January 14, 2011).

  10.10   Form of Performance Unit Award Agreement (Exhibit 10.1, Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 31, 2011).

  

10.11
  

Resolution of Board of Directors, June 3, 2011, establishing compensation for non-management directors (Exhibit 10.1, Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended July 31, 2011).

  

10.12
  

Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc. Voluntary Deferral Plan, dated as of December 8, 2008, effective November 1, 2008 (Exhibit
10.1, Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 31, 2009).

  

10.13
  

Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc. Defined Contribution Restoration Plan, dated as of December 8, 2008, effective January 1, 2009
(Exhibit 10.2, Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 31, 2009).

  

10.14
  

Piedmont Natural Gas Company Employee Stock Purchase Plan, amended and restated as of April 1, 2009 (Exhibit 4.1, Form 8-K
dated April 3, 2009).

  

10.15
  

Amendment No. 1 to Director Retirement Benefits Agreements with outside directors, dated as of December 31, 2008 (Exhibit 10.1,
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 31, 2009).

  

10.16

  

Form of Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement between Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc. and Thomas A. Skains, dated
as of June 4, 2010 (Substantially identical agreements have been entered into as of the same date with Kevin M. O’Hara, Michael H.
Yount and Franklin H. Yoho) (Exhibit 10.1, Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 31, 2010).
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10.17
  

Employment Agreement between Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc. and Karl W. Newlin, dated as of June 4, 2010 (Exhibit 10.2,
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 31, 2010).

  

10.18
  

Severance Agreement between Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc. and Karl W. Newlin, dated as of June 4, 2010 (Exhibit 10.3,
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 31, 2010).

  10.19   Employment Agreement between Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc. and Jane R. Lewis-Raymond, dated as of August 1, 2011.

  10.20   Form of 2013 Retention Award Agreement (Exhibit 10.2, Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 31, 2011).

  10.21   Consulting Agreement dated as of November 1, 2011 between David J. Dzuricky and Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc.

    Other Contracts:

10.22 Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of SouthStar Energy Services LLC, effective January 1, 2004,
between Piedmont Energy Company and Georgia Natural Gas Company (Exhibit 10.1, Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 30,
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    2004).

  

10.23

  

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of SouthStar Energy Services LLC, dated as of
July 31, 2006, between Piedmont Energy Company and Georgia Natural Gas Company (Exhibit 10.28, Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended October 31, 2006).

  

10.24

  

Amendment by Written Consent to Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of SouthStar Energy Services
LLC, dated as of August 28, 2006, between Piedmont Energy Company and Georgia Natural Gas Company (Exhibit 10.29, Form 10-
K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2006).

  

10.25

  

Amendment by Written Consent to Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of SouthStar Energy Services
LLC, dated as of September 20, 2006, between Piedmont Energy Company and Georgia Natural Gas Company (Exhibit 10.30, Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2006).

  

10.26
  

Equity Contribution Agreement, dated as of November 12, 2004, between Columbia Gas Transmission Corporation and Piedmont
Natural Gas Company (Exhibit 10.1, Form 8-K dated November 16, 2004).
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10.27
  

Construction, Operation and Maintenance Agreement by and Between Columbia Gas Transmission Corporation and Hardy Storage
Company, LLC, dated November 12, 2004 (Exhibit 10.2, Form 8-K dated November 16, 2004).

  

10.28
  

Operating Agreement of Hardy Storage Company, LLC, dated as of November 12, 2004 (Exhibit 10.3, Form 8-K dated November 16,
2004).

  

10.29

  

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of SouthStar Energy Services LLC by and
between Georgia Natural Gas Company and Piedmont Energy Company, dated July 2, 2009 (Exhibit 10.2, Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended July 31, 2009).

  

10.30
  

Settlement Agreement by and between Georgia Natural Gas Company and Piedmont Energy Company, dated July 29, 2009 (Exhibit
10.1, Form 8-K dated August 4, 2009).

  

10.31

  

Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of SouthStar Energy Services LLC by and
between Georgia Natural Gas Company and Piedmont Energy Company, dated July 29, 2009 (Exhibit 10.2, Form 8-K dated August
4, 2009).

  

10.32
  

Assignment and Assumption between Citibank, N.A. and Northern Trust Company, dated as of September 18, 2009 (Exhibit 10.37,
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2009).

  

10.33

  

Credit Agreement dated as of January 25, 2011 among Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc., Bank of America, N.A., as
Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender, and L/C Issuer, Branch Banking and Trust Company and U.S. Bank National Association
as Co-Syndication Agents, and the other Lenders party thereto (Exhibit 10.1, Form 8-K filed January 31, 2011).

  

10.34

  

Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement dated as of March 21, 2011 by and among Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc., Bank of
America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer, and the Lenders thereunder (Exhibit 10.2, Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended April 30, 2011).

  12   Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

  21   List of Subsidiaries.

  23.1   Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
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  31.1   Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of the Chief Executive Officer.

  31.2   Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of the Chief Financial Officer.

32.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of the
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    Chief Executive Officer.

  

32.2
  

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of the
Chief Financial Officer.

  101.INS   XBRL Instance Document (1)
  101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema (1)
  101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase (1)
  101.DEF   XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase (1)
  101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase (1)
  101.PRE   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase (1)

 

(1) Furnished, not filed.

Attached as Exhibit 101 to this Annual Report are the following documents formatted in extensible business reporting language (XBRL):
(1) Document and Entity Information; (2) Consolidated Balance Sheets at October 31, 2011 and 2010; (3) Consolidated Statements of Income
for the years ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009; (4) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended October 31, 2011,
2010 and 2009; (5) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended October 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009; and Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, these interactive data files are deemed furnished, not filed or part of a registration statement or
prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933 or Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and otherwise
are not subject to liability. We also make available on our web site the Interactive Data Files submitted as Exhibit 101 to this Annual Report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 

Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc.
(Registrant)

By: /s/    THOMAS E. SKAINS        
 Thomas E. Skains

 
Chairman of the Board, President

and Chief Executive Officer

Date: December 23, 2011

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of
the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
 

Signature                          Title

/s/    THOMAS E. SKAINS        
Thomas E. Skains

    

Chairman of the Board, President and
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: December 23, 2011     

/s/    KARL W. NEWLIN        
Karl W. Newlin

    

Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: December 23, 2011     

/s/    JOSE M. SIMON        
Jose M. Simon     

Vice President and Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Date: December 23, 2011     
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Signature      Title

/s/    E. JAMES BURTON        
E. James Burton     

Director

/s/    MALCOLM E. EVERETT III        
Malcolm E. Everett III     

Director

/s/    JOHN W. HARRIS        
John W. Harris     

Director

/s/    AUBREY B. HARWELL, JR.        
Aubrey B. Harwell, Jr.     

Director

/s/    FRANK B. HOLDING, JR.        
Frank B. Holding, Jr.     

Director

/s/    FRANKIE T. JONES, SR.        
Frankie T. Jones, Sr.     

Director

/s/    VICKI MCELREATH        
Vicki McElreath     

Director

/s/    MINOR M. SHAW        
Minor M. Shaw     

Director

/s/    MURIEL W. SHEUBROOKS        
Muriel W. Sheubrooks     

Director

/s/    DAVID E. SHI        
David E. Shi     

Director
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Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc.
Form 10-K

For the Fiscal Year Ended October 31, 2011

Exhibits
 
10.19   Employment Agreement between Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc. and Jane R. Lewis-Raymond, dated as of August 1, 2011

10.21   Consulting Agreement between Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc. and David J. Dzuricky, dated as of November 1, 2011

12   Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

21   List of Subsidiaries

23.1   Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

31.1   Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of the Chief Executive Officer

31.2   Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of the Chief Financial Officer

32.1
  

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of the Chief
Executive Officer
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32.2
  

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of the Chief
Financial Officer

(Back To Top) 

Section 2: EX-10.19 (EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT)

Exhibit 10.19

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT dated as of August 1, 2011, by and between PIEDMONT NATURAL GAS COMPANY, INC., a
North Carolina corporation (the “Corporation”), and, JANE LEWIS-RAYMOND, (the “Officer”).

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Corporation has determined that the continued retention of the services of the Officer on a long-
term basis as described herein is in the best interest of the Corporation in that (a) it promotes the stability of senior management of the Corporation;
(b) it enables the Corporation to obtain and retain the services of a well-qualified executive officer with extensive contacts in the natural gas
industry; and (c) it secures the continued services of the Officer notwithstanding any change in control of the Corporation; and

WHEREAS, the services of the Officer, her experience and knowledge of the Corporation’s industry, and her reputation and contacts in the
Corporation’s industry are valuable to the Corporation; and

WHEREAS, the Corporation considers the establishment and maintenance of a sound and vital management to be part of its overall
corporate strategy and to be essential to protecting and enhancing the best interests of the Corporation and its stockholders; and

WHEREAS, the parties desire to enter into this Agreement in order to clearly set forth the terms and conditions of the Officer’s employment
relationship with the Corporation; and

WHEREAS, prior to this Agreement, the parties entered into a Severance Agreement (the “Severance Agreement”), which sets forth certain
rights and obligations of the Officer and certain rights and obligations of the Corporation in the event of a “Potential Change of Control” (as defined
in the Severance Agreement) or following a “Change in Control” (as defined in the Severance Agreement). Use of the phrases “Potential Change of
Control” and “Change in Control” herein shall have the meanings ascribed to those phrases in the Severance Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual covenants herein contained, the parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Employment. The Corporation hereby employs the Officer and the Officer hereby accepts such employment, upon the terms and
conditions stated herein, as Senior Vice President – General Counsel, Corporate Secretary & Chief Compliance & Community Affairs Officer of
the Corporation. The Officer shall render such administrative and management services to the Corporation as are customarily performed by persons
situated in a similar executive capacity. The Officer shall promote the business of the Corporation and perform such other duties as shall from time
to time be reasonably prescribed by the Directors or the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation. It is understood that the Officer’s continued
election as an officer of the Corporation is

dependent upon action by the Board of Directors of the Corporation from time to time and that, subject to the provisions of Section 7 of this
Agreement, the Officer’s title and/or duties may change from time to time; provided that following a Change in Control and during the term of the
Severance Agreement any action affecting a change in title and/or duties shall be subject to the Severance Agreement.

2. Base Salary. The Corporation shall pay the Officer during the term of this Agreement as compensation for all services rendered by her to
the Corporation a base salary in such amounts and at such intervals as shall be commensurate with her duties and responsibilities hereunder.
Initially such base salary shall be at the rate of $326,000 per year. The Officer’s base salary may be increased from time to time to reflect the
duties required of the Officer. In reviewing the Officer’s base salary, the Board of Directors of the Corporation shall consider the overall
performance of the Corporation, the overall performance of the Officer and the service of the Officer rendered to the Corporation and its
subsidiaries and changes in the cost of living. The Board of Directors may also provide for performance or merit increases. Participation by Officer
in any incentive, deferred compensation, stock option, stock purchase, bonus, pension, life insurance or other employee benefit plans which may be
offered by the Corporation from time to time and participation in any fringe benefits provided by the Corporation shall not cause a reduction of the
base salary payable to the Officer. The Officer will be entitled to such customary fringe benefits, vacation and sick leave as are consistent with the
normal practices and established policies of the Corporation.

3. Participation in Incentive, Retirement and Employee Benefit Plans; Fringe Benefits. The Officer shall be entitled to participate in any plan
relating to incentive compensation, stock options, stock purchase, pension, thrift, profit sharing, group life insurance, medical coverage, disability
coverage, education, or other retirement or employee benefits that the Corporation has adopted, or may from time to time adopt, for the benefit of
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its executive employees and for employees generally, subject to the eligibility rules of such plans.

The Officer shall also be entitled to participate in any other fringe benefits which are now or may be or become applicable to the
Corporation’s executive employees, including the payment of reasonable expenses for attending annual and periodic meetings of trade associations,
and any other benefits which are commensurate with the duties and responsibilities to be performed by the Officer under this Agreement.
Additionally, the Officer shall be entitled to such vacation and sick leave as shall be established under uniform employee policies promulgated by
the Board of Directors. The Corporation shall reimburse the Officer for all out-of-pocket reasonable and necessary business expenses which the
Officer may incur in connection with her service on behalf of the Corporation.

4. Term. The initial term of employment under this Agreement shall be for a one-year period commencing August 1, 2011; provided that this
Agreement shall automatically be extended to a full one-year period on each successive day during the term of this Agreement. The effect hereof
shall be that the Agreement shall at all times remain subject to a term of one year, unless (i) written notice has been given that the Agreement shall
not be extended as provided in this Section 4, or (ii) the Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 7. If written notice from the Corporation or the
Officer is delivered to the other party advising the other party that this Agreement is not to be further extended, then upon such notice, the
Agreement shall terminate on the anniversary of the
date of notice. Provided, further, no extension shall cause this Agreement to extend beyond the date on which the Officer reaches 65 years of age.
Upon any extension, the base salary of the extended agreement shall be the base salary in effect on the effective date of such extension.
 

- 2 -

5. Loyalty; Noncompetition

(a) The Officer shall devote her best efforts to the performance of her duties and responsibilities under this Agreement.

(b) During the term of this Agreement, or any renewals hereof, the Officer agrees she will not, own, manage, operate, join, control or
participate in the management, operation or control of, or be employed by or connected in any manner with any business which competes
with the Corporation or any of its subsidiary corporations without the prior written consent of the Corporation. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
the Officer shall be free, without such consent, to purchase or hold as an investment or otherwise, up to five percent of the outstanding stock
or other securities of any corporation which has its securities publicly traded on any recognized securities exchange or in any established
over-the-counter market.

The Officer shall hold in confidence all knowledge or information of a confidential nature with respect to the business of the
Corporation or any subsidiary of the Corporation received by her during the term of this Agreement and will not disclose or make use of such
information without the prior written consent of the Corporation.

The Officer acknowledges that it would not be possible to ascertain the amount of monetary damages in the event of a breach by the
Officer under the provisions of this Section 5 and agrees that, in the event of a breach of this Section, injunctive relief enforcing the terms of
this Section is an appropriate remedy.

6. Standards. The Officer shall perform her duties and responsibilities under this Agreement in accordance with such reasonable standards
expected of employees with comparable positions in comparable organizations and as may be established from time to time by the Board of
Directors. The Corporation will provide the Officer with the working facilities and staff customary for similar executives and necessary for her to
perform her duties.

7. Termination and Termination Pay.

(a) Change of Control. Following a Change in Control and during the term of the Severance Agreement, this Agreement shall become
null and void except with respect to any rights or obligations accruing prior to the Change in Control and the rights and obligations of the
Officer and the Company, including any termination of the Officer, shall be subject to the provisions of the Severance Agreement.

(b) By Death. The Officer’s employment under this Agreement shall be terminated upon the death of the Officer during the term of this
Agreement, in which event the Officer’s estate shall be entitled to receive all compensation due the Officer through the last day of the
calendar month in which her death shall have occurred.

 
- 3 -

(c) By Total Disability. Except for that period of time following a Change in Control and during the term of the Severance Agreement,
the Officer’s employment under this Agreement shall be terminated upon the total permanent disability of the Officer during the term of this
Agreement, in which event the Officer shall receive all compensation, including bonuses, through the date of determination of such disability
and for a period of 90 days thereafter. For purposes of this Section, the Officer shall be deemed to have suffered permanent disability upon
the determination of such status by the United States Social Security Administration or a certification to such effect by the Officer’s regular
physician.

(d) By Officer. Except as provided in Section 4 of the Severance Agreement, the Officer’s employment under this Agreement may be
terminated at any time by the Officer upon 60 days’ written notice to the Board of Directors. Upon such termination, the Officer shall be
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entitled to receive all compensation, including bonuses, through the effective date of such termination.

(e) By Corporation. Except for that period of time following a Change of Control and during the term of the Severance Agreement, the
Board of Directors may terminate the Officer’s employment at any time, but any such termination by the Board of Directors, other than
termination for cause, shall not prejudice the Officer’s right to continue to receive payment of all compensation and the continuance of
benefits for a period of 12 months from the effective date of termination or until such time as the Officer reaches 65 years of age (whichever
is less). The Officer shall have no right to receive compensation or other benefits (other than vested benefits) for any period after
“termination for cause.” Termination for cause shall mean termination because of the Officer’s personal dishonesty, incompetence, willful
material misconduct, breach of fiduciary duty involving personal profit, intentional failure to perform stated duties, willful material violation
of a law, rule or regulation (other than traffic or traffic-related violations or similar offenses) or final cease-and-desist order, or material
breach of any provisions of this Agreement.

(f) Costs and Expenses. In the event any dispute shall arise between the Officer and the Corporation as to the terms or interpretation of
this Agreement, including this Section 7, whether instituted by formal legal proceedings or otherwise, including any action taken by Officer
to enforce the terms of this Section 7 or in defending against any action taken by the Corporation, the Corporation shall reimburse the Officer
for all costs and expenses, proceedings or actions in the event the Officer prevails in any such action.

8. Successors and Assigns.

(a) This Employment Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon any corporate or other successor of the Corporation
that shall acquire, directly or indirectly, by conversion, merger, consolidation, purchase or otherwise, all or substantially all of the assets of
the Corporation.

(b) Since the Corporation is contracting for the unique and personal skills of the Officer, the Officer shall be precluded from assigning
or delegating her rights or duties hereunder without first obtaining the written consent of the Corporation.

 
- 4 -

9. Code Section 409A.

(a) Delay of Certain Payments. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if any amount or benefit that the Company
determines would constitute non-exempt “deferred compensation” for purposes of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the
“Code”) would otherwise be payable or distributable under this Agreement by reason of the Officer’s termination of employment, then to the extent
necessary to comply with Code Section 409A:

(i) if the payment or distribution is payable in a lump sum, the Officer’s right to receive payment or distribution of such non-exempt
deferred compensation will be delayed until the earlier of the Officer’s death or the seventh month following the Officer’s termination of
employment; and

(ii) if the payment or distribution is payable over time, the amount of such non-exempt deferred compensation that would otherwise be
payable during the six (6) month period immediately following the Officer’s termination of employment will be accumulated and the
Officer’s right to receive payment or distribution of such accumulated amount will be delayed until the earlier of the Officer’s death or the
seventh month following the Officer’s termination of employment and paid on the earlier of such dates, without interest, and the normal
payment or distribution schedule for any remaining payments or distributions will commence.

(b) Expense Reimbursements. To the extent any expense reimbursement or in-kind benefit to which the Officer is or may be entitled to
receive under this Agreement constitutes non-exempt “deferred compensation” for purposes of Section 409A of the Code, then (i) such
reimbursement shall be paid to the Officer as soon as administratively practicable after the Officer submits a valid claim for reimbursement, but in
no event later than the last day of the Officer’s taxable year following the taxable year in which the expense was incurred, (ii) the amount of
expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits provided, during any taxable year of the Officer shall not affect the expenses eligible for
reimbursement, or in-kind benefits to be provided, in any other taxable year of the Officer, and (iii) the Officer’s right to reimbursement or in-kind
benefits shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.

10. Modification; Waiver; Amendments. No provision of this Agreement may be modified, waived or discharged unless such waiver,
modification or discharge is agreed to in writing, signed by the Officer and on behalf of the Corporation by such officer as may be specifically
designated by the Board of Directors. No waiver by either party hereto at any time of any breach by the other party hereto of, or compliance with,
any condition or provision of this Agreement to be performed by such other party shall be deemed a waiver of similar or dissimilar provisions or
conditions at the same or at any prior or subsequent time. No amendments or additions to this Agreement shall be binding unless in writing and
signed by both parties, except as herein otherwise provided. Any modification, waiver or amendment shall be made consistent with the terms and
conditions of the Severance Agreement.
 

- 5 -

11. Applicable Law. This Agreement shall be governed in all respects whether as to validity, construction, capacity, performance or
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otherwise, by the laws of North Carolina.

12. Severability. The provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed severable and the invalidity or unenforceability of any provision shall not
affect the validity or enforceability of the other provisions hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first hereinabove written.
 

  CORPORATION:

ATTEST:   Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc.

/s/ Judy Z. Mayo   
Assistant Secretary   

   By:  /s/ Thomas E. Skains
    Thomas E. Skains
    President and Chief Executive Officer

   OFFICER:

   By:  /s/ Jane Lewis-Raymond
    Jane Lewis-Raymond
   Address: Address as shown on the Company’s
    payroll records for the Officer

 
- 6 -

(Back To Top) 

Section 3: EX-10.21 (CONSULTING AGREEMENT)

Exhibit 10.21

CONSULTING AGREEMENT

THIS CONSULTING AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into effective as of the 1  day of November, 2011 (the
“Effective Date”), by and between PIEDMONT NATURAL GAS COMPANY, INC. a North Carolina corporation (“Piedmont”), and DAVID J.
DZURICKY (“Consultant”).

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS, Consultant was employed for many years by Piedmont, most recently in the position of Chief Financial Officer, and his
employment ended effective as of October 31, 2011; and

WHEREAS, Consultant possesses valuable skills and experience of a special and personal nature, and unique, personal and confidential
business knowledge about the operation of Piedmont’s business; and

WHEREAS, Piedmont desires to secure for itself the benefit of Consultant’s ability and expertise; and

WHEREAS, Consultant has indicated his willingness to provide consulting and advisory services to Piedmont on the terms and conditions set
forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Engagement. Piedmont hereby engages Consultant, as an independent contractor, to provide the consulting services more particularly
described herein, and Consultant accepts such engagement, subject to the terms and conditions stated herein.

2. Consulting Services. Consultant shall be available, at reasonable times after reasonable notice, to provide advisory and consulting services
to Piedmont’s finance, accounting, rates and regulatory groups, including providing assistance with (i) the preparation and filing of Piedmont’s
annual report on SEC Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2011, (ii) the rate case currently pending for Piedmont’s service territory in
Tennessee, (iii) strategic planning and review of joint venture opportunities and (iv) providing transition assistance to Piedmont’s newly appointed
Chief Financial Officer. During the term of this Agreement, Consultant shall devote such time and attention to the business of Piedmont as is
necessary to fulfill his duties and responsibilities under this Agreement, but in no event shall he be required to devote, on average, more than 20%
of his time during the term of this Agreement to his duties hereunder.

st
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3. Term. This Agreement shall be effective as of the Effective Date and shall continue in effect until October 31, 2012 unless terminated
earlier in accordance with Section 11.

4. Compensation. For the services provided by Consultant as an independent contractor of Piedmont, Piedmont shall pay Consultant a
consulting fee (the “Consulting Fee”) in the amount of Two Hundred Forty Thousand Dollars ($240,000). The Consulting Fee shall be payable in
monthly installments.

5. Business Expenses. Piedmont shall pay or reimburse Consultant for all reasonable bona fide business expenses incurred by Consultant in
the performance of services under this Agreement in accordance with expense reimbursement plans consistent with current policies in effect for
consultants to Piedmont generally.

6. Indemnification. Piedmont shall indemnify Consultant (and advance expenses in the event of a claim for indemnification) with respect to
any claim, loss or proceeding arising out of or relating to the performance of his services as a Consultant or his serving in such capacity, to the
same extent as the directors and executive officers of Piedmont.

7. Relationship of Parties. Consultant is acting under this Agreement as an independent contractor of Piedmont and not as an employee. As
such, Consultant shall have no claim against the Company for vacation pay, sick leave, retirement benefits, Social Security, workers compensation,
health or disability benefits, unemployment insurance benefits or employee benefits of any kind based on services performed during the term of this
Agreement. Moreover, Consultant shall have no claim for compensation, remuneration, reimbursement, or other monies except as expressly set
forth in this Agreement.

8. Tax Matters. Under this Agreement, Consultant is an independent contractor of Piedmont. Accordingly, Piedmont is not required to, and
shall not, withhold any income or employment taxes from the Consulting Fee. Consultant shall pay all income and employment taxes with respect
to the Consulting Fee and other payments made hereunder.

9. Non-Competition. Consultant acknowledges that (i) Piedmont is an energy services company primarily engaged in the distribution of
natural gas to residential, commercial, industrial and power generation utility customers; (ii) Consultant is one of a limited number of persons who
has unique knowledge of, and expertise and experience in, the business; (iii) the business is conducted in the States of North Carolina, South
Carolina and Tennessee ; (iv) Piedmont also has joint venture investments in businesses operating in the states of North Carolina, Georgia and
West Virginia, among others (the areas covered by (iii) and (iv) called the “Restricted Territory”); (v) his experience with Piedmont and its
subsidiaries have given him possession of and access to trade secrets of, and Confidential Information (as defined in Section 10 below) and,
following the date of this Agreement, Consultant will continue to have access to additional trade secrets and strategic and Confidential Information;
and (vi) the agreements and covenants contained in this Section 9 and in Section 10 are essential to protect the business, the trade secrets, the
Confidential Information and the goodwill of Piedmont and its subsidiaries.

Accordingly, Consultant agrees that he will not, during the term of this Agreement and for a period of eighteen (18) months thereafter (the
“Restricted Period”) within the Restricted Territory, directly or indirectly, for any reason, for his own account or on behalf of or together with any
other entity:
 

 

(i) own or have any interest in or act as an officer, director, partner, principal, employee, agent, representative, consultant or independent
contractor of, or in any way assist in, any business that competes with any business engaged in by Piedmont or any of its subsidiaries
during the term of this Agreement (the “Competitive Businesses”); it being understood and agreed that this clause shall not be violated
by Consultant’s passive equity interest of less than five percent (5%) in an entity engaged in a Competitive Business whose shares are
listed on a securities exchange or regularly quoted in the over-the-counter market;

 
2

 (ii) solicit clients, customers, or accounts of Piedmont or its subsidiaries for, on behalf of or otherwise related to any such Competitive
Businesses or any services or products related thereto;

 

 (iii) hire, solicit or in any manner encourage any person who is in the employ or service of Piedmont or its subsidiaries to leave or terminate
such relationship for any other employment opportunity; or

 

 (iv) advise any investors or potential investors making or considering acquisitions of entities engaged in Competitive Businesses.

10. Confidential Information. For purposes of this Agreement, “Confidential Information” means information which is used in the business
of Piedmont or its subsidiaries and (i) is proprietary to, about or created by Piedmont or its subsidiaries, (ii) gives Piedmont or its subsidiaries some
competitive business advantage or the opportunity of obtaining such advantage or the disclosure of which could be detrimental to the interests of
Piedmont or its subsidiaries, (iii) is reasonably designated as Confidential Information by Piedmont or its subsidiaries, is known by Consultant to
be considered confidential by Piedmont or its subsidiaries, or from all the relevant circumstances should reasonably be assumed by Consultant to
be confidential and proprietary to Piedmont or its subsidiaries, or (iv) is not generally known to personnel not associated with Piedmont or its
subsidiaries.
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Consultant hereby acknowledges, understands and agrees that all Confidential Information is the exclusive and confidential property of
Piedmont or its subsidiaries which shall at all times be regarded, treated and protected as such. Consultant further acknowledges that all such
Confidential Information is a trade secret.

11. Termination. This Agreement may be terminated as follows:

(a) This Agreement may be terminated effective immediately by Piedmont for Cause by giving written notice of termination to Consultant,
which notice shall specify the reason for termination. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” shall mean that Consultant has (i) committed an act
of material dishonesty, fraud, embezzlement, or breach of trust against Piedmont or an act which he knew to be in violation of his duties to
Piedmont (including the unauthorized disclosure of Confidential Information); (ii)directly or indirectly made or published any disparaging
comments to other parties about Piedmont, its subsidiaries, business or prospects or any of its executive officers or directors (and specifically
including but not limited to parties with a business relationship with Piedmont); (iii) violated any of the agreements and covenants contained in
Sections 9 and 10; or (iv) committed a material breach of this Agreement, if such breach is not remedied within ten (10) days after written notice
thereof by Piedmont. After the effective date of termination under this Section 11, Piedmont shall have no further obligations under this Agreement,
except to pay the accrued but unpaid Consulting Fee up to and as of such effective date.
 

3

(b) This Agreement shall terminate upon the death of Consultant. In the event that this Agreement terminates due to Consultant’s death,
Piedmont shall pay upon such termination to Consultant’s estate the accrued but unpaid Consulting Fee up to and as of the date of Consultant’s
death.

12. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. Consultant hereby acknowledges, understands and agrees that all work performed for Piedmont
under this contract shall comply with Piedmont’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, available on Piedmont’s website at www.piedmontng.com.
Consultant also acknowledges, understands and agrees that all work performed for Piedmont under this Contract must comply with all applicable
laws and regulations.

13. Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties and supersedes any prior communications,
agreements and understandings, written or oral, with respect to the terms and conditions of Consultant’s service with Piedmont.

14. Amendment. This Agreement may be amended or modified only by a written instrument signed by Consultant and by a duly authorized
representative of Piedmont.

15. Governing Law. This Agreement, and any issue, claim or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the conduct of the
parties hereto, shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of North Carolina without regard to conflicts or choice
of law principles which would cause the application of the domestic substantive laws of any jurisdiction other than North Carolina.

16. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which
together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

17. Assignment. No party shall have any right to assign, mortgage, pledge, hypothecate or encumber this Agreement in whole or in part, or
any benefit or any right accruing hereunder, without in any such case first obtaining the prior written consent of the other party hereto.

18. Notices. Any notices, requests, demands and other communications provided for by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be
deemed to be effectively given (i) upon confirmation of facsimile, (ii) one business day after being sent by overnight delivery and (iii) three
business days after being mailed by United States registered or certified mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid at the following
addresses:

to Piedmont:

Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc.

4720 Piedmont Row Drive

Charlotte, North Carolina 28210

Attention: Kevin O’Hara, Senior Vice President and

Chief Administrative Officer
 

4

with a copy to:

Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc.

Schedule WPD-6 - Gas (Part 54) 
Page 95 of 100



Document Contents

http://ofccolo.snl.com/Cache/c12363195.html[1/9/2013 10:20:18 AM]

4720 Piedmont Row Drive

Charlotte, North Carolina 28210

Attention: Jane Lewis-Raymond, Senior Vice President — General Counsel,
Corporate Secretary and Chief Compliance and Community Affairs Officer

If to Consultant, notice shall be sent to the most recent address on Piedmont’s records for Consultant.

19. Miscellaneous. Any protection, benefits, rights or other provisions given to Piedmont in this Agreement shall also be deemed to apply to,
protect and inure to the benefit of Piedmont’s affiliates and subsidiaries. All rights of Piedmont expressed in this Agreement are in addition to any
rights available under the common law or other legal principles. Section or paragraph titles or captions contained in this Agreement are inserted
only as a matter of convenience and for reference and in no way define, limit, extend or describe the scope of this Agreement or the intent of any
provision hereof. All pronouns and any variation thereof shall be deemed to refer to the masculine, feminine, neuter, singular or plural as the
identity of person or persons, firm or firms, corporation or corporations, and as context may require.

[Signatures on following page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Piedmont has caused this Agreement to be executed by a duly authorized officer and Consultant has hereunto
set his hand, all as of the day and year first above written.
 

CONSULTANT

/s/ David J. Duricky
David J. Dzuricky

 
PIEDMONT NATURAL GAS COMPANY, INC.

By:  /s/ Kevin M. O’Hara
Name:  Kevin M. O’Hara
Title:  Senior Vice President and

 Chief Administrative Officer
 

6
(Back To Top) 

Section 4: EX-12 (COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO
FIXED CHARGES)

Exhibit 12

PIEDMONT NATURAL GAS COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

For Fiscal Years Ended October 31, 2007 through 2011
(in thousands except ratio amounts)

 
   2011    2010    2009    2008    2007  
Earnings:           

Pre-tax income from continuing operations   $158,320   $153,687   $169,502   $148,750   $123,547 
Distributed income of equity investees    25,714    47,094    23,986    34,158    28,228 
Fixed charges    54,239    55,567    51,156    65,241    63,350 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total Adjusted Earnings   $238,273   $256,348   $244,644   $248,149   $215,125 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Fixed Charges:           
Interest   $ 51,639   $ 53,226   $ 48,433   $ 62,763   $ 60,530 
Amortization of debt expense    1,063    647    789    773    746 
Amortization of loss - reacquired debt    99    —       —       —       —    
One-third of rental expense    1,438    1,694    1,934    1,705    2,074 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total Fixed Charges   $ 54,239   $ 55,567   $ 51,156   $ 65,241   $ 63,350 
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Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges    4.39    4.61    4.78    3.80    3.40 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

(Back To Top) 

Section 5: EX-21 (LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES)

Exhibit 21

List of Subsidiaries
October 31, 2011

 
Name   State of Incorporation   Identity of Business Unit
Subsidiaries of Piedmont Natural Gas Company,
Inc.:     

Piedmont Energy Partners, Inc.   North Carolina   Holding Company

Piedmont Hardy Storage Company, LLC   North Carolina   Member of Hardy Storage Company, LLC

Piedmont ENCNG Company, LLC
  North Carolina   

Member of Piedmont Hardy Storage
Company, LLC

Subsidiaries of Piedmont Energy Partners, Inc.:     

Piedmont Propane Company   North Carolina   Dormant

Piedmont Interstate Pipeline Company
  

North Carolina
  

Member of Pine Needle LNG Company,
L.L.C.

Piedmont Intrastate Pipeline Company
  

North Carolina
  

Member of Cardinal Pipeline Company,
L.L.C.

Piedmont Energy Company   North Carolina   Member of SouthStar Energy Services, LLC
(Back To Top) 

Section 6: EX-23.1 (CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM)

Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-163247, 333-164767 and 333-175386 on Form S-3ASR, and in
Registration Statement Nos. 33-61093, 333-34433, 333-34435, 333-76140, 333-132738, 333-161888 and 333-166298 on Form S-8, and in Post-
Effective Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement No. 333-76140 on Form S-8 of our reports dated December 23, 2011, relating to the
consolidated financial statements of Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc. and subsidiaries, and the effectiveness of Piedmont Natural Gas
Company, Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Piedmont Natural Gas
Company, Inc. and subsidiaries for the year ended October 31, 2011.
 
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
December 23, 2011
(Back To Top) 

Section 7: EX-31.1 (CERTIFICATION OF CEO PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302)

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION
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I, Thomas E. Skains, certify that:
 

 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc.;
 

 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

 

 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which

are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

 

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

 
Date: December 23, 2011   /s/ Thomas E. Skains

  Thomas E. Skains
  Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)

(Back To Top) 

Section 8: EX-31.2 (CERTIFICATION OF CFO PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302)

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Karl W. Newlin, certify that:
 

 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc.;
 

 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

 

 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
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4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which

are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

 

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

 
Date: December 23, 2011   /s/ Karl W. Newlin

  Karl W. Newlin
  Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Financial Officer)

(Back To Top) 

Section 9: EX-32.1 (CERTIFICATION OF CEO PURSUANT TO 18
U.S.C. SECTION 1350)

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY

ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc. (the “Company”), on Form 10-K for the period ended October 31,
2011, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Thomas E. Skains, Chairman of the Board,
President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
 

 (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

 (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

December 23, 2011
 
/s/ Thomas E. Skains
Thomas E. Skains
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Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive
Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the
signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to the
Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
(Back To Top) 

Section 10: EX-32.2 (CERTIFICATION OF CFO PURSUANT TO 18
U.S.C. SECTION 1350)

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY

ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc. (the “Company”), on Form 10-K for the period ended October 31,
2011, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Karl W. Newlin, Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to
my knowledge:
 

 (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

 (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

December 23, 2011
 
/s/ Karl W. Newlin
Karl W. Newlin
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the
signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to the
Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
(Back To Top)
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